
SOUTHEND-ON-SEA CITY COUNCIL 
 

Development Control Committee 
 

Date: Wednesday, 18th October, 2023 
Time: 2.00 pm 

Place: Committee Room 1 - Civic Suite 
 

Contact: Tim Row - Principal Democratic Services Officer  
email: committeesection@southend.gov.uk  

 
 

A G E N D A 
  
1   Apologies for Absence  

  
2   Declarations of Interest  

  
3   Minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday, 13th September 2023 

(Pages 3 - 14) 
  

4   Supplementary Report  
 The supplementary report by the Executive Director (Environment and Place) 

will provide additional information (if any) on the items referred to on the 
Agenda and will be available on the morning of the meeting. 
  

**** Contents List & Introduction  
  

5   23/01216/BC4 - Cliffs Pavilion Station Road, Westcliff on Sea (Milton 
Ward) (Pages 21 - 82) 
  

6   23/00946/FUL - Day Nursery, 43 Imperial Avenue, Westcliff-on-Sea 
(Chalkwell Ward) (Pages 83 - 124) 
  

7   23/00751/FUL - Brambles Care Home, 22 Cliff Road, Leigh-on-Sea 
(Chalkwell Ward) (Pages 125 - 146) 
  

8   23/01226/FULH - 131 Beach Avenue, Leigh-on-Sea (Chalkwell Ward) 
(Pages 147 - 162) 
 

 
 
 
 
TO: The Chair & Members of Development Control Committee: 
Councillor N Ward (Chair), 
Councillors F Evans (Vice-Chair), B Beggs, M Berry, M Borton, S Buckley, A Dear, 
M Dent, N Folkard, J Harland, A Jones, R Longstaff, C Mulroney, M Sadza, C Walker 
and R Woodley 
 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

SOUTHEND-ON-SEA CITY COUNCIL 
 

Meeting of Development Control Committee 
 

Date: Wednesday, 13th September, 2023 
Place: Committee Room 1 - Civic Suite 

 
Present:  Councillor N Ward (Chair) 
 Councillors F Evans (Vice-Chair), B Beggs, M Borton, S Buckley, 

A Dear, M Dent, N Folkard, J Harland, A Jones, R Longstaff, 
C Mulroney, M Sadza and R Woodley 
 

In Attendance: Councillor H Boyd 
R Tinlin, P Keyes, A Brown, S Mouratidis, O Hart, M Warren and 
T Row 
 

Start/End Time: 2.00 pm - 3.20 pm 
 
  

39   Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Walker (no substitute). 
  

40   Declarations of Interest  
 
The following interests were declared at the meeting: 
  
(i)  Councillor Buckley – Minute No. 44 (23/00826/AMDT – Memory House, 6-9 
Marine Parde, Leigh on Sea) – Husband is a Leigh Town Councillor which is 
mentioned in the report; and 
  
(ii)  Councillor Mulroney – Minute No. 44 (23/00826/AMDT – Memory House, 6-9 
Marine Parde, Leigh on Sea) and 45 (Application Ref. no. 23/01191/FUL – 995-1003 
London Road, Leigh on Sea) – Non-planning Member of Leigh Town Council. 
  

41   Minutes of the Meeting held on Wednesday, 2nd August 2023  
 
Resolved:- 
  
That the Minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday, 2nd August 2023 be 
received, confirmed as a correct record and signed. 
  

42   Minutes of the Meeting held on Wednesday, 30th August, 2023  
 
Resolved:- 
  
That the Minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday, 30th August 2023 be 
received, confirmed as a correct record and signed. 
 
 
 
 
  

3

3



 
 

 
 

43   Supplementary Report  
 
The Committee received and noted a supplementary report by the Executive 
Director (Environment & Place), that provided additional information on the items 
referred to elsewhere on the agenda since the publication of the reports. 
  

44   23/00826/AMDT - Memory House, 6 - 9 Marine Parade, Leigh on Sea 
(West Leigh Ward)  
Proposal: Application to vary condition of 02 (Approved Plans) - addition of 
a basement and associated external staircase and small lightwells to 
planning permission 22/00601/FULM - demolish existing Building and erect 
replacement Care Home (Class C2) comprising of 50 Bed Care Units with 
private amenity space, landscaped frontage, refuse and cycle Stores to rear, 
and lay out parking at rear (Amended Proposal) dated 14/10/2022 
Applicant: Mr Tom Sanders 
Agent: Mr Stewart Rowe of The Planning and Design Bureau Ltd. 
  
Resolved:- 
  
That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions: 
  
01 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 001 Rev H; 2473-19-PB-19 Issue 1; 36313_T Rev 0; 
WD05 Rev D; WD05S; PA01 Rev B; PA01S; PA02 Rev A; PA03 Rev A; PA04A; 
PA05A; PA04 Rev A; PA05 Rev A; PA06; PA07 Rev A; PA08; PA09; PA15B; 
205390/AT/A01 Rev D; 9628-D-AIA Rev A. 
  
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
Development Plan. 
  
02 The development hereby approved shall be constructed in accordance with the 
materials details of which were approved under the approval of details application 
reference 23/0973/AD, or any other alternative details which have previously been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under the 
terms of this condition before the development is first occupied.  
  
Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the surrounding area in 
accordance with policy DM1 of the Development Management Document (2015) 
and Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007).  
  
03 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, soft landscaping 
including planting and maintenance arrangements shall be carried out on site and 
incorporated in the development hereby approved in full accordance with the 
details which were approved under the approval of details application reference 
23/0973/AD, or any other alternative details which have previously been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under the terms of this 
condition.  
  
Any trees or shrubs dying, removed, being severely damaged or becoming 
seriously diseased within five years of planting shall be replaced with trees or 
shrubs of such size and species as may be agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. 
  

4



 
 

 
 

Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the surrounding area in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies DM1 
and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015), Policies KP2 and 
CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and the advice contained in the Southend-on-
Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 
  
04 The development hereby approved shall be provided in full accordance with 
the landscape management details which were approved under the approval of 
details application reference 23/0973/AD, or any other alternative details which 
have previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority under the terms of this condition before the development is first 
occupied. The landscaping of the site shall be managed in accordance with the 
approved plan in perpetuity. 
  
Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the surrounding area and 
the amenities of the occupants of the development in accordance with Policies 
DM1, DM3 and DM8 of the Development Management Document (2015) and 
Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007). 
  
05 All works on site shall cease and no further works shall take place on site 
unless and until the tree protection measures approved under the approval of 
details application reference 23/0973/AD have been implemented at the site. The 
development shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved tree 
protection measures throughout the construction phase of the development.  
  
Reason: This condition is needed to safeguard the character and appearance of 
the surrounding area in accordance with Policies DM1 and DM3 of the 
Development Management Document (2015) and Policies KP2 and CP4 of the 
Core Strategy (2007).  
  
06 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, hard 
landscaping shall be carried out and incorporated in the development in full 
accordance with the details which were approved under the approval of details 
application reference 23/0973/AD, or any other alternative details which have 
previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority under the terms of this condition before the development is first 
occupied. The approved hard landscaping works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  
  
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and the amenities of occupiers and to 
ensure a satisfactory standard of landscaping pursuant to Policy CP4 of the Core 
Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management 
Document (2015) and the advice contained in the Southend-on-Sea Design and 
Townscape Guide (2009). 
  
07 The development hereby approved shall be provided in full accordance with 
the Energy Statement which was approved under the approval of details 
application reference 23/0973/AD, or any other alternative details which have 
previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority under the terms of this condition before the development is first 
occupied. The approved energy strategy detailing how at least 10% of the total 
energy needs of the development hereby approved will be supplied using on site 
renewable sources shall be implemented in full prior to the first occupation of the 

5



 
 

 
 

development. This provision shall be made for the lifetime of the development and 
in accordance with the agreed details.  
  
Reason: In the interests of providing sustainable development and to minimise the 
environmental impact of the development in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy 
(2007), Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM2 and the advice 
contained in the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 
  
08 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved water efficiency 
design measures set out in Policy DM2 (iv) of the Development Management 
Document to limit internal water consumption to 105 litres per person per day (lpd) 
(110 lpd when including external water consumption), including measures of water 
efficient fittings, appliances and water recycling systems such as grey water and 
rainwater harvesting shall be installed in the development hereby approved and 
be retained in perpetuity thereafter. 
  
Reason: In the interests of providing sustainable development and to minimise the 
environmental impact of the development in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy 
(2007), Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM2 and the advice 
contained in the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 
  
09 Prior to the first use or occupation of the development, 17 parking spaces shall 
be provided at the site in full accordance with plan number ‘WD05 Rev D’ and at 
least 4 spaces shall be provided with active electric vehicle charging infrastructure 
with the rest of the spaces being fitted with passive electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure. The approved parking facilities and active electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure shall be retained thereafter in perpetuity only for the use of the 
occupiers, staff and visitors to the site.  
  
Reason: To ensure that adequate vehicular parking is provided and retained to 
serve the development in accordance with Policies CP3 of the Core Strategy 
(2007), Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document (2015) and the 
Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure for new development Supplementary 
Planning Document (2021). 
  
10 The development hereby approved shall be provided in full accordance with 
the waste storage and waste management details which were approved under the 
approval of details application reference 23/0973/AD, or any other alternative 
details which have previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority under the terms of this condition before the development 
is first occupied. The refuse and recycling facilities shall be provided and made 
available for use in accordance with the approved details before first occupation of 
any of the development and shall be permanently maintained thereafter. Waste 
management and servicing of the development shall only take place in 
accordance with the approved details. 
  
Reason: To ensure that the development is satisfactorily serviced and that 
satisfactory waste management is undertaken in the interests of highway safety 
and visual amenity and to protect the character of the surrounding area, in 
accordance with Policies KP2 and CP3 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policy 
DM15 of the Development Management Document (2015). 

6



 
 

 
 

  
11 The development hereby approved shall be provided in full accordance with 
the cycle storage details which were approved under the approval of details 
application reference 23/0973/AD, or any other alternative details which have 
previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority under the terms of this condition before the development is first 
occupied. The secure cycle storage shall be provided at the site and made 
available for the use of staff and residents or their visitors in accordance with the 
agreed details prior to first occupation of the development. The cycle storage shall 
be maintained as approved for the lifetime of the development. 
  
Reason: In the interests of accessibility and visual amenity further to the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies KP2, CP3 and CP4 of the Southend-
on-Sea Core Strategy (2007), and Policies DM3 and DM15 of the Southend-on-
Sea Development Management Document (2015). 
  
12 The development hereby approved, for purposes falling within Use Class C2, 
shall only be occupied as a specialist residential care home for up to 50 residents 
within the client group identified in the application form, and shall not be used for 
any other purpose, including any other purpose within Use Class C2 of the 
Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as 
amended) or any act amending or re-enacting that Order, or any change of use 
permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 as amended or any act amending or re-enacting that Order.  
  
Reason: To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the 
permission sought and to enable the Local Planning Authority to retain control of 
the use within the Use Class specified so that occupation of the premises does not 
prejudice amenity, and to avoid an overprovision or otherwise unsustainable 
provision of residential care uses, in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Southend-on-Sea Core Strategy 
(2007), and Policy DM9 of the Southend-on-Sea Development Management 
Document (2015). 
  
13 The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the mitigation 
measures outlined in the Construction Management Plan Rev A which was 
approved under approval of details application reference 23/00359/AD. 
  
Reason: In the interest of the residential amenity of nearby occupiers and the 
highway safety in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021), Policies KP2, CP3 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1, 
DM3 and DM15 of the Development Management Document (2015). 
  
14 Construction works for the approved development on site shall only be 
undertaken between 8 am to 6 pm on weekdays, between 8 am and 1 pm on 
Saturdays and not at any time on Sundays and Public Holidays.  
  
Reason: In the interest of the residential amenity of nearby occupiers in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies KP2 
and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development 
Management Document (2015). 
  

7



 
 

 
 

15 Notwithstanding the details submitted with the application and otherwise 
hereby approved, no drainage infrastructure associated with the development 
hereby approved shall be installed at the site until details of surface water 
attenuation for the site, based on Sustainable Urban Drainage principles, have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under 
the provisions of this condition. Specifically, such details shall have regard to the 
following: 
  
1) An updated drainage plan must be provided showing the site drainage, 
connections to existing drainage systems including ones showing the internal 
cavity drain system and details of how these connections will be made. This must 
also show all SuDS and attenuation features; 
2) An agreement in principle from Anglian Water must be provided confirming 
agreement of the new connection type, location and discharge rate; 
3) The updated storm simulation models as quoted for the above updated 
drainage system; 
4) Updated details surrounding the maintenance of all drainage features given 
these are changing from the previously submitted plans. 
  
The development shall only be implemented in accordance with the details 
approved under the terms of this condition. The approved drainage works shall be 
provided on site prior to first occupation of the development and shall be 
maintained in good working condition for the lifetime of the development. 
  
Reason: To ensure the approved development does not increase flood risk 
elsewhere in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and 
Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP1 and KP2. 
  
16 Details of the biodiversity enhancement measures outlined in the findings, 
recommendations and conclusions of the Phase 1 and 2 Bat and Nesting Bird 
survey undertaken by Ridgeway Ecology Ltd dated 02.09.2020 shall be 
incorporated in full prior to first use of the development hereby approved and 
maintained for the lifetime of the development.  
  
Reason: To ensure the development provides biodiversity and ecology benefits in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Core Strategy 
(2007) Policies KP1, KP2 and CP4.  
  
17 The development must be implemented in full accordance with the noise 
mitigation measures identified and other details which were approved under the 
approval of details application reference 23/0973/AD or any other alternative 
details which have previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority under the terms of this condition. These measures must 
be implemented before the development is first occupied and must thereafter be 
maintained as such in perpetuity. 
  
Reason: To protect the environment of people in neighbouring properties and 
general environmental quality in accordance with Core Strategy (2007) Policies 
KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and 
DM3 and the advice in the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide 
(2009). 
  

8



 
 

 
 

18 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, the first-floor side 
windows serving the stairwell to the north-eastern most part of the development 
hereby approved shall only be glazed in obscure glass (the glass to be obscure to 
at least Level 4 on the Pilkington Levels of Privacy) and fixed shut, except for any 
top hung fan light which shall be a minimum of 1.7 metres above internal finished 
floor level of the room or area served by that window, and retained as such 
thereafter. In the case of multiple or double-glazed units at least one layer of glass 
in the relevant units shall be glazed in obscure glass to at least Level 4 on the 
Pilkington scale. 
  
Reason: To protect the privacy and environment of people in neighbouring 
residential properties, in accordance with the Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 
and CP4, the Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and 
DM3 and advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape 
Guide (2009). 
  
19 As the development hereby approved is taller than the adjacent properties, no 
development above ground floor slab level shall take place until a third-party 
assessment to satisfy London Southend Airport has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under the provisions of this 
condition.  
  
Reason: To avoid a significantly harmful impact on air traffic, in accordance with 
the Core Strategy (2007) Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policy DM15 
of the Development Management Document (2015).  
  
20 No externally mounted plant or equipment shall be installed on the 
development hereby permitted until and unless details of its location, design and 
specification have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Such plant or equipment shall be installed, operated and 
maintained for the lifetime of the development solely in accordance with the 
agreed details.  
  
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area and nearby residents, in 
accordance with Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management 
Document (2015) and Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007). 
  
21 The development must be implemented in full accordance with the service and 
delivery management plan details of which were approved under the approval of 
details application reference 23/0973/AD, or any other alternative details which 
have previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority under the terms of this condition before the development is first 
occupied. The service and delivery management plan shall be implemented in full 
from the first use of the development hereby approved and adhered to at all times 
thereafter in perpetuity.  
  
Reason: In the interest of the residential amenity of nearby occupiers in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies KP2 
and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1, DM3 and DM4 of the 
Development Management Document (2015) and the advice contained within the 
National Design Guide (2021) and the Southend-on-sea Design and Townscape 
Guide (2009). 
  

9



 
 

 
 

22 The foundations for the development and the formation of the basement 
hereby approved shall be constructed solely in accordance with the detailed 
methodology outlined in the Structural Engineers Report ‘REV’ A by KMcD (titled 
Foundation Design & Excavations, dated July 2023, referenced 1580). If there is 
to be any variation from the approved methodology, such details must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
commencement of the construction phase of the development hereby approved.  
  
Reason: In the interest of the residential amenity of nearby occupiers and land 
stability, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and 
Policy DM14 of the Development Management Document (2015) 
  
Positive and Proactive Statement. 
  
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by identifying matters of concern within the application (as 
originally submitted) and negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments 
to the proposal to address those concerns. As a result, the Local Planning 
Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal, 
in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set 
out within the National Planning Policy Framework. The detailed analysis is set out 
in a report on the application prepared by officers. 
  
Informatives: 
  
1. Please note that the development the subject of this application is liable for a 
charge under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
A Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Liability Notice will be issued as soon as 
practicable following this decision notice. This contains details including the 
chargeable amount, when this is payable and when and how exemption or relief 
on the charge can be sought. You are advised that a CIL Commencement Notice 
(CIL Form 6) must be received by the Council at least one day before 
commencement of development. Receipt of this notice will be acknowledged by 
the Council. Please ensure that you have received both a CIL Liability Notice and 
acknowledgement of your CIL Commencement Notice before development is 
commenced. Most claims for CIL relief or exemption must be sought from and 
approved by the Council prior to commencement of the development. Charges 
and surcharges may apply, and exemption or relief could be withdrawn if you fail 
to meet statutory requirements relating to CIL. Further details on CIL matters can 
be found on the Council's website at www.southend.gov.uk/cil. 
  
2. The applicant is reminded that this permission does not bestow compliance with 
other regulatory frameworks. In particular your attention is drawn to the statutory 
nuisance provisions within the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended) 
and also to the relevant sections of the Control of Pollution Act 1974. The 
provisions apply to the construction phase and not solely to the operation of the 
completed development. Contact 01702 215005 for more information.  
  
3. You should be aware that in cases where damage occurs during construction 
works to the highway in implementing this permission that Council will seek to 
recover the cost of repairing public highways and footpaths from any party 
responsible for damaging them. This includes damage carried out when 
implementing a planning permission or other works to buildings or land. Please 

10



 
 

 
 

take care when carrying out works on or near the public highways and footpaths in 
the city. 
  

45   23/01191/FUL - 995 - 1003 London Road, Leigh-on-Sea (Blenheim Park 
Ward)  
Proposal: Erect two storey rear extension and erect upward extension to 
form additional second floor to main building with roof terrace to provide 
four additional self-contained flats with associated parking, bin and cycle 
storage and alterations to elevations (Amended Proposal) 
Applicant: Mr Schofield 
Agent: Mr Karl Smith of SKArchitects 
  
Mr. Mylroie, a local resident, spoke as an objector to the application.  Mr Smith, 
the applicant’s agent responded. 
  
Resolved:- 
  
That planning permission be REFUSED for the following reasons: 
  
01 The proposed development, by reason of its proposed occupancy and failure to 
provide any private amenity space for two of the proposed units would result in 
substandard living conditions for future occupiers and a generally cramped 
overdevelopment of the site. This harm is unacceptable and contrary to the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core 
Strategy (2007), Policies DM1, DM3 and DM8 of Development Management 
Document (2015) as amended by the Technical Housing Standards - Policy 
Transition Statement (2015). 
  
02 The proposed development would, by reason of the scale, siting and degree of 
elevation of the new third storey relative to No.10 Grasmead Avenue, result in 
significant harm to the residential amenity of the neighbouring occupiers by way of 
an overbearing impact on the setting and reasonable enjoyment of their rear 
garden environment. This is unacceptable and contrary to the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2021), Southend Core Strategy (2007) policies KP2 and CP4, 
Southend Development Management Document (2015) policies DM1 and DM3 
and the advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape 
Guide (2009). 
  

46   23/00069/UNAU_B - 419a Fairfax Drive, Westcliff-on-Sea (Westborough 
Ward)  
Breach of Planning Control: Erection of a framed structure 
  
Resolved:- 
  
That ENFORCEMENT ACTION be AUTHORISED to secure: 
  
(a) the removal from the site of the framed structure in its entirety; 
                  
AND 
  
(b) the removal from site of all materials resulting from compliance with (a) above. 
  

11



 
 

 
 

The authorised enforcement action to include (if/as necessary) the service of an 
Enforcement Notice under Section 172 of the Act and the pursuance of 
proceedings whether by prosecution or injunction to secure compliance with the 
requirements of the Enforcement Notice. 
  
When serving an Enforcement Notice the Local Planning Authority must ensure a 
reasonable time for compliance. In this case a compliance period of three (3) 
months is considered reasonable in compliance with any of the above 
requirements.  
  

47   20/00265/BRCN_B - 103 Hamlet Court Road, Westcliff-on-Sea (Milton 
Ward)  
Breach of Planning Control: Unauthorised roller shutters and box housings 
  
Resolved:- 
  
That ENFORCEMENT ACTION be AUTHORISED to secure: 
  
(a) the removal from the site of the two shutters and associated shutter box 
housings from the frontage of the building, and 
  
(b) the removal from site of all materials resulting from compliance with (a) above. 
  
The authorised enforcement action to include (if/as necessary) the service of an 
Enforcement Notice under Section 172 of the Act and the pursuance of 
proceedings whether by prosecution or injunction to secure compliance with the 
requirements of the Enforcement Notice. 
  
When serving an Enforcement Notice the Local Planning Authority must ensure a 
reasonable time for compliance. In this case a compliance period of three (3) 
months is considered reasonable for the removal of the two shutters and 
associated shutter box housings. 
  

48   19/00290/UNAU_B - Beaufort Lodge, 10 - 12 St Vincent's Road, 
Westcliff-on-Sea (Milton Ward)  
Breach of Planning Control: UPVC Windows installed in the Milton 
Conservation Area 
  
Resolved:-  
  
That ENFORCEMENT ACTION be AUTHORISED to secure: 
  
(a) the removal from the site of the front and side UPVC windows and door in their 
entirety, and 
  
(b) the removal from site of all materials resulting from compliance with (a) above. 
  
The authorised enforcement action to include (if/as necessary) the service of an 
Enforcement Notice under Section 172 of the Act with time for compliance six (6) 
months and the pursuance of proceedings whether by prosecution or injunction to 
secure compliance with the requirements of the Enforcement Notice. 
  

Chair:  

12



 
 

 
 

 
 

13



This page is intentionally left blank



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

18th October 2023 
 

WARD APP/REF NO. ADDRESS 
 
 
 

Main Plans Report 

Milton 23/01216/BC4 
Cliffs Pavilion Station Road  

Westcliff on Sea 

Chalkwell 23/00946/FUL 
Day Nursery, 43 Imperial Avenue, 

Westcliff-on-Sea 

Chalkwell 23/00751/FUL 
Brambles Care Home, 22 Cliff Road, 

Leigh-on-Sea 

Chalkwell 23/01226/FULH 
131 Beach Avenue,  

Leigh-on-Sea  
 
 

 

15



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

         

 

16



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

         

INTRODUCTION 
 
(i) Recommendations in capitals at the end of each report are those of the 

Executive Director (Growth & Housing), are not the decision of the Committee 
and are subject to Member consideration. 

 
(ii) All plans have been considered in the context of the City Council's Environmental 

Charter.  An assessment of the environmental implications of development 
proposals is inherent in the development control process and implicit in the reports. 

 
(iii) Reports will not necessarily be dealt with in the order in which they are printed. 
 
(iv) The following abbreviations are used in the reports: - 

 
CIL - Community Infrastructure Levy 
DAS -  Design & Access Statement 
DEFRA -  Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
DPD - Development Plan Document 
EA -  Environmental Agency 
EPOA -  Essex Planning Officer’s Association  
JAAP - Southend Airport and Environs Joint Area Action Plan 
MHCLG - Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
NDG - National Design Guide 
NDSS - Nationally Described Space Standards 
NPPF - National Planning Policy Framework 
PPG -  National Planning Practice Guidance 
RAMS - Recreation disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy 
SCAAP - Southend Central Area Action Plan 
SPD - Supplementary Planning Document 
SSSI - Sites of Special Scientific Interest.  A national designation. SSSIs 

are the country's very best wildlife and geological sites.  
SPA - Special Protection Area.  An area designated for special protection 

under the terms of the European Community Directive on the 
Conservation of Wild Birds. 

Ramsar Site - Describes sites that meet the criteria for inclusion in the list of 
Wetlands of International Importance under the Ramsar 
Convention.  (Named after a town in Iran, the Ramsar Convention 
is concerned with the protection of wetlands, especially those 
important for migratory birds) 

 
 

17



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

         

Background Papers 
 
(i) Planning applications and supporting documents and plans 
(ii) Application worksheets and supporting papers 
(iii) Non-exempt contents of property files 
(iv) Consultation and publicity responses 
(v) NPPF and PPG including the NDG 
(vi) NDSS 
(vii) Core Strategy  
(viii) Development Management Document 
(ix) London Southend Airport & Environs JAAP 
(x) SCAAP 
(xi)  Design and Townscape Guide 
(xii)  Technical Housing Standards Policy Transition Statement 
(xiii) Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments 
(xiv) Essex Coast RAMS SPD 
(xv) CIL Charging Schedule 
(xvi) Southend Electric Vehicles Charging Infrastructure SPD 
 
NB Other letters and papers not taken into account in preparing this report but received 

subsequently will be reported to the Committee either orally or in a supplementary 
report.  

 
 
 
 

 

18



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

         

Use Classes 
(Generally in force from 1st September 2020)  
 
Class B1         Business  
Class B2         General industrial  
Class B8         Storage or distribution  
Class C1         Hotels  
Class C2         Residential institutions  
Class C2A       Secure residential institutions  
Class C3         Dwellinghouses  
Class C4         Houses in multiple occupation  
Class E           Commercial, Business and Service  
Class F.1         Learning and non-residential institutions  
Class F.2         Local community 
Sui Generis     A use on its own, for which any change of use will require planning 
permission.  
 
Deleted Use Classes  
(Limited effect on applications for prior approval and other permitted 
development rights until 31st July 2021) 
 
Class A1         Shops  
Class A2         Financial and professional services  
Class A3         Restaurants and cafes  
Class A4         Drinking establishments  
Class A5         Hot food takeaways  
Class D1         Non-residential institutions  
Class D2         Assembly and leisure  
 

 

19



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

Reference: 23/01216/BC4 

Application Type: Borough Council Regulation 4 

Ward: Milton 

 

Proposal: Erect two storey extension and layout new external 
landscaped area to east elevation, layout new cycle stores in 
the undercroft area and alter elevations and amend on street 
parking layout to increase parking capacity at Westcliff 
Parade 

Address: Cliffs Pavilion 
Station Road 
Westcliff-on-Sea 
Essex 
SS0 7RA 

Applicant: Mr Mark Murphy of Southend City Council 

Agent: Mr Peter Reime of AL3D 

Consultation Expiry: 28.09.2023 

Expiry Date:  20.10.2023 

Case Officer: Abbie Greenwood 

Plan Nos: CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-DR-M-010001 Rev T02  
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-DR-A-010003 Rev T02  
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-DR-A-020002 Rev T02  
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-01-DR-A-010004 Rev P01  
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-01-DR-A-020003 Rev P01  
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-B1-DR-A-010002 Rev T02  
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-B1-DR-A-020001 Rev T02  
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-RF-DR-A-010005 Rev P01 
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-RF-DR-A-020004 Rev P01  
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-090001 Rev P01  
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-090002 Rev P01  
CLIF-AL3-V2-00-DR-A-030008  
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050003 Rev T02  
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050004 Rev T02  
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050005 Rev T02  
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050006 Rev T02  

21

5



CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-DR-A-020002 Rev T02 

Additional information: Design and Access Statement Rev A dated 11.09.23  
Transport Statement by Glanville reference 
001_4200507_DK Issue 3 dated 18.07.23 
External Plant Noise Assessment by RSK Acoustics 
reference 2061935-RSKA-RP-001-(02) Rev 02 dated 
17.7.23  
Construction Management and Construction Traffic 
Management Plan Rev 3 dated 11.07.22  
Cliffs Pavilion Waste Management Plan dated 12.07.23  
CLIF-AL3-V2-00-DR-A-030011 Rev T02 (Ground Floor 
External Hard Landscaping Design) 
CLIF-REL-V1-RF-DR-M-000001 Rev P01 (Roof Plant 
Layout) 
CLIF-REL-V2-XX-DR-E-00312 Rev P01 (External Lighting 
Layout) 
Kingfisher Lighting Ecorays Datasheet 
Ground Floor Drainage Plan CLIF-GC-V1-BR-C-1202 Rev 
T2 
Drainage Maintenance Plan 
Email from agent dated 15.9.23 regarding drainage 
queries  
Fire Safety Letter by Osborn Associates dated 20.07.23 

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to conditions  
 

  

22



 
  

23



1 Site and Surroundings 
 

1.1 The Cliffs Pavilion is the City’s main theatre. It dates from the 1960s and was extended 
on the south side in the late 1990s. It is a large building which sits on the top of the 
clifftop at Westcliff at the western end of the cliff gardens. It has a commanding and 
prominent position on the clifftop facing the estuary and is a local physical and cultural 
landmark.  
 

1.2 To the south and south-east the building is wrapped by the cliff gardens. To the north-
east side is a sunken paved terrace with water feature adjacent to the main entrance. 
This is the site of the proposed extension. This side of the building is enclosed by the 
building’s service road, which provides disabled peoples’ and drop off parking, and 
Station Road and Westcliff Parade beyond. The properties opposite to the north and 
north-east are residential and fall within the Shorefields Conservation Area. To the west 
is another residential street San Remo Parade, which is outside the conservation area 
boundary. There are a few commercial uses in the vicinity of the site, mainly small 
restaurants to the west and south on Western Esplanade at the bottom of the cliff. 
 

1.3 There are 65 off street spaces on the site under and to the south of the building and on 
the service road including 7 disabled peoples’ parking bays and several drop off bays 
opposite the entrance. The site is also close to two large public car parks in Shorefield 
Road and Western Esplanade. The surrounding roads also have on street parking but 
most on street spaces in the surrounding streets are covered by a residents parking 
scheme. 

 
1.4 The site falls within the Central Seafront Policy Area as defined by the Southend Central 

Area Action Plan (SCAAP). The clifftop gardens to the east are designated as protected 
green space but this designation does not cover the sunken terrace site or theatre. The 
building is recognised as a landmark under SCAAP Policy DS3. The site fronts onto the 
Seafront Landmark Area Key View as defined by SCAAP Policy DS2.  The site is within 
the setting of Shorefields Conservation Area.  
 

2 The Proposal 
 

2.1 The proposal seeks planning permission to: 
 

• Erect a two storey extension with feature canopy and roof top plant enclosure to 
the east side of the building to form a new main entrance. 

• Improve the internal layout of the building including the foyer, circulation space 
and hospitality areas within the building and provide new additional WCs and 
baby changing facilities.  

• Improve access to and within the building including a new internal lift, accessible 
bar heights and step free access.  

• Alter the existing elevations including the painting of the lower-level brickwork on 
the north elevation and new feature signage.   

• Re-landscape the external area to the east of the building to form a new public 
plaza including new paving, planting, lighting and art.  

• Additional cycle stores in the undercroft area comprising 6 secure staff cycling 
stores and 8 visitor spaces. 

• Amend parking including below the building (no change in overall number of 
spaces on the Cliffs Pavilion site) and in Westcliff Parade to increase parking 
capacity on street by 8 spaces. 

 
2.2 The proposed extension would have the same length but be up to 8m wider than the 

existing entrance and foyer arrangement. The proposed height is a maximum of 8.5m 
(10m including roof top plant enclosure). Overall, the gross internal area of the building 24



will change from 5925 sqm to 6249 sqm, a net increase of 324 sqm over 2 floors. The 
existing restaurant is proposed to increase in capacity from 100 covers to 158 covers to 
the existing bars and restaurant as set out in the following table: 
 
 
Area New Occupancy 

levels 
Existing 
Occupancy 
levels 

Difference 

Existing Main Ground floor Café Bar  88 covers plus 
standing 

 

Proposed Main Ground floor Café 
Bar 

84 covers plus 
standing 

 Minus 4 

Existing Foyer Bar  44 covers plus 
standing 

 

Proposed Foyer Bar 68 covers plus 
standing 

 Plus 24 

Existing First floor restaurant   Approx 100 
covers 

 

Proposed first floor restaurant  146 covers plus 
standing 

 Plus 46 

Existing First floor mezzanine area  68 covers  
Proposed first floor mezzanine area 80 covers  Plus 12 
Existing first floor terrace area to first 
floor restaurant 

 Approx 20  

Proposed first floor terrace area to 
first floor restaurant  

0 covers  Minus 20 

Note there are no changes to the 
Lower ground floor areas 

N/A N/A  

    
Existing layout total occupancy to 
the areas stated above 

 320 covers plus 
standing 

 

Proposed layout total occupancy 
to the areas stated above 

378 covers plus 
standing 

  

   58 covers 
increase 

 
 

2.3 In support of these alterations the Design and Access Statement comments: 
 
‘This increase in area adds much needed space for the 2200+ attendees of a show to 
move around safely, particularly in a post covid environment, with space to queue 
without blocking circulation, better access to WCs and a more open, welcoming 
environment to visit. The improved access to the first floor areas and the new internal 
signage and layout will make navigation through the space clearer and easier for all 
visitors. The enlarged first floor restaurant and bar adds more capacity for an improved 
pre-show dining experience and the bar element will encourage guests to stay after the 
show for longer, thereby reducing the post-show surge volumes which can have an 
impact on local traffic and noise. Overall, WC capacity will be increased, particularly 
female WCs on all levels, as well as offering more accessible WC facilities and a new, 
Changing Place facility as part of the access strategy enhancements.’ 
 

3 Relevant Planning History 
  

3.1 The most relevant planning history for the determination of this application is shown on 
Table 1 below: 
 

25



Table 1: Relevant Planning History of the Application Site 

Reference Description  Outcome 
21/01314/BC4 Erect single storey side and front extension to form 

200 cover restaurant, new entrances and 
circulation lobby, erect lower ground side 
extensions, internal alterations including infilling of 
existing balcony, install canopies to front and side, 
alter elevations, install AHU plant to roof and digital 
advertisement displays, install new refuse store 
and cycle parking and amend on street parking 
layout to increase parking capacity at Westcliff 
Parade. 

Granted. Not 
implemented 
but still extant  
(approved on 
5th November 
2021) 

17/01560/BC3 Render building. Granted 
15/01152/BC3 Install replacement windows to ground floor foyer 

and first floor pavilion restaurant. 
Granted 

12/00579/BC4 Erect illuminated Menorah annually during the 
festival of Chanukah. 

Granted 

09/00008/BC3 Alter northwest elevation to allow existing lifting 
equipment to be raised to 9.3 metres high (part 
retrospective). 

Granted 

07/01805/FUL Install window to south elevation. Granted 
03/00625/BC4 Form new opening and install doors and lifting 

equipment to northwest elevation. 
Granted 

 
4 Representation Summary 

 
Public Consultation 
 

4.1 One hundred (100) neighbouring properties were notified of the application by letter, a 
site notice was displayed, and a press notice published. 1 letter of representation has 
been received supporting the application.  
 
Highways  

 
4.2 No objections. The applicant has provided a detailed and robust Transport Statement in 

support of the application. The applicant has provided 2 traffic modelling scenarios. 1. 
Modelling demonstrates just the hospitality in use which shows that parking within the 
area which includes local car parks and seafront is available.  
2. Modelling demonstrates with both hospitality and the theatre in use parking is still 

available within local car parks and the seafront.  
It is considered that the increased size of the hospitality provision at the site will not have 
a detrimental impact on the surrounding highway network.  
  
The applicant is providing a highway contribution of £7,500 towards the amendment of 
the on-street parking layout in Westcliff Parade which would introduce Echelon Parking 
replacing parallel parking in this location which would increase parking number on street 
by 8 spaces. 
  
Environmental Health 
 

4.3 No objections provided the noise mitigation measures set out in the submitted noise 
report are implemented and the use of the outside area for hospitality is not extended 
beyond what is already allowed for the existing bar area. The proposed external lighting 
is appropriate for the location. The Construction Management Plan is also acceptable. 
Conditions are recommended in relation to waste management arrangements and 

26



timings of deliveries and collections. 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) 
 

4.4 No objections subject to a condition requiring full drainage details to be agreed.  
 
Essex Fire Service  
 

4.5 No objections.  
 
Theatres Trust  

 
4.6 No objections. The Cliffs Pavilion is an important regional theatre. This proposal will 

further expand and enhance the venue’s front of house provision, improve orientation 
and accessibility and encourage longer stays at the venue enhancing the potential for 
income generation to help sustain the venue and its cultural offer for the city. It allows 
for operational benefits too, because the removal of the large ticket office enables a new 
back of house corridor providing better access between front and back of house.  
Overall, the scheme is supported.  

London Southend Airport  
 

4.7 No objections.  
 
Milton Conservation Society  
 

4.8 Milton Conservation Society support this application, in particular the amended design 
and the retention of a flexible open space as part of the proposal.  
 

5 Planning Policy Summary 
  

5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 

5.2 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2021) 
 

5.3 Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP1(Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), 
CP2 (Town Centre and Retail Development), CP3 (Transport and Accessibility) CP4 
(The Environment and Urban Renaissance), CP6 (Community Infrastructure)  

 
5.4 Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM2 (Low 

Carbon and Development and Efficient Use of Resources) DM3 (Efficient and Effective 
Use of Land), DM5 (Southend-on-Sea’s Historic Environment) and DM15 (Sustainable 
Transport Management) 

 
5.5 Southend Central Area Action Plan (SCAAP) (2018) Policies CS1 Central Seafront 

Policy Area Development Principles), DS2 (Key Views) and DS3 (Landmarks and 
Landmark Buildings) 
 

5.6 Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) 
 

5.7 Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments (2019) 
 

5.8 Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure for new development Supplementary Planning 
Document (2021) 
 

5.9 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015) 
27



 
5.10 Shorefields Conservation Area Appraisal (2021) 

 
6 Planning Considerations 

 
6.1 The main considerations in relation to this application include the principle of the 

development, impact on heritage, the design and impact on the character and 
appearance of the area, the impact on residential amenity, traffic and parking 
implications, energy and water use sustainability, refuse and recycling storage, flooding 
and drainage and CIL liability. Due weight has been given to the basis of decision for 
the extant 2021 planning permission 21/01314/BC4 in the assessment of this current 
proposal.  
 

7 Appraisal 
 
 Principle of Development 
 
7.1 Policy KP1 supports the regeneration and growth of Southend as a successful leisure 

and tourism destination and the Cliffs Pavilion is a key component of this offer.  
 

7.2 Paragraph 194 of the SCAAP states “The Cliffs Pavilion on the western edge of the 
Central Seafront Policy Area is another major visitor destination and is an important 
cultural asset which should be enhanced where possible to develop further the visitor 
offer.”  
 

7.3 Policy CS1, Central Seafront Area Development Principles, seeks to enhance the role 
of the seafront as a leisure destination and states amongst other things:  
 
‘1. The Council through its role in determining planning decisions and other initiatives 
will: 
 
a.  consider favourably proposals which enhance or diversify the range of arts, culture, 
entertainment, tourism, leisure and recreational facilities, subject to an assessment of 
the scale, character, location and impact of the proposal on existing facilities and 
environmental designations, including protected green space; 
c.  secure high quality and sustainable redevelopment of poor quality, vacant or 
underused sites and buildings to improve the local townscape, including provision of 
active ground floor frontages to add to the vibrancy and vitality of the streetscene; 
d.  ensure that all development proposals affecting all designated and non-designated 
heritage assets, including Conservation Areas, listed and locally listed buildings, 
conserve and enhance these buildings and their settings in line with Policy DM5 of the 
Development Management Document; 
h.  seek to conserve existing landmarks and landmark buildings and ensure new 
development respects views to and from them, their setting and character, in line with 
Policy DS2: Key Views and Policy DS3: Landmarks and Landmark Buildings. 

 
3.  The Council will promote the following access and public realm improvements a.  
emphasise landmarks and landmark buildings (Policy DS3), orientation points, views 
and vistas, and improve accessibility between the seafront and town centre; 

 
j.  upgrade the Cliffs Pavilion outdoor space and improve its connection to the Cliffs; 
 

7.4 In relation to the protection of the City landmark buildings which includes the Cliffs 
Pavilion, Policy DS3 states: 
  
‘The Council, through its role in determining planning applications, master planning, and 28



other initiatives, will seek to conserve landmarks and landmark buildings as identified in 
Table 2 and Appendix 3 from adverse impact by: 
 
a.  encouraging the provision of open spaces and public realm improvements which 
provide views to landmarks or landmark buildings or enhance their setting;  
b.  resisting adverse impacts of new development by virtue of excessive height, massing 
or bulk;  
c.  ensuring development proposals respect views, setting and character.’ 

  
7.5 The above policies strongly support proposals which enhance the arts, culture, 

entertainment, tourism, and leisure and recreation facilities particularly within this Policy 
Area.  The proposal will improve the visitor facilities at the Cliffs Pavilion and is therefore 
fully in line with policy in this regard. 
 

7.6 The proposal includes the remodelling of the outside plaza area to make it more user 
friendly and therefore specifically meets the aims of Policy CS1 3j above.    
 

7.7 The proposal will not materially impact on longer views of the Cliffs Pavilion or diminish 
its status as a local landmark. Indeed, the proposal aims to refresh parts of the new 
entrance extension works. The proposal is therefore compliant with Policy DS3.  
 

7.8 The principle of this development is therefore supported subject to the detailed 
considerations set out below.  

 
 Design and Impact on the Character of the Area including the adjacent Shorefields 

Conservation Area 
 
7.9 Section 69 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 defines 

conservation areas as 'areas of special architectural or historic interest, the character or 
appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance'. In determining this 
application, the Council has a statutory duty under section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requiring special attention to be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of Conservation 
Areas.  
 

7.10 Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to ensure that new development 
is well designed. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 
better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities. 
 

7.11 Local development plan policies seek to ensure that new development is designed so 
that it adds to the overall quality of the area and respects the character of the site, its 
local context and surroundings, provides appropriate detailing that contributes to and 
enhances the distinctiveness of place; and contribute positively to the space between 
buildings and their relationship to the public realm. Policy DM1 and the Design and 
Townscape guide provide further details on how this can be achieved. Policy DM5 of 
the Development Management Document seeks to protect the special character of the 
City’s Conservation Areas. 

 
7.12 The existing building is a well-known local landmark in a prominent location on the cliffs. 

It dates from the mid C20 and has some attractive modernist design features including 
the zig zag roof profile to the auditorium and the distinctive butterfly (i.e. V-shaped) roof 
to the fly tower and decorative mosaic tiling. A glazed extension was added to the south 
elevation in the 1990s which has given the building a more active frontage facing the 
estuary and has contributed positively to its character. There are, however, some 
elements of the building which are constrained and get very congested during busy 29



times, are tired in appearance or have been altered with poor detailing and materials 
which detract from the character and the useability of the building. These include the 
current entrance which is long and narrow and creates a bottle neck during busy times 
and which lacks legibility in the streetscene, the constrained foyer and the detailing of 
the 2 storey projection to the east side which in the past was   reclad in UPVC. These 
aspects are considered to have a negative impact on the building’s character and the 
setting of the adjacent Shorefields Conservation Area.  
 

7.13 To the east side of the building is a large hardsurfaced open space which sits above the 
lower ground level of the building and has a large sunken section and water feature. 
Whilst this provides some enclosure to the space it means that the area looks inwards 
and does not make the best use of its south-easterly position overlooking the estuary. 
The space has some small areas of planting and a few benches but has a rather dated 
appearance and is often devoid of activity. In its present form this area does not make 
a positive contribution to the setting of the building, the cliffs or adjacent conservation 
area and is specifically identified in the SCAAP as being a location in need of a 
new/improved open space.    

 
7.14 The primary focus of the proposal is to provide a new, more-useable entrance for the 

theatre which improves both the internal and external circulation space making it more 
legible and accessible and to provide a focal point for the east elevation of the building. 
The design achieves this by remodelling the restaurant projection at the south-east 
corner by infilling the curved section at first floor to reference the adjacent 1990s 
extension and by extending the lines of this round until it meets the northern building 
line. Double doors and a double internal space will provide a more fitting arrival space 
for this scale of public building and a feature rain canopy will link this to the drop off point 
in the service road. The exterior of the building will be detailed in white aluminium curtain 
glazing with brise soleil detailing and white render to match the 1990s extension giving 
the building a more recognisable and cohesive character to the more public sides of the 
building and a visible feature entrance to the street. To ensure that it integrates with the 
1960s building the proposal includes new feature signage across both elements and a 
continuation of the white colour palette into the lower section of the northern elevation 
and a fly tower roof helping to tie the two elements of the building together.  
 

7.15 In addition to the improved entrance and foyer space the extension includes dedicated 
concessions and merchandising areas, remodelling and modest enlargement of the 
ground floor foyer bar and first floor restaurant, additional toilet and back of 
house/ancillary facilities and a second internal customer lift. The new plant for the 
relocated restaurant kitchen will be located on the roof within an acoustic enclosure set 
back from the front to minimise its impact.  
 

7.16 The remodelled plaza to the east side of the building will be marginally smaller than the 
existing arrangement but will be raised and relandscaped to take advantage of the 
estuary aspect and make the area more useable and attractive generally. This includes 
new paving, planting to the street boundary, lighting and focal points provided by the 
relocated statue and seasonal installation of the Menorah light feature. The plaza will be 
further animated by outside seating for the foyer bar during fine weather and the new 
planter to the northern boundary will provide a buffer to the conservation area and road.  
 

7.17 Overall, it is considered that the design is well scaled and well detailed and will give the 
theatre a more cohesive and distinct character as well as an improved customer 
experience. The extension and associated landscaping will also enhance the 
streetscenes of Station Road and Westcliff Parade and the setting of the adjacent 
Shorefields Conservation Area and will give the theatre a new lease of life, helping to 
safeguard its future viability which is important for the City and the wider region.  The 
proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in all design and 

30



heritage regards subject to the agreement of materials, key details and landscaping 
which can be secured by conditions.  

 
Amenity Impacts 

 
7.18 Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality 

development which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management 
Document specifically identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, 
immediate neighbours, and surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, 
outlook, noise and disturbance, visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. 
Further advice on how to achieve this is set out in the Council’s Design and Townscape 
Guide.  

 
Physical Impact of the Proposed Extension 

 
7.19 The site is set on its own on the Clifftop. The proposed extension is located on the 

eastern side of the existing building and is two storeys only with a general height of 8.5m 
rising to 10m for the plant room section which is set back against the tower. The closest 
neighbour is on the other side of Westcliff Parade some 50m from the proposed 
extension. It is therefore considered that the proposal would not have any adverse  
impact on privacy, overlooking, outlook, sense of enclosure or daylight and sunlight for 
neighbouring properties.  

 
Impact on neighbours from new exterior lighting  

 
7.20 The landscaping scheme and external lighting plan proposes new lighting in the plaza 

comprising 4 tall street lamps around the feature artwork and low level bollard lighting 
on the perimeter of the space. Feature LED lighting is also proposed on the underside 
of the new canopy. New signage will also be lit and uplighting is proposed to the butterfly 
roof on the tower. Environmental Health comment that this lighting scheme is 
appropriate for the location and have raised no concerns in relation to neighbour 
amenity. The proposal is therefore acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.   

 
Noise and Disturbance from Customers and Associated Plant  

 
7.21 The proposal is not intended to increase the number of customers to the site, rather, its 

primary objective is to improve the customer experience by offering them a better 
experience and improved facilities so that they stay longer at the venue. The new, more- 
spacious entrance and larger circulation space will help to reduce the bottle neck which 
currently occurs at the rather narrow main entrance during show start and finish times 
and the additional facilities should discourage patrons from all trying to arrive/leave at 
the same time, reducing the noise and disturbance at peak periods. Given that the 
auditorium is unchanged and is often at capacity, it is considered that during the evening 
when the shows are playing, the level of noise and disturbance at the site will not be 
significantly greater than the existing situation and may in fact be lessened by the 
proposal. 

 
7.22 Whilst the proposal is primarily to improve the visitor experience for the existing theatre 

customers there will be some customers who visit the venue who do not attend a show. 
It is most likely that these will be outside the start and finish times of the shows and is 
not likely to significantly increase noise and disturbance around the site subject to a 
condition controlling the opening hours of the terrace for outside eating and drinking. In 
the  approved 2021 proposal for a new larger restaurant the use of the terrace was found 
to be acceptable provided it was restricted to between 09:00 and 22:00. A similar 
condition is considered appropriate in this case.  

 
31



7.23 The remodelled restaurant kitchen will require new extraction and air handling plant. The 
development is required to ensure that any noise arising from this plant is at least 
10dB(A) below background levels at the boundaries of the nearest noise sensitive 
properties. To meet this requirement, the submitted noise report recommends the 
installation of an acoustic louvered plant enclosure around the new air handling units on 
the roof of the extension. Environmental Health are satisfied that this would be 
acceptable in this instance subject to confirmation via post completion noise testing 
which can be required by condition. A condition can also control the hours of deliveries 
and collections for the proposed restaurant. Conditions are also proposed for hours of 
construction. Overall, it is considered that the proposal would have less noise potential 
than the previously approved 200 cover restaurant (reference 21/01314/BC4) which was 
found to have an acceptable impact on neighbour amenity in all relevant regards.  

 
7.24 Subject to the conditions noted above, it is considered that the proposal would have an 

acceptable impact on the amenities of neighbours and the proposal is acceptable and 
policy compliant in this regard.   

 
Traffic and Transportation Issues 

 
7.25 The NPPF states (paragraph 111) that ‘Development should only be prevented or 

refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety or, the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.’ 
 

7.26 Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy and Policy DM15 of the Development Management 
Document aim to improve road safety, quality of life and equality of access for all. Policy 
DM15 of the Development Management Document states that development will be 
allowed where there is, or it can be demonstrated that there will be physical and 
environmental capacity to accommodate the type and amount of traffic generated in a 
safe and sustainable manner. Maximum parking standards are set out in relation to the 
proposed uses. 
 

7.27 Policy DM15 expresses non-residential parking standards as a maximum, which in this 
location, is a maximum of 1 space per 5 seats for theatres and a maximum of 1 space 
per 6sqm for new restaurants in the central area.  

 
7.28 The capacity of the theatre is not changing. The net increase in internal space is 324 

sqm most of which is proposed within the new foyer area. The increase in the footprint 
of the building is 165sqm but around half of the extension will be improved circulation 
space and ancillary uses. The net increase in restaurant and bar areas is 87sqm. This 
would equate to a maximum increase in parking requirements of up to 15 spaces.  
 

 
7.29 A Transport Assessment has been submitted with the application. This concludes: 

 
• ‘The existing restaurant has 100 covers and it is proposed to increase the size to 150 

covers (129 within the bar/restaurant and 21 within a new foyer bar), a net increase 
of up to 50 covers. A new ground floor lobby bar will also be provided.  

• The site is within walking distance of existing bus stops and three mainline railway 
stations. There is on-site parking and off-site public pay and display car parks within 
a short walk of the site.    

• The restaurant will typically be used for pre-show meals and consequently, the diners 
will already be travelling to the theatre but will be removed from the theatre’s peak 
arrival time. Consequently, the impact of the additional covers will be negligible.  

• If the restaurant becomes a destination restaurant, the total trip generation would be 
significantly less than when the theatre is in operation. The trips would also be spread 
over a greater time period, whilst a large number of vehicles would already be on the 32



highway network. It is therefore considered that the impact associated with a 
destination restaurant would be small.  

• The trip generation indicates that the existing parking provision would be acceptable 
for both the pre-show meals and if the restaurant becomes a destination 
establishment.’    
 

7.30 The existing site has 65 off street car parking spaces, 49 to the south west corner of the 
site partly under the building and 16 on the service road to the north. There is no capacity 
to increase on site car parking or in the service road however the site is well served by 
public car parking including two large public car parks at Shorefield Road (capacity 126 
spaces) and Western Esplanade (capacity 494 spaces). The site is also within walking 
distance of Westcliff and Southend’s 2 railway stations and close to bus routes.  
 

7.31 The Transport Statement also makes a commitment to work with the Council to improve 
the off street parking on Westcliff Parade by converting it from parallel parking to echelon 
parking. This would involve proposed new white lining and the amendment of the Traffic 
Regulation Order. It is envisaged that this will create an additional 8 spaces. The details 
of this have yet to be finalised however this commitment can in this instance be secured 
by a Grampian style condition and is consistent with the same approach taken for the 
approved 2021 development. This approach is supported by the applicant plus the 
Council’s Highways Officer who has confirmed that the number of residents’ parking 
bays in this location will not be reduced. 

 
7.32 The NPPF advises that developments should only be refused on highway grounds if 

there is an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the residual cumulative impacts 
are severe. No such concerns have been identified in the assessment of this proposal. 
The Council’s Highways Officer is satisfied that, subject to the proposal providing a 
contribution to the Council’s parking scheme in Westcliff Parade, the proposal will not 
have a detrimental impact on parking or traffic in the local area and the proposal is 
acceptable and policy compliant in this regard. Indeed, the proposal would have less 
parking and highways impact than the previously approved 200 cover restaurant 
(reference 21/01314/BC4) which was found to have an acceptable impact on traffic and 
transportation in all relevant regards. Therefore, subject to the conditions described 
above there are no objections to the proposal in these regards. 

 
Cycle Parking  
 

7.33 Policy DM15 requires that new restaurants and bars provide 1 cycle space per 100sqm 
for staff and 1 cycle space per 100sqm for customers. Public cycle parking is currently 
provided at Western Esplanade to the south and at Westcliff and Southend Victoria and 
Central Stations but there is no cycle parking on site for staff or customers. The increase 
in floor area of the building is 324 sqm. There is no change to the capacity of the theatre 
itself. Most of this new floorspace is circulation space and an increase in bar and 
restaurant covers of 58. The maximum requirement for cycle parking, assuming 300sqm 
of additional bar and restaurant space, which is an over estimation, would be 3 spaces 
for visitors and 3 spaces for staff. The submitted plans include 6 new cycle parking 
lockers for staff and 8 new cycle parking spaces for visitors to the site which exceeds 
the policy requirement and can be secured by condition. The proposal is therefore 
acceptable and policy compliant in this regard. 
 
Refuse, Recycling and Servicing  

 
7.34 The refuse and recycling storage at the site is unchanged by these proposals. The agent 

has confirmed that the existing arrangements will serve the needs of the proposed 
development. This is acceptable in principle but given the increases in the covers of the 
restaurant and foyer bar it is likely that more frequent collections and servicing may be 

33



needed. Environmental Health have therefore requested that the times of these 
deliveries and collections are controlled by condition so as not to cause a nuisance for 
neighbours. Subject to this condition the proposal is acceptable and policy complaint in 
this regard. 
 
Construction Management Plan  

 
7.35 Given the tight nature of the site and proximity of neighbours, it is considered that a 

construction management plan will be required for this development. A Construction 
Management and Construction Traffic Management Plan has been submitted with the 
application which shows the phasing of the development and the location of the 
contractors’ compound at each stage, dust control and noise mitigation measures. No 
objections have been raised to this plan from either Highways or Environmental Health. 
The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in this 
regard subject to a condition requiring its full implementation.  
 

7.36 Subject to the conditions described above, the proposal is therefore acceptable and 
policy compliant in regard to traffic and transportation issues. 
 
Sustainability 
 

7.37 Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy requires that “at least 10% of the energy needs of new 
development should come from on-site renewable options (and/or decentralised 
renewable or low carbon energy sources).’ Policy DM2 of the Development 
Management Document states that ‘to ensure the delivery of sustainable development, 
all development proposals should contribute to minimising energy demand and carbon 
dioxide emissions.’ Policy DM2 (iii) further states ‘Where viable and feasible, achieving 
a BREEAM ‘very good’ rating, and move towards zero carbon by 2019 for all non-
residential developments’ however this is not a policy requirement for extensions to 
existing buildings.  
 

7.38 In relation to the sustainability of the development the submitted Design and Access 
Statement comments:  

‘As the project is only an extension of less than 10% of the existing floor area, utilising 
a lot of the existing building fabric and is reliant on existing services that fall outside of 
the project scope, we will not be able to provide any BREEAM certification however that 
does not mean we won't be aiming to improve the sustainable profile of the extension 
and with it the building as a whole as a result.’  To this end the proposal includes PV 
panels on the roof, more efficient plant, improved thermal efficiency and high levels of 
solar gain and daylighting. 

 
7.39 These benefits are welcomed and the requirement for 10% renewable energy and water 

efficiency can be secured by condition. In this instance, as the proposal is an extension 
only which enlarges the ancillary areas of the existing 1960s building, is considered 
unreasonable to require a BREEAM Very Good rating to be achieved.  
 

7.40 Subject to the above conditions, it is considered that the proposal is therefore acceptable 
and policy compliant in regard to sustainability.  

 
Flooding and Drainage 

 
7.41 A drainage plan has been submitted with the application showing the new connections 

to the existing drainage system. The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has advised the 
development is shown to be within an area of surface water flood risk and full detailed 
information on the detailed drainage scheme will therefore need to be conditioned. The 34



proposal is therefore acceptable and policy compliant in this regard subject to this 
condition.  

 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  
 

7.42 This application is CIL liable and there will be a CIL charge payable. In accordance with 
Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 143 of 
the Localism Act 2011) and Section 155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, CIL is 
being reported as a material ‘local finance consideration’ for the purpose of planning 
decisions. The proposed development includes a gross internal area of 324 sqm, which 
may equate to a CIL charge of approximately £4,423.85(subject to confirmation). Any 
existing floor area that is being retained/demolished that satisfies the ‘in-use building’ 
test, as set out in the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended), may be deducted from the 
chargeable area thus resulting in a reduction in the chargeable amount.  

 
 Equality and Diversity Issues 

 
7.43 The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in 

the exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. 
Under this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and must advance 
equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not.  
 

7.44 The proposals include a new lift and new entrance and will significantly improve DDA 
(Disability Discrimination Act) access to the building and the internal and external 
circulation space. This is positive and a public benefit of the proposal which should be 
afforded due weight in the balance of material considerations. The proposal will not 
conflict with the Council’s Statutory duties under the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended).  
 
Conclusion 

 
7.45 Having taken all material planning considerations into account, it is found that subject to 

compliance with the attached conditions, the proposed development would be 
acceptable and compliant with the objectives of the relevant development plan policies 
and guidance. The principle of the development which supports the future vitality and 
viability of culture and tourism in the city is supported by policy. The proposal would 
have an acceptable impact on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the 
character and appearance of the application site, setting of the adjacent Shorefields 
Conservation Area and the locality more widely. There would be no materially adverse 
traffic, parking or highways impacts caused by the proposed development. There are 
associated public benefits, including improved access when considered under the 
provisions of the Disability Discrimination Act, which must be afforded due weight in the 
balancing exercise. This application is recommended for approval subject to conditions. 
 
 

8 Recommendation 
 

GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following conditions: 
 

 
01 The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than three years of 
the date of this decision. 
 
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 35



02 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-DR-M-010001 Rev T02, CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-
DR-A-010003 Rev T02, CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-DR-A-020002 Rev T02, CLIF-AL3-ZZ-01-DR-A-
010004 Rev P01, CLIF-AL3-ZZ-01-DR-A-020003 Rev P01, CLIF-AL3-ZZ-B1-DR-A-
010002 Rev T02, CLIF-AL3-ZZ-B1-DR-A-020001 Rev T02, CLIF-AL3-ZZ-RF-DR-A-
010005 Rev P01, CLIF-AL3-ZZ-RF-DR-A-020004 Rev P01, CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-
090001 Rev P01, CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-090002 Rev P01, CLIF-AL3-V2-00-DR-A-
030008, CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050003 Rev T02, CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050004 Rev 
T02, CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050005 Rev T02, CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050006 Rev T02, 
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-DR-A-020002 Rev T02.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
provisions of the Development Plan. 
 
 
03 Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise hereby 
approved, no construction works other than demolition and construction up to 
ground floor slab level shall take place unless and until full product details of the 
materials to be used on all the external elevations of the approved development, 
including walls, roof and coping, solar shading, windows and doors, entrance canopy 
and signage, rainwater goods, vents and plant enclosure and any amended finishes 
to the existing building have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority under the terms of this condition. The development shall be 
carried out in full accordance with the approved details before it is brought into first 
use. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the area including the setting of the 
adjacent Shorefields Conservation Area, in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2021), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development 
Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM5, Policies CS1 and DS3 of the 
Southend Central Area Action Plan (2018), and the advice contained within the 
Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) and the Shorefields 
Conservation Area Appraisal (2021).    
 
 
04 Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise hereby 
approved, no construction works other than demolition above ground floor slab level 
shall take place unless and until full detailed design drawings and cross sections of 
the following key features at a scale of 1:20 or 1:10 as appropriate have first been 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority under the terms 
of this condition: 
 

i. All new signage structures  to be affixed to the  building including poster cases.  
ii. Details of sun shading including integrated drainage solution and any 

alterations to the existing curved canopy.  
iii. Details of parapet roof edge and roof plant enclosure.  
iv. Details of window reveals and glazed infill panelling arrangement.    

 
The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved details 
before it is brought into use. The feature entrance canopy shall be carried out in full 
accordance with drawing reference CLIF-AL3-V2-00-DR-A-030008 or any other details 
that have been previously submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority under the terms of this condition.  

 
Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the area including the setting of the 

36



adjacent Shorefields Conservation Area, in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2021), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development 
Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM5, Policies CS1 and DS3 of the 
Southend Central Area Action Plan (2018), and the advice contained within the 
Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) and the Shorefields 
Conservation Area Appraisal (2021).    

 
 

05 Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise hereby 
approved, no construction works other than demolition above ground floor slab level 
shall take place until and unless full details of both hard and soft landscape works to 
be carried out at the site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority under the terms of this condition. The approved hard landscaping 
works shall be carried out prior to first use of the development or in accordance with 
an alternative timetable, details of which have previously been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under the terms of this condition 
and the soft landscaping works within the first planting season following the first use 
of the development. The details submitted shall include, but not be limited to: 
 

i) Any alterations to balustrading or boundaries or means of enclosure of the site.   
ii) Hard surfacing materials, bond and extent of paving. 
iii) Full design details of any associated structures including plinth and statue, 

raised planter detail, furniture including benches, and fixed outside dining 
furniture and bins. 

iv) Details of all new external lighting and illumination at the site including the 
luminance and spread of light and the design and specification of the light 
fittings. All illumination shall be designed in accordance with the Institute of 
Lighting Professionals "Guidance Note 01/20: Guidance notes for the reduction 
of obtrusive light" and "PLG05 The brightness of illuminated advertisements." 

v) Full details of the number, size and location of the trees, shrubs and plants to 
be retained and planted together with a planting specification and management 
plan.  

vi) Details of measures to enhance biodiversity within the site. 
 
Any trees or shrubs dying, removed, being severely damaged or becoming seriously 
diseased within five years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such 
size and species as may be agreed with the Local Planning Authority under the terms 
of this condition.  

 
Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the area including the setting of the 
adjacent Shorefields Conservation Area, in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2021), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development 
Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM5, Policies CS1 and DS3 of the 
Southend Central Area Action Plan (2018), and the advice contained within the 
Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) and the Shorefields 
Conservation Area Appraisal (2021).    
 
 
06 A scheme detailing how at least 10% of the total energy needs of the development 
hereby approved will be supplied using on site renewable sources shall be submitted 
to, agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and implemented in full 
accordance with the approved details prior to the first use of the development hereby 
approved. This provision shall be made for the lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: To minimise the environmental impact of the development through efficient 
use of resources and better use of sustainable and renewable resources in 

37



accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Core Strategy (2007) 
Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM2 and 
the advice in the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 
 
 
07 Any replacement or additional sanitary facilities within the development hereby 
approved shall incorporate water efficient design measures as set out in Policy DM2 
(iv) of the Development Management Document including water efficient sanitary 
fittings.  
 
Reason: To minimise the environmental impact of the development through efficient 
use of water in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Core 
Strategy (2007) Policy KP2, Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM2 
and the advice in the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 
 
 
08 The plaza area hereby approved shall not be used by customers for the purposes 
of consuming food or drink from 22:00 hours until the close of business on all days. 
Additionally, all doors accessing the terrace shall be closed, except temporarily for 
access and egress, from 22:00 to 09:00 on all days.  
 
Reason: In order to protect the amenities of the surrounding occupiers in accordance 
with Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1 and DM3 of 
the Development Management Document (2015). 
 
 
09 Noise and vibration from plant and equipment associated with the development 
hereby approved including extract ventilation when operating at its maximum speed 
and output shall be limited to 10 dB(A) below the background noise level which is 
expressed as a LA90,15minutes at the boundary of the nearest residential property. 
 
The noise mitigation measures as detailed in report ‘External Plant Noise 
Assessment’ Report No. 2061935-RSKA-RP-001-(02) dated 17/07/2023 by RSK 
Acoustics (The Report) shall be implemented by competent persons. Prior to 
operation a post completion noise survey shall be undertaken by a suitably qualified 
acoustic consultant, and a report submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority under the terms of this condition. The post completion testing 
shall assess performance of the noise mitigation measures against the noise levels 
as set in the Report.  
  
If the mitigation measures tested in the post-completion report prove to be 
insufficient, additional noise mitigation measures (where necessary to ensure the 
appropriate noise levels can be met), shall be submitted and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority under the terms of this condition and installed and 
tested prior to operation. 
 
The mitigation measures must be retained thereafter for the lifetime of the 
development. 
 
Reason: To protect the amenities of nearby occupiers in accordance with Policies 
KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the 
Development Management Document (2015). 
 
 
10 No deliveries or refuse collection shall be taken at or despatched from the 
restaurant use hereby permitted outside the hours of 07:00 to 18:00 hours Mondays 38



to Fridays and 08:00 to 13:00hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank 
or Public Holidays. 
 
Reason: In order to protect residential amenities in accordance with Policies KP2 and 
CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development 
Management Document (2015). 
 
 
11 Before the development hereby permitted is first used, a strategy to provide for 8 
re-marked on-street parking spaces within Westcliff Parade, the position of which is 
identified on drawing No CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-DR-A-010001 Rev T02, including the 
commitment to a contribution of £7,500 to the cost of these works, shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under the terms 
of this condition. The strategy shall specify the steps and timetable for how formal 
consideration of the provision of this amended on street parking will be initiated and 
then progressed in full accordance with the required statutory highway processes 
operated by the Council as Local Highway Authority including consideration in 
principle and then, if agreed in principle, any necessary Traffic Regulation Order and 
its outcomes.   
 
In the event that the statutory Highways process supports the provision of the 
amended on-street parking spaces these shall then be implemented in accordance 
with the details so approved prior to first use of the development hereby approved. 
The spaces shall be maintained and made available for use thereafter for the lifetime 
of the development.  
 
Reason: A condition is required in the interests of highways management, the 
character of the area and safety in accordance with Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2, 
CP3 and CP4 and Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1, DM3 and 
DM15 and the advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape 
Guide (2009).  
 
 
12 The development shall not be brought into first use unless and until the cycle 
storage facilities are provided in full and made available for use by the staff and 
customers of the development  in accordance with the details shown on drawing 
number CLIF-AL3-ZZ-B1-DR-A-020001 Rev T02 or any other details that have been 
previously submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority under 
the terms of this condition. The cycle storage facilities shall be permanently retained 
as such thereafter.   
 
Reason:  To ensure the provision of adequate cycle parking in accordance with Policy 
DM15 of The Development Management Document (2015). 
 
 
13 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in full accordance with the 
Construction Management and Construction Traffic Management Plan Rev 3 dated 
11.07.22. This Plan shall be adhered to throughout the entire construction period 
unless alternative construction management details have been submitted to and 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority under the terms of this condition. 
 
Reason: This condition is needed in the interests of visual amenity including the 
setting of the adjacent Shorefields Conservation Area and the amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers pursuant to Policy CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and 
Policies DM1, DM3 and DM5 of the Development Management Document (2015). 

39



 
 
14 Construction works associated with this permission shall not take place outside 
08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays and 08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on 
Saturdays and at no time Sundays or Bank or Public Holidays. 
 
Reason: In order to protect the amenities surrounding occupiers and to protect the 
character of the area including the setting of the adjacent Shorefields Conservation 
Area in accordance with Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and 
Policies DM1, DM3 and DM5 of the Development Management Document (2015). 
 
15 Notwithstanding the details shown on the Ground Floor Drainage Plan CLIF-GC-
V1-BR-C-1202 Rev T2 and Drainage Maintenance Plan, the development hereby 
permitted shall not be commenced other than for demolition works unless and until 
a detailed design of a surface water drainage scheme and surface water management 
strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The details submitted shall include, but not be limited to:  

a. Further details to show how the development will be drained, demonstrating 
how this follows SuDS principles, such as why below ground storage is being 
used. 

b. Calculations must be provided to show the brownfield runoff rate and 50% 
betterment. 

c. Calculations be provided to demonstrate how the storage volume of 275m3 
has been reached, including evidence to show this has a half-drain time of 
less than 24 hours. All calculations must use the new climate change 
allowances of 45%. 

d. An agreement in principle from Anglian Water to make a new drainage 
connection, including confirmation of the 2 litres per second flow rate. 

e. Details  be provided on how flood risk will be minimised during the 
construction phase. 

f. New floor levels should be set at or higher than the existing building floor 
levels. 

g. Details of who will maintain the drainage features and frequencies. 
  
The drainage strategy and SuDS design statement must be implemented in full 
accordance with the details approved under this condition before the development 
hereby approved is brought into first use.  
 
Reason:  To ensure the approved development does not increase flood risk elsewhere 
in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Core Strategy 
(2007) Policies KP1, KP2 and KP3 and Development Management Document (2015) 
Policies DM6 and DM14. 
 

 
Positive and Proactive Statement 
 
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying matters of concern within the application (as originally 
submitted) and negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments to the 
proposal to address those concerns.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has 
been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance 
with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  The detailed analysis is set out in a report on 
the application prepared by officers. 

 
40



 
Informatives: 
 
01 Please note that the development the subject of this application is liable for a 
charge under the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as 
amended) and it is the responsibility of the landowner(s) to ensure they have fully 
complied with the requirements of these regulations. A failure to comply with the CIL 
regulations in full can result in a range of penalties. For full planning permissions, a 
CIL Liability Notice will be issued by the Council as soon as practicable following this 
decision notice. For general consents, you are required to submit a Notice of 
Chargeable Development (Form 5) before commencement; and upon receipt of this, 
the Council will issue a CIL Liability Notice including details of the chargeable amount 
and when this is payable. If you have not received a CIL Liability Notice by the time 
you intend to commence development it is imperative that you contact 
S106andCILAdministration@southend.gov.uk to avoid financial penalties for potential failure 
to comply with the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended). If the chargeable development 
has already commenced, no exemption or relief can be sought in relation to the 
charge and a CIL Demand Notice will be issued requiring immediate payment. Further 
details on CIL matters can be found on the Planning Portal 
(www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_infrastructure_levy) or 
the Council's website (www.southend.gov.uk/cil).    

 
02 You should be aware that in cases where damage occurs during construction 
works to the highway in implementing this permission that Council will seek to 
recover the cost of repairing public highways and footpaths from any party 
responsible for damaging them. This includes damage carried out when 
implementing a planning permission or other works to buildings or land. Please take 
care when carrying out works on or near the public highways and footpaths in the 
city. 
 
03 Asbestos - Prior to any alterations to the existing buildings an appropriate 
Asbestos survey of the buildings should be undertaken and a scheme implemented 
to remove and safely dispose of any asbestos-containing materials in accordance 
with the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 and the applicant's/developer's Waste 
duty of care. 

 
04 The applicant is advised that Advert Consent may be required for any new signage 
at the site.   

41

mailto:S106andCILAdministration@southend.gov.uk
http://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_infrastructure_levy
http://www.southend.gov.uk/cil


This page is intentionally left blank



LOBBY

Entrance
Corridor

MAIN BAR & CAFE

APPROX

APPROX

587100E

18
52
50
N

20

Shelter

PC

SHOREFIELD GARDENS

4.0m
Sloping masonry

30

29

28

LY
D

FO
R

D
 R

O
AD

WINTON AVENUE

7

14

8

Weste
rle

y

The Cliffs

17

1

M
IL

TO
N

 R
O

AD

154

11

32

2b

Pond

1 to 8

San Remo M
ansio

ns

Milto
n Court

3

22

1

Cliffs
 Pavili

on

Shelter

23.2m

19
15

Sloping masonry

Sloping masonry

4.3m

WESTERN ESPLANADE

34

42

STATION ROAD

19

27

SP

SL

7a

1

5

5

Car P
ark

6

16.5m

SL

Sloping masonry

4.0m

Shelter

Sandrin
gham

11

4

1b

1a

27

2

Allco
at H

ouse

26Surgery

14

TR
IN

IT
Y 

AV
EN

UE

7

12

9

10

13

3

1

26.5m

Mean High Water

Cycle Way

SA
N

 R
EM

O
 P

AR
AD

E

1

The

Cotta
ge

4

1 to 9

18.3m

M
IL

TO
N

 A
VE

N
U

E

5

W
ES

TC
LI

FF
 A

VE
N

U
E

2

LB

2a

28
.7

m

Winton Hall

Pavili
on

Heights
17

9

10

587
200

m

Director's
Room

Band
Room

Ticket
Office

MAIN
ENTRANCE

shop

shop
store

Site
Manager

STAGE

AUDITORIUM

DRESSING ROOMS / OFFICES / BOH

cleaners

Dis. WC

WC

Dis. WC

MALE
WC

control
room

LOADING
AREA

LOBBY

Entrance
Corridor

MAIN BAR & CAFE

APPROX

APPROX

587100E

18
52
50
N

20

Shelter

PC

Shelter

SHOREFIELD GARDENS

4.0m
Sloping masonry

30

29

28

LY
D

FO
R

D
 R

O
AD

WINTON AVENUE

7

14

8

Weste
rle

y

The Cliffs

17

SL

1

M
IL

TO
N

 R
O

AD

154

11

32

2b

Pond

1 to 8

San Remo M
ansio

ns

Milto
n Court

3

22

1

Cliffs
 Pavili

on

Shelter

23.2m

19
15

Sloping masonry

Sloping masonry

4.3m

WESTERN ESPLANADE

34

42

STATION ROAD

19

27

SP

SL

7a

1

5

5

Car P
ark

6

16.5m

SL

Sloping masonry

4.0m

Shelter

Sandrin
gham

11

4

1b

1a

27

2

Allco
at H

ouse

26Surgery

14

TR
IN

IT
Y 

AV
EN

UE

7

12

9

10

13

3

1

26.5m

Mean High Water

Cycle Way

SA
N

 R
EM

O
 P

AR
AD

E

1

The

Cotta
ge

4

1 to 9

18.3m

M
IL

TO
N

 A
VE

N
U

E

5

W
ES

TC
LI

FF
 A

VE
N

U
E

2

LB

2a

28
.7

m

Winton Hall

Pavili
on

Heights
17

9

10

587
100

m

587
200

m

587
200

m

185
300

m

Layer 05-01 finishes plan hatch

Director's
Room

Band
Room

Ticket
Office

MAIN
ENTRANCE

shop

shop
store

Site
Manager

STAGE

AUDITORIUM

DRESSING ROOMS / OFFICES / BOH

cleaners

Dis. WC

WC

Dis. WC

MALE
WC

control
room

LOADING
AREA

Superstructure Legend

Denotes structure at first floor
subject to discussions. Allow for
timber joists T.B.C

Denotes span direction
D100 Roof deck by Tata steel

Denotes steelwork to be
galvanised(G) 1!

Residual Hazards Identified
DescriptionItem

Blockwork to not exceed 20kg per unit

M =  Moment Connections (kNm)
V = Shear (kN)

Key -ULS Reactions

First Floor Columns

Existing columns under (Ground to first)
from 1960's construction
('xx' reference to archive drawings)

Col 'xx'

Existing columns over and under (Ground
to second) from 1960's construction
('xx' reference to archive drawings)

Col 'xx'

Existing columns under (Ground to first)
from 1930's construction
('xx' reference to archive drawings)

Col 'xx'

Existing columns over (First to second)
from 1960's construction
('xx' reference to archive drawings)

Col 'xx'
(Over)

Column Schedule
Column Ref. Size (mm)

C1 CHS139.7x6.3
C2 CHS193.7x16
C3 UC203x203x46

Beam Schedule
Beam Ref. Size (mm)

B1 PFC150x90x24
B4 UB254x146x43
B5 PFC200x90x30
B6 UC152x152x37

Cross Bracing Schedule
CB Ref. Size (mm)

Baseplate Schedule
Type Mark Size (mm)

BP1 300x300x15thk Baseplate
BP2 350x300x15thk Baseplate
BP3 400x400x15thk Baseplate
BP4 400x300x15thk Baseplate

0m 20m 40m 60m 80m 100m 120m

0m 10m 20m 30m 40m 50m 60m

SITE CONSTRAINTS BOUNDARY

COUNCIL OWNERSHIP BOUNDARY

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

Existing Location Plan
1:1250 at A0

Existing Site Plan
1:500 at A0

P01 17/07/2023 issued for planning
T01 01/09/2023 issued for Tender

P02 07/09/2023 added chevron parking area within
site boundary

T02 03/10/2023 added existing parking spaces on
feeder road

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

Existing Site & Location Plan

CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-DR-A-010001

T02varies@A0July 23

OUTLINE OF PROPOSED EXTENSION

©Crown Copyright and database rights 2023 OS Licence no. 100059809

©Crown Copyright and database rights 2023 OS Licence no. 100059809

area included for allowance
towards new chevron parking
markings

43

AutoCAD SHX Text
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
51.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
51.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
51.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
51.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
51.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
50.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
50.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
50.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
(2.15)

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
(2.18)

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
usb2.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
(2.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
(f2.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
usb1.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
(f2.41)

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
usb1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
(f2.41)

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
(2.60)

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
usb2.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
(2.57)

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
(f2.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
usb2.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
usb2.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
(f2.75)

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
(f2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
ch2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
fc0.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
dh2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
usb2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
(3.23)

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
usb3.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
usb3.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
(4.14)

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
usb1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
usb2.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
dh2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
(3.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
usb2.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
(2.67)

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
ch0.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
fc2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
ch0.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
fc2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
(f2.08)

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
(2.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
usb2.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
(2.71)

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
ch1.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
fc0.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
(2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
(2.19)

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
usb2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
dh2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
(2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
(2.46)

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
usb2.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
(2.02)

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
(f2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
dh2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
(f2.04)

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
usb3.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
51.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
51.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
51.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
51.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
51.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
51.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
51.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
51.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
51.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
51.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
50.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
Stn 31

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
52.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
51.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
Stn 30

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
Stn 29

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
50.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
Stn 28

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
Stn 27

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
50.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
50.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
Stn 24

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
Stn 23

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
50.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
50.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
50.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
(f2.48)

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
dh1.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
usb2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
dh2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
ch0.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
fc0.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
(f2.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
(f2.46)

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
usb2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
(2.67)

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
(f2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
(f2.50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
usb1.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
usb2.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
usb2.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
(f2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
dh2.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
(f2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
(f2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
(f2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
(2.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
(f2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
(f2.94)

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
(f2.73)

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
(4.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
(2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
ch1.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
fc0.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
(1.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
ch0.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
ch0.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
fc1.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
ch2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
fc0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
ch2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
fc0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
usb2.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
dh2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
(2.69)

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
(2.69)

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
(f2.50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
usb2.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
(2.54)

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
(2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
usb2.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
(f2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
dh2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
ch2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
fc0.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
ch1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
fc0.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
ch1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
fc0.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
ch2.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
fc0.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
dh2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
(2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
dh2.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
(3.25)

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
(3.25)

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
(f2.84)

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
(2.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
fc1.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
(2.09)

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
(2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
(2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
(7.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
(7.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
usb3.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
usb3.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
(3.09)

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
(3.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
(3.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
51.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
51.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
48.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
51.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
51.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
49.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
ch1.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
fc0.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
(f2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
(4.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
ch0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
fc1.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
ch0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
fc1.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
ch0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
fc1.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
(4.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
(2.08)

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
(f2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
(3.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
ch1.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
(3.07)

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
(3.07)

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
(3.07)

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
(3.07)

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
ch1.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
ch1.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
ch1.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
ch1.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
ch2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
fc0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
ch1.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
fc0.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
(2.84)

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
(f2.78)

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
(2.84)

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
(2.74)

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
usb2.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
(2.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
(2.33)

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
(2.33)

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
(2.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
ch1.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
fc2.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
ch1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
fc0.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
(2.60)

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
ch1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
fc0.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
usb2.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
(3.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
(2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
ch0.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
fc0.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
ch0.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
fc0.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
fc2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
(4.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
(4.83)

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
(5.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
(1.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
(1.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
(3.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
fc0.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
fc0.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
(f2.21)

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
ch0.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
fc1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
ch0.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
fc1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
(f2.23)

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
(f2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
(2.14)

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
(2.63)

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
fc1.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
(2.15)

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
(2.18)

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
usb2.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
(2.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
(f2.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
usb1.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
(f2.41)

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
usb1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
(f2.41)

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
(2.60)

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
usb2.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
(2.57)

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
(f2.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
usb2.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
usb2.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
(f2.75)

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
(f2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
ch2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
fc0.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
dh2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
usb2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
(3.23)

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
usb3.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
usb3.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
(4.14)

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
usb1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
usb2.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
dh2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
(3.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
usb2.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
(2.67)

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
ch0.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
fc2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
ch0.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
fc2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
(f2.08)

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
(2.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
usb2.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
(2.71)

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
ch1.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
fc0.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
(2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
(2.19)

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
usb2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
dh2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
(2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
(2.46)

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
usb2.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
(2.02)

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
(f2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
dh2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
(f2.04)

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
usb3.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
(f2.48)

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
dh1.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
usb2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
dh2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
ch0.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
fc0.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
(f2.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
(f2.46)

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
usb2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
(2.67)

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
(f2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
(f2.50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
usb1.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
usb2.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
usb2.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
(f2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
dh2.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
(f2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
(f2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
(f2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
(2.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
(f2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
(f2.94)

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
(f2.73)

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
(4.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
(2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
ch1.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
fc0.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
(1.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
ch0.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
ch0.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
fc1.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
ch2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
fc0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
ch2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
fc0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
usb2.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
dh2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
(2.69)

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
(2.69)

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
(f2.50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
usb2.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
(2.54)

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
(2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
usb2.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
(f2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
dh2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
ch2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
fc0.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
ch1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
fc0.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
ch1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
fc0.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
ch2.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
fc0.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
dh2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
(2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
dh2.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
(3.25)

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
(3.25)

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
(f2.84)

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
(2.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
fc1.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
(2.09)

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
(2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
(2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
(7.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
(7.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
usb3.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
usb3.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
(3.09)

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
(3.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
(3.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
52.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
52.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
52.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
52.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
52.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
52.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
51.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
48.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
51.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
52.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
51.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
50.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
50.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
50.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
50.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
50.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
49.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
50.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
50.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
50.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
50.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
50.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
50.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
50.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
50.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
50.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
50.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
50.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
50.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
50.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
50.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
49.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
49.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
49.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
49.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
49.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
49.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
49.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
49.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
49.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
49.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
50.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
50.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
50.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
50.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
50.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
49.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
49.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
49.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
49.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
49.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
49.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
49.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
49.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
49.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
49.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
49.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
49.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
50.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
50.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
DISABLED

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
DROP-OFF ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
RESERVED

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
DROP-OFF ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
01

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
02

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
03

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
04

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
05

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
06

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
07

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
08

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
09

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
51.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
51.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
51.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
51.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
51.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
50.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
50.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
50.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
(2.15)

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
(2.18)

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
usb2.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
(2.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
(f2.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
usb1.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
(f2.41)

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
usb1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
(f2.41)

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
(2.60)

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
usb2.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
(2.57)

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
(f2.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
usb2.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
usb2.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
(f2.75)

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
(f2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
ch2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
fc0.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
dh2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
usb2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
(3.23)

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
usb3.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
usb3.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
(4.14)

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
usb1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
usb2.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
dh2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
(3.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
usb2.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
(2.67)

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
ch0.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
fc2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
ch0.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
fc2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
(f2.08)

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
(2.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
usb2.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
(2.71)

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
ch1.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
fc0.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
(2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
(2.19)

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
usb2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
dh2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
(2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
(2.46)

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_982
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_983
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_984
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_985
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_986
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_987
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_988
usb2.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_989
(2.02)

AutoCAD SHX Text_990
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_991
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_992
(f2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_993
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_994
dh2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_995
(f2.04)

AutoCAD SHX Text_996
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_997
usb3.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_998
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_999
51.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1000
51.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1001
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1002
51.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1003
51.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1004
51.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1005
51.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1006
51.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1007
51.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1008
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1009
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1010
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1011
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1012
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1013
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1014
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1015
51.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1016
51.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1017
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1018
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1019
50.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1020
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1021
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1022
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1023
Stn 31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1024
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1025
52.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1026
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1027
51.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1028
Stn 30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1029
Stn 29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1030
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1031
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1032
50.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1033
Stn 28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1034
Stn 27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1035
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1036
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1037
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1038
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1039
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1040
50.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_1041
50.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1042
Stn 24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1043
Stn 23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1044
50.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1045
50.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1046
50.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1047
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1048
(f2.48)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1049
dh1.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_1050
usb2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1051
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1052
dh2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1053
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1054
ch0.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1055
fc0.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_1056
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1057
(f2.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1058
(f2.46)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1059
usb2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1060
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1061
(2.67)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1062
(f2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1063
(f2.50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1064
usb1.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1065
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1066
usb2.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1067
usb2.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1068
(f2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1069
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1070
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1071
dh2.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1072
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1073
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1074
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1075
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1076
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1077
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1078
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1079
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1080
(f2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1081
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1082
(f2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1083
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1084
(f2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1085
(2.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1086
(f2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1087
(f2.94)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1088
(f2.73)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1089
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1090
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1091
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1092
(4.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1093
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1094
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1095
(2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1096
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1097
ch1.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1098
fc0.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1099
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1100
(1.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1101
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1102
ch0.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_1103
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1104
ch0.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1105
fc1.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1106
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1107
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1108
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1109
ch2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1110
fc0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1111
ch2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1112
fc0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1113
usb2.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1114
dh2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1115
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1116
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1117
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1118
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1119
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1120
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1121
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1122
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1123
(2.69)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1124
(2.69)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1125
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1126
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1127
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1128
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1129
(f2.50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1130
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1131
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1132
usb2.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1133
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1134
(2.54)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1135
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1136
(2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1137
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1138
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1139
usb2.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1140
(f2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1141
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1142
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1143
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1144
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1145
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1146
dh2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1147
ch2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1148
fc0.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1149
ch1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1150
fc0.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1151
ch1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1152
fc0.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1153
ch2.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1154
fc0.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1155
dh2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1156
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1157
(2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1158
dh2.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1159
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1160
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1161
(3.25)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1162
(3.25)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1163
(f2.84)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1164
(2.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1165
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1166
fc1.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1167
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1168
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1169
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1170
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1171
(2.09)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1172
(2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1173
(2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1174
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1175
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1176
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1177
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1178
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1179
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1180
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1181
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1182
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1183
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1184
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1185
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1186
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1187
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1188
(7.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1189
(7.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1190
usb3.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1191
usb3.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1192
(3.09)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1193
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1194
(3.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1195
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1196
(3.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1197
51.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1198
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1199
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1200
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1201
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1202
51.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1203
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1204
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1205
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1206
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1207
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1208
48.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1209
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1210
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1211
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1212
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1213
51.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1214
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1215
51.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1216
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1217
49.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_1218
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1219
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1220
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1221
ch1.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_1222
fc0.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1223
(f2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1224
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1225
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1226
(4.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1227
ch0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1228
fc1.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1229
ch0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1230
fc1.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1231
ch0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1232
fc1.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1233
(4.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1234
(2.08)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1235
(f2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1236
(3.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1237
ch1.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1238
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1239
(3.07)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1240
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1241
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1242
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1243
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1244
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1245
(3.07)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1246
(3.07)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1247
(3.07)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1248
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1249
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1250
ch1.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1251
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1252
ch1.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1253
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1254
ch1.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1255
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1256
ch1.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1257
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1258
ch2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1259
fc0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1260
ch1.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1261
fc0.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1262
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1263
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1264
(2.84)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1265
(f2.78)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1266
(2.84)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1267
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1268
(2.74)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1269
usb2.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1270
(2.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1271
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1272
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1273
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1274
(2.33)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1275
(2.33)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1276
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1277
(2.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1278
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1279
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1280
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1281
ch1.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1282
fc2.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1283
ch1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1284
fc0.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1285
(2.60)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1286
ch1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1287
fc0.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1288
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1289
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1290
usb2.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1291
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1292
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1293
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1294
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1295
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1296
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1297
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1298
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1299
(3.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1300
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1301
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1302
(2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1303
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1304
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1305
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1306
ch0.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1307
fc0.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1308
ch0.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1309
fc0.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1310
fc2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1311
(4.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1312
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1313
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1314
(4.83)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1315
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1316
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1317
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1318
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1319
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1320
(5.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1321
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1322
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1323
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1324
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1325
(1.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1326
(1.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1327
(3.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1328
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1329
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1330
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1331
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1332
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1333
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1334
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1335
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1336
fc0.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1337
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1338
fc0.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1339
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1340
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1341
(f2.21)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1342
ch0.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1343
fc1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1344
ch0.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1345
fc1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1346
(f2.23)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1347
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1348
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1349
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1350
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1351
(f2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1352
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1353
(2.14)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1354
(2.63)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1355
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1356
fc1.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1357
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1358
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1359
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1360
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1361
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1362
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1363
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1364
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1365
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1366
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1367
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1368
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1369
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1370
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1371
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1372
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1373
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1374
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1375
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1376
(2.15)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1377
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1378
(2.18)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1379
usb2.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1380
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1381
(2.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1382
(f2.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1383
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1384
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1385
usb1.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_1386
(f2.41)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1387
usb1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1388
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1389
(f2.41)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1390
(2.60)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1391
usb2.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1392
(2.57)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1393
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1394
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1395
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1396
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1397
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1398
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1399
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1400
(f2.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1401
usb2.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1402
usb2.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1403
(f2.75)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1404
(f2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1405
ch2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1406
fc0.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1407
dh2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1408
usb2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1409
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1410
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1411
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1412
(3.23)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1413
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1414
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1415
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1416
usb3.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1417
usb3.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1418
(4.14)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1419
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1420
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1421
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1422
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1423
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1424
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1425
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1426
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1427
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1428
usb1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1429
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1430
usb2.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1431
dh2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1432
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1433
(3.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1434
usb2.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1435
(2.67)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1436
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1437
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1438
ch0.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1439
fc2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1440
ch0.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1441
fc2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1442
(f2.08)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1443
(2.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1444
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1445
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1446
usb2.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1447
(2.71)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1448
ch1.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1449
fc0.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1450
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1451
(2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1452
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1453
(2.19)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1454
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1455
usb2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1456
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1457
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1458
dh2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1459
(2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1460
(2.46)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1461
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1462
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1463
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1464
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1465
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1466
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1467
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1468
usb2.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1469
(2.02)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1470
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1471
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1472
(f2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1473
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1474
dh2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1475
(f2.04)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1476
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1477
usb3.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1478
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1479
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1480
(f2.48)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1481
dh1.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_1482
usb2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1483
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1484
dh2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1485
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1486
ch0.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1487
fc0.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_1488
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1489
(f2.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1490
(f2.46)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1491
usb2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1492
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1493
(2.67)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1494
(f2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1495
(f2.50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1496
usb1.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1497
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1498
usb2.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1499
usb2.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1500
(f2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1501
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1502
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1503
dh2.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1504
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1505
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1506
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1507
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1508
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1509
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1510
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1511
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1512
(f2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1513
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1514
(f2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1515
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1516
(f2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1517
(2.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1518
(f2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1519
(f2.94)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1520
(f2.73)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1521
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1522
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1523
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1524
(4.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1525
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1526
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1527
(2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1528
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1529
ch1.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1530
fc0.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1531
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1532
(1.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1533
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1534
ch0.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_1535
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1536
ch0.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1537
fc1.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1538
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1539
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1540
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1541
ch2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1542
fc0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1543
ch2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1544
fc0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1545
usb2.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1546
dh2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1547
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1548
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1549
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1550
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1551
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1552
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1553
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1554
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1555
(2.69)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1556
(2.69)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1557
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1558
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1559
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1560
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1561
(f2.50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1562
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1563
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1564
usb2.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1565
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1566
(2.54)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1567
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1568
(2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1569
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1570
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1571
usb2.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1572
(f2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1573
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1574
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1575
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1576
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1577
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1578
dh2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1579
ch2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1580
fc0.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1581
ch1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1582
fc0.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1583
ch1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1584
fc0.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1585
ch2.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1586
fc0.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1587
dh2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1588
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1589
(2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1590
dh2.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1591
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1592
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1593
(3.25)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1594
(3.25)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1595
(f2.84)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1596
(2.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1597
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1598
fc1.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1599
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1600
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1601
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1602
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1603
(2.09)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1604
(2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1605
(2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1606
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1607
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1608
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1609
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1610
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1611
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1612
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1613
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1614
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1615
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1616
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1617
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1618
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1619
(7.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1620
(7.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1621
usb3.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1622
usb3.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1623
(3.09)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1624
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1625
(3.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1626
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1627
(3.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1628
52.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1629
52.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1630
52.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1631
52.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1632
52.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1633
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1634
52.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1635
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1636
51.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_1637
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1638
48.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_1639
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1640
51.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1641
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1642
52.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1643
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1644
51.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1645
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1646
50.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1647
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1648
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1649
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1650
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1651
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1652
50.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1653
50.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1654
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1655
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1656
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1657
50.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1658
50.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1659
49.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1660
50.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1661
50.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1662
50.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1663
50.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1664
50.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1665
50.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1666
50.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1667
50.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1668
50.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1669
50.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1670
50.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1671
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1672
50.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1673
50.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1674
50.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1675
49.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1676
49.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1677
49.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1678
49.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1679
49.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_1680
49.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1681
49.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1682
49.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1683
49.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1684
49.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1685
50.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1686
50.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1687
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1688
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1689
50.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1690
50.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1691
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1692
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1693
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1694
50.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1695
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1696
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1697
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1698
49.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1699
49.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_1700
49.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1701
49.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1702
49.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_1703
49.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1704
49.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_1705
49.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1706
49.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_1707
49.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_1708
49.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1709
49.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1710
50.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1711
50.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1712
DISABLED

AutoCAD SHX Text_1713
DROP-OFF ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1714
RESERVED

AutoCAD SHX Text_1715
DROP-OFF ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1716
01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1717
02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1718
03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1719
04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1720
05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1721
06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1722
07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1723
08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1724
09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1725
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1726
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1727
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1728
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1729
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1730
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1731
15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LGF
ENTRANCE
LOBBY

MAIN
KITCHEN

FEMALE
WC

MALE
WC

STORE

Cloakroom

ADMIRAL'S
ROOM

MARITIME
ROOM

BAR

office

Bin Store

BoH

BoH

BoH

BoH

BoH

BoH

BoH

BoHPlant Room

Plant Room

Plant Room

BoH

BoH Plant

Plant

Male WCFemale WC

LOADING
AREA

FA

FA

FA

FA

FA

FA

NORT
H

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

Existing Lower Ground Floor GA Plan
1:100 at A0

P01 17/07/2023 issued for planning
T01 01/09/2023 issued for tender

T02 03/10/2023 added parking space numbers and
missing parking spaces, adjusting

viewport layout

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

Existing
GA Plan Lower  Ground  Floor

Planning Submission

CLIF-AL3-ZZ-B1-DR-A-010002

T021:100@A0July 23

SITE CONSTRAINTS BOUNDARY

COUNCIL OWNERSHIP BOUNDARY

OUTLINE OF PROPOSED EXTENSION

45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1732
storage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1733
no access

AutoCAD SHX Text_1734
no access

AutoCAD SHX Text_1735
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_1736
(2.01)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1737
(3.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1738
(3.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1739
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1740
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1741
usb2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1742
dh2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1743
(1.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1744
(3.02)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1745
usb2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1746
dh2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1747
electrics

AutoCAD SHX Text_1748
usb2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1749
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1750
(2.52)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1751
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1752
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1753
(2.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1754
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_1755
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_1756
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_1757
(3.00)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1758
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1759
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1760
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1761
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1762
(2.17)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1763
(3.08)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1764
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1765
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1766
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_1767
(2.55)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1768
plant

AutoCAD SHX Text_1769
46.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1770
(3.87)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1771
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1772
usb1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1773
usb2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1774
(2.28)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1775
(3.87)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1776
(3.87)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1777
usb2.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1778
(2.65)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1779
(f2.56)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1780
PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1781
PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1782
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1783
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1784
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1785
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1786
ICs

AutoCAD SHX Text_1787
PIPES

AutoCAD SHX Text_1788
rwp

AutoCAD SHX Text_1789
rwp

AutoCAD SHX Text_1790
pipe

AutoCAD SHX Text_1791
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1792
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1793
dh1.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1794
cover

AutoCAD SHX Text_1795
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1796
a/c

AutoCAD SHX Text_1797
a/c

AutoCAD SHX Text_1798
a/c

AutoCAD SHX Text_1799
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1800
dh2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1801
rwp

AutoCAD SHX Text_1802
rwp

AutoCAD SHX Text_1803
a/c

AutoCAD SHX Text_1804
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1805
sub station

AutoCAD SHX Text_1806
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_1807
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_1808
(f2.07)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1809
usb2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1810
(3.86)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1811
(f2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1812
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1813
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1814
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1815
(3.76)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1816
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1817
46.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_1818
47.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1819
46.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1820
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1821
47.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1822
dh2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1823
47.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1824
usb3.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1825
46.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1826
usb3.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1827
46.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1828
usb3.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1829
46.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1830
a/c

AutoCAD SHX Text_1831
46.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1832
46.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1833
47.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1834
rwp

AutoCAD SHX Text_1835
rwp

AutoCAD SHX Text_1836
ch1.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1837
fc0.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_1838
ch1.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1839
fc0.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_1840
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_1841
ch1.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1842
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1843
ch1.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1844
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1845
ch1.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1846
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1847
ch0.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1848
fc1.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1849
ch0.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1850
fc1.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1851
ch0.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1852
fc1.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1853
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_1854
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_1855
down

AutoCAD SHX Text_1856
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_1857
(1.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1858
dh1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1859
usb2.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1860
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1861
(2.76)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1862
ch0.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1863
fc1.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1864
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1865
(f2.18)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1866
(2.09)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1867
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1868
(3.06)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1869
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1870
(f2.22)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1871
(f2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1872
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1873
wall

AutoCAD SHX Text_1874
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1875
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1876
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_1877
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_1878
(f2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1879
dh2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1880
usb2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1881
dh2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1882
(2.89)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1883
usb2.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1884
usb2.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1885
usb2.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1886
(2.99)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1887
dh2.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1888
dh2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1889
usb1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1890
usb2.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1891
dh2.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_1892
(2.99)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1893
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1894
dh2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1895
usb2.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1896
cover

AutoCAD SHX Text_1897
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1898
(1.89)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1899
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1900
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1901
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1902
(2.92)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1903
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1904
(f2.45)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1905
usb2.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1906
(f2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1907
usb2.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_1908
(2.96)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1909
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_1910
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_1911
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1912
(f2.57)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1913
(f1.97)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1914
(f2.56)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1915
usb3.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1916
usb3.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1917
usb3.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1918
(3.80)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1919
usb2.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1920
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1921
(2.75)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1922
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1923
dh1.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1924
usb4.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1925
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_1926
raised platform

AutoCAD SHX Text_1927
usb2.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1928
(5.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1929
(5.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1930
usb5.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1931
usb2.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1932
usb5.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1933
usb5.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1934
usb4.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_1935
usb5.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1936
usb2.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_1937
dh2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1938
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1939
Lift

AutoCAD SHX Text_1940
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1941
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1942
ch1.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1943
fc0.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1944
(2.00)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1945
(2.78)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1946
dh1.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1947
(1.95)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1948
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1949
(2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1950
dh2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1951
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1952
(2.06)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1953
(f2.16)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1954
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1955
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1956
(f2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1957
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1958
usb3.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1959
(3.84)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1960
(f2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1961
storage soft drink chiller supply

AutoCAD SHX Text_1962
(f2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1963
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1964
dh1.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_1965
fc0.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1966
ch1.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1967
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_1968
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1969
(2.41)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1970
Lift

AutoCAD SHX Text_1971
(1.90)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1972
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1973
usb1.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1974
(2.20)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1975
usb2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1976
extractor

AutoCAD SHX Text_1977
Fridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1978
shelves

AutoCAD SHX Text_1979
dh2.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1980
dh1.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_1981
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_1982
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_1983
fc0.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1984
ch1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1985
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1986
(f2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1987
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1988
(2.05)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1989
(2.18)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1990
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1991
(f2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1992
sliding door

AutoCAD SHX Text_1993
conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1994
ch1.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1995
fc1.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1996
usb2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1997
(2.33)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1998
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1999
(2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2000
(2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2001
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2002
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2003
usb1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2004
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_2005
urinal

AutoCAD SHX Text_2006
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_2007
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_2008
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_2009
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2010
usb2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2011
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2012
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_2013
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_2014
usb2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2015
(2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2016
(1.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2017
46.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_2018
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2019
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2020
46.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2021
46.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2022
45.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_2023
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_2024
low wall 0.31h

AutoCAD SHX Text_2025
Plant Room

AutoCAD SHX Text_2026
usb2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2027
usb2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2028
c-dh1.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_2029
fc0.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_2030
sloping overhead beam

AutoCAD SHX Text_2031
usb1.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_2032
usb2.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2033
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2034
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2035
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_2036
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_2037
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_2038
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_2039
ch1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2040
fc0.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_2041
ch2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2042
fc0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_2043
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2044
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2045
usb3.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2046
(3.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2047
(3.78)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2048
(3.76)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2049
(f2.88)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2050
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2051
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2052
(f2.89)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2053
(f2.20)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2054
dh1.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2055
(f2.74)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2056
wall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2057
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_2058
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2059
usb2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_2060
dh2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2061
dh2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2062
ch2.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2063
fc0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2064
ch2.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2065
fc0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2066
ch2.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2067
fc0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2068
ch2.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2069
fc0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2070
(1.93)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2071
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2072
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2073
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2074
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2075
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2076
(1.88)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2077
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2078
(f2.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2079
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2080
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2081
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2082
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2083
(f2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2084
bar

AutoCAD SHX Text_2085
bar

AutoCAD SHX Text_2086
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2087
(f2.15)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2088
(2.13)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2089
(2.71)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2090
usb2.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_2091
bar

AutoCAD SHX Text_2092
bar

AutoCAD SHX Text_2093
(2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2094
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_2095
(2.08)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2096
(1.93)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2097
(f2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2098
(f2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2099
(f2.32)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2100
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2101
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_2102
(2.63)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2103
(2.55)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2104
(2.63)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2105
ch1.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_2106
fc1.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2107
a/c

AutoCAD SHX Text_2108
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_2109
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2110
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2111
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2112
usb2.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_2113
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2114
(2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2115
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2116
(2.56)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2117
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_2118
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_2119
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_2120
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_2121
counter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2122
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2123
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2124
sliding door

AutoCAD SHX Text_2125
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_2126
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2127
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2128
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_2129
usb2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_2130
sliding door

AutoCAD SHX Text_2131
sliding door

AutoCAD SHX Text_2132
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2133
lift

AutoCAD SHX Text_2134
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2135
(2.52)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2136
(2.98)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2137
(3.63)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2138
(1.82)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2139
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_2140
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_2141
usb2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_2142
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_2143
(2.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2144
(2.82)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2145
(3.66)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2146
usb2.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2147
(f2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2148
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2149
ch2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2150
fc0.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2151
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2152
ch0.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2153
fc2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_2154
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_2155
dh2.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_2156
(2.69)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2157
(f2.54)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2158
(2.17)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2159
(2.17)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2160
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_2161
dh2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2162
dh2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2163
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2164
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2165
dh2.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_2166
dh2.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_2167
ch2.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2168
fc0.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2169
ch2.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2170
fc0.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2171
(f2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2172
(2.69)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2173
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_2174
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_2175
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_2176
bar

AutoCAD SHX Text_2177
bar

AutoCAD SHX Text_2178
dh1.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_2179
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2180
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2181
ch0.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2182
fc2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2183
(2.57)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2184
ch0.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_2185
fc1.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_2186
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2187
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2188
down

AutoCAD SHX Text_2189
ramp 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2190
usb3.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2191
(2.90)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2192
(3.75)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2193
(3.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2194
usb2.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2195
dh2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2196
(f2.62)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2197
stud wall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2198
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2199
ch1.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_2200
fc0.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_2201
waiter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2202
dumb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2203
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2204
(2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2205
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2206
(2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2207
usb2.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2208
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2209
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_2210
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2211
(1.85)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2212
usb2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2213
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2214
dh1.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_2215
usb2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2216
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2217
(2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2218
dh1.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_2219
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2220
(2.45)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2221
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2222
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2223
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2224
(2.14)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2225
(2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2226
(1.95)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2227
(1.81)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2228
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2229
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_2230
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_2231
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2232
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2233
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2234
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2235
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2236
usb2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2237
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_2238
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2239
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_2240
(2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2241
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2242
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2243
46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2244
46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2245
46.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2246
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2247
46.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2248
46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2249
46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2250
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2251
46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2252
46.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2253
46.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2254
CL 46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2255
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2256
46.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2257
46.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2258
46.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2259
46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2260
46.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2261
46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2262
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2263
46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2264
G 46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2265
46.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2266
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2267
46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2268
46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2269
46.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2270
46.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2271
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2272
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2273
46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2274
46.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2275
46.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2276
46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2277
46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2278
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2279
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2280
46.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_2281
46.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_2282
46.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2283
46.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2284
46.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_2285
47.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2286
47.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2287
47.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2288
47.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2289
(2.01)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2290
(3.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2291
(3.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2292
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2293
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2294
usb2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2295
dh2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2296
(1.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2297
(3.02)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2298
usb2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2299
dh2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2300
usb2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2301
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_2302
(2.52)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2303
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2304
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_2305
(2.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2306
(3.00)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2307
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2308
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_2309
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2310
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_2311
(2.17)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2312
(3.08)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2313
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2314
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_2315
(2.55)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2316
(3.87)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2317
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2318
usb1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2319
usb2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2320
(2.28)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2321
(3.87)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2322
(3.87)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2323
usb2.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_2324
(2.65)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2325
(f2.56)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2326
dh1.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_2327
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2328
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_2329
dh2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_2330
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2331
(f2.07)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2332
usb2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_2333
(3.86)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2334
(f2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2335
(3.76)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2336
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2337
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2338
dh2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_2339
usb3.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_2340
usb3.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2341
usb3.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2342
ch1.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_2343
fc0.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_2344
ch1.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_2345
fc0.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_2346
ch1.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_2347
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2348
ch1.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_2349
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2350
ch1.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_2351
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2352
ch0.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_2353
fc1.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_2354
ch0.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_2355
fc1.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_2356
ch0.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_2357
fc1.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_2358
(1.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2359
dh1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2360
usb2.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2361
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_2362
(2.76)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2363
ch0.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_2364
fc1.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_2365
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2366
(f2.18)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2367
(2.09)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2368
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_2369
(3.06)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2370
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2371
(f2.22)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2372
(f2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2373
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2374
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2375
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2376
(f2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2377
dh2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2378
usb2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2379
dh2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2380
(2.89)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2381
usb2.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_2382
usb2.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_2383
usb2.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_2384
(2.99)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2385
dh2.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2386
dh2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2387
usb1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_2388
usb2.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_2389
dh2.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_2390
(2.99)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2391
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2392
dh2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2393
usb2.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2394
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_2395
(1.89)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2396
(2.92)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2397
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2398
(f2.45)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2399
usb2.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_2400
(f2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2401
usb2.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_2402
(2.96)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2403
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2404
(f2.57)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2405
(f1.97)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2406
(f2.56)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2407
usb3.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2408
usb3.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2409
usb3.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_2410
(3.80)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2411
usb2.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2412
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2413
(2.75)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2414
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_2415
dh1.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_2416
usb4.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2417
usb2.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_2418
(5.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2419
(5.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2420
usb5.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2421
usb2.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_2422
usb5.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2423
usb5.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2424
usb4.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_2425
usb5.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2426
usb2.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_2427
dh2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2428
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_2429
ch1.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_2430
fc0.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2431
(2.00)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2432
(2.78)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2433
dh1.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_2434
(1.95)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2435
(2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2436
dh2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_2437
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2438
(2.06)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2439
(f2.16)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2440
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2441
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2442
(f2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2443
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2444
usb3.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2445
(3.84)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2446
(f2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2447
(f2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2448
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2449
dh1.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_2450
fc0.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2451
ch1.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_2452
(2.41)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2453
(1.90)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2454
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2455
usb1.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_2456
(2.20)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2457
usb2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_2458
dh2.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2459
dh1.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_2460
fc0.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2461
ch1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2462
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2463
(f2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2464
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2465
(2.05)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2466
(2.18)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2467
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2468
(f2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2469
ch1.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_2470
fc1.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_2471
usb2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2472
(2.33)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2473
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2474
(2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2475
(2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2476
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2477
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2478
usb1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2479
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2480
usb2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2481
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2482
usb2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2483
(2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2484
(1.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2485
usb2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2486
usb2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2487
c-dh1.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_2488
fc0.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_2489
usb1.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_2490
usb2.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2491
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2492
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2493
ch1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2494
fc0.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_2495
ch2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2496
fc0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_2497
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2498
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2499
usb3.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2500
(3.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2501
(3.78)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2502
(3.76)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2503
(f2.88)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2504
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2505
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2506
(f2.89)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2507
(f2.20)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2508
dh1.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2509
(f2.74)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2510
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_2511
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2512
usb2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_2513
dh2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2514
dh2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2515
ch2.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2516
fc0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2517
ch2.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2518
fc0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2519
ch2.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2520
fc0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2521
ch2.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2522
fc0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2523
(1.93)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2524
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2525
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2526
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2527
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2528
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2529
(1.88)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2530
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2531
(f2.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2532
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2533
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2534
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2535
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2536
(f2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2537
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2538
(f2.15)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2539
(2.13)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2540
(2.71)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2541
usb2.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_2542
(2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2543
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_2544
(2.08)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2545
(1.93)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2546
(f2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2547
(f2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2548
(f2.32)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2549
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2550
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_2551
(2.63)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2552
(2.55)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2553
(2.63)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2554
ch1.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_2555
fc1.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2556
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2557
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2558
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2559
usb2.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_2560
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2561
(2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2562
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2563
(2.56)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2564
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2565
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2566
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_2567
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2568
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2569
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_2570
usb2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_2571
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2572
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2573
(2.52)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2574
(2.98)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2575
(3.63)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2576
(1.82)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2577
usb2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_2578
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_2579
(2.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2580
(2.82)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2581
(3.66)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2582
usb2.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2583
(f2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2584
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2585
ch2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2586
fc0.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2587
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2588
ch0.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2589
fc2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_2590
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_2591
dh2.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_2592
(2.69)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2593
(f2.54)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2594
(2.17)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2595
(2.17)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2596
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_2597
dh2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2598
dh2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2599
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2600
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2601
dh2.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_2602
dh2.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_2603
ch2.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2604
fc0.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2605
ch2.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2606
fc0.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2607
(f2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2608
(2.69)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2609
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_2610
dh1.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_2611
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2612
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2613
ch0.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2614
fc2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2615
(2.57)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2616
ch0.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_2617
fc1.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_2618
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2619
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2620
usb3.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2621
(2.90)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2622
(3.75)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2623
(3.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2624
usb2.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2625
dh2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2626
(f2.62)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2627
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2628
ch1.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_2629
fc0.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_2630
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2631
(2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2632
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2633
(2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2634
usb2.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2635
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2636
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2637
(1.85)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2638
usb2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2639
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2640
dh1.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_2641
usb2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2642
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2643
(2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2644
dh1.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_2645
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2646
(2.45)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2647
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2648
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2649
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2650
(2.14)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2651
(2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2652
(1.95)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2653
(1.81)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2654
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2655
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2656
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2657
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2658
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2659
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2660
usb2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2661
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_2662
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2663
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_2664
(2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2665
Pond Pump room

AutoCAD SHX Text_2666
Safe Room

AutoCAD SHX Text_2667
crockery store

AutoCAD SHX Text_2668
crockery store

AutoCAD SHX Text_2669
plant store room

AutoCAD SHX Text_2670
main cellar

AutoCAD SHX Text_2671
liquor store

AutoCAD SHX Text_2672
chef's office

AutoCAD SHX Text_2673
lift plant room

AutoCAD SHX Text_2674
Dry store

AutoCAD SHX Text_2675
chef's whites

AutoCAD SHX Text_2676
ambient cool room

AutoCAD SHX Text_2677
pot wash

AutoCAD SHX Text_2678
In This Area At Time Of Survey

AutoCAD SHX Text_2679
Retaining Wall Inaccessible

AutoCAD SHX Text_2680
Ret Wall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2681
Asphalt

AutoCAD SHX Text_2682
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2683
Col

AutoCAD SHX Text_2684
Col

AutoCAD SHX Text_2685
Col

AutoCAD SHX Text_2686
Col

AutoCAD SHX Text_2687
Col

AutoCAD SHX Text_2688
Col

AutoCAD SHX Text_2689
Col

AutoCAD SHX Text_2690
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2691
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2692
Asphalt

AutoCAD SHX Text_2693
Asphalt

AutoCAD SHX Text_2694
Conc

AutoCAD SHX Text_2695
Conc

AutoCAD SHX Text_2696
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2697
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2698
Asphalt

AutoCAD SHX Text_2699
Asphalt

AutoCAD SHX Text_2700
Conc

AutoCAD SHX Text_2701
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2702
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2703
Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_2704
Conc

AutoCAD SHX Text_2705
Block

AutoCAD SHX Text_2706
Conc

AutoCAD SHX Text_2707
Block

AutoCAD SHX Text_2708
Block

AutoCAD SHX Text_2709
Conc

AutoCAD SHX Text_2710
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2711
Ash

AutoCAD SHX Text_2712
0.25/8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2713
0.2/6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2714
Ash

AutoCAD SHX Text_2715
Oak

AutoCAD SHX Text_2716
0.2/4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2717
Oak

AutoCAD SHX Text_2718
0.25/6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2719
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2720
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2721
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2722
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2723
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2724
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2725
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2726
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2727
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2728
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2729
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2730
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2731
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2732
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2733
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2734
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2735
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2736
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2737
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2738
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2739
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2740
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2741
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2742
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2743
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2744
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2745
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2746
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2747
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2748
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2749
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2750
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2751
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2752
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2753
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2754
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2755
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2756
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2757
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2758
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2759
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2760
Litter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2761
Bin

AutoCAD SHX Text_2762
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2763
Bin

AutoCAD SHX Text_2764
Litter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2765
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2766
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2767
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2768
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2769
48.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_2770
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2771
47.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_2772
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2773
45.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2774
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2775
47.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_2776
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2777
50.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2778
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2779
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2780
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2781
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_2782
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2783
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2784
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2785
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2786
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2787
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2788
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2789
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2790
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2791
ICs

AutoCAD SHX Text_2792
rwp

AutoCAD SHX Text_2793
46.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2794
46.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_2795
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2796
ch2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2797
fc0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2798
ch2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2799
fc0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2800
01

AutoCAD SHX Text_2801
02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2802
03

AutoCAD SHX Text_2803
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2804
04

AutoCAD SHX Text_2805
05

AutoCAD SHX Text_2806
06

AutoCAD SHX Text_2807
07

AutoCAD SHX Text_2808
08

AutoCAD SHX Text_2809
09

AutoCAD SHX Text_2810
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2811
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2812
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2813
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2814
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2815
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2816
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2817
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2818
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2819
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2820
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2821
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2822
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2823
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2824
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2825
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2826
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2827
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2828
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2829
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2830
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2831
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2832
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2833
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_2834
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2835
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2836
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2837
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2838
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2839
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2840
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2841
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2842
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2843
DISABLED

AutoCAD SHX Text_2844
DISABLED

AutoCAD SHX Text_2845
Ret Wall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2846
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2847
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2848
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2849
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2850
Ash

AutoCAD SHX Text_2851
0.3/6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2852
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2853
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2854
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2855
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2856
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2857
46.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_2858
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2859
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2860
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2861
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_2862
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_2863
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2864
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_2865
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2866
37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LOBBY

Entrance
Corridor

MAIN BAR & CAFE

Pond

Cliffs
 Pavili

on

Shelter

23.2m

SA
N

 R
EM

O
 P

AR
AD

E Director's
Room

Band
Room

Ticket
Office

MAIN
ENTRANCE

shop

shop
store

Site
Manager

STAGE

AUDITORIUM

DRESSING ROOMS / OFFICES / BOH

cleaners

Dis. WC

WC

Dis. WC

MALE
WC

control
room

LOADING
AREA

NORT
H

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

Existing Ground Floor plan
1:100 at A0

P01 17/07/2023 issued for planning
T01 01/09/2023 issued for tender

T02 03/10/2023 added existing parking spaces on
feeder road

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

Existing
GA Plan Ground  Floor
Planning Submission

CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-DR-A-010003

T021:100@A0July 23

SITE CONSTRAINTS BOUNDARY

COUNCIL OWNERSHIP BOUNDARY

OUTLINE OF PROPOSED EXTENSION

47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2867
51.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_2868
51.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_2869
51.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2870
51.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2871
51.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2872
50.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2873
50.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_2874
50.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_2875
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2876
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2877
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2878
51.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2879
51.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2880
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2881
51.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_2882
51.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_2883
51.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_2884
51.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2885
51.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_2886
51.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_2887
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2888
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2889
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2890
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2891
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2892
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2893
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2894
51.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_2895
51.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_2896
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2897
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2898
50.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2899
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2900
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2901
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2902
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2903
52.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_2904
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2905
51.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2906
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2907
52.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2908
50.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_2909
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2910
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2911
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2912
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2913
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2914
50.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_2915
50.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_2916
50.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_2917
50.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_2918
50.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_2919
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2920
51.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2921
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2922
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2923
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2924
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2925
51.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2926
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2927
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2928
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2929
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2930
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2931
48.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2932
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2933
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2934
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2935
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2936
51.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2937
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2938
51.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2939
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2940
49.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_2941
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2942
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2943
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2944
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2945
50.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_2946
50.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_2947
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2948
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2949
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2950
50.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2951
50.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_2952
49.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_2953
50.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2954
50.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2955
50.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2956
50.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2957
50.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2958
50.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2959
50.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2960
50.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2961
50.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2962
50.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2963
50.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2964
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2965
50.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2966
50.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2967
50.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_2968
49.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_2969
49.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_2970
49.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_2971
49.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_2972
49.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_2973
49.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_2974
49.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_2975
49.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2976
49.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2977
49.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_2978
50.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2979
50.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2980
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2981
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2982
50.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2983
50.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2984
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2985
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2986
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2987
50.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2988
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2989
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2990
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2991
49.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_2992
49.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_2993
49.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_2994
49.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_2995
49.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_2996
49.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_2997
49.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_2998
49.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_2999
49.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_3000
49.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_3001
49.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_3002
49.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_3003
50.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_3004
50.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_3005
DISABLED

AutoCAD SHX Text_3006
DROP-OFF ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3007
RESERVED

AutoCAD SHX Text_3008
DROP-OFF ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3009
01

AutoCAD SHX Text_3010
02

AutoCAD SHX Text_3011
03

AutoCAD SHX Text_3012
04

AutoCAD SHX Text_3013
05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3014
06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3015
07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3016
08

AutoCAD SHX Text_3017
09

AutoCAD SHX Text_3018
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3019
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3020
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3021
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3022
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3023
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3024
15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



DINING
SPACE

BAR

LOUNGE AREA

Kitchen

MALE
WC

FEMALE
WC

FEMALE
WC

AUDITORIUM

NORT
H

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

Existing First Floor GA Plan
1:100 at A0

P01 17/07/2023 issued for planning

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

Existing
GA First Floor

Planning Submission

CLIF-AL3-ZZ-01-DR-A-010004

P011:100@A0July 23

SITE CONSTRAINTS BOUNDARY

COUNCIL OWNERSHIP BOUNDARY

OUTLINE OF PROPOSED EXTENSION

49

AutoCAD SHX Text_3025
54.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3026
54.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_3027
54.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_3028
54.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_3029
54.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_3030
55.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_3031
54.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_3032
54.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_3033
53.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_3034
53.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3035
54.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3036
54.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3037
54.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_3038
54.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3039
53.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_3040
53.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_3041
53.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_3042
55.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_3043
55.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3044
55.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_3045
55.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_3046
56.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_3047
56.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_3048
55.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_3049
55.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_3050
56.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3051
56.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_3052
56.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_3053
56.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3054
55.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_3055
55.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_3056
55.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3057
Stn 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3058
54.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3059
51.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3060
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3061
54.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3062
54.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3063
54.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3064
54.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3065
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3066
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3067
51.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3068
54.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_3069
54.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3070
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3071
54.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3072
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3073
54.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3074
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3075
54.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3076
54.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3077
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3078
54.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3079
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3080
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3081
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3082
54.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3083
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3084
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3085
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3086
ch1.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_3087
fc0.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_3088
(f2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3089
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3090
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3091
(4.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3092
ch0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3093
fc1.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3094
ch0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3095
fc1.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3096
ch0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3097
fc1.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3098
(4.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3099
(2.08)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3100
(f2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3101
(3.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3102
ch1.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3103
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3104
(3.07)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3105
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3106
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3107
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3108
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3109
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3110
(3.07)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3111
(3.07)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3112
(3.07)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3113
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3114
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3115
ch1.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_3116
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3117
ch1.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_3118
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3119
ch1.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_3120
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3121
ch1.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_3122
fc1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3123
ch2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3124
fc0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3125
ch1.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_3126
fc0.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_3127
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3128
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3129
(2.84)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3130
(f2.78)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3131
(2.84)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3132
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3133
(2.74)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3134
usb2.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_3135
(2.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3136
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3137
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3138
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3139
(2.33)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3140
(2.33)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3141
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3142
(2.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3143
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3144
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3145
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3146
ch1.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3147
fc2.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_3148
ch1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3149
fc0.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_3150
(2.60)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3151
ch1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3152
fc0.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_3153
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3154
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3155
usb2.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3156
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3157
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3158
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3159
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3160
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3161
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3162
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3163
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3164
(3.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3165
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3166
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_3167
(2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3168
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3169
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3170
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_3171
ch0.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3172
fc0.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3173
ch0.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3174
fc0.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3175
fc2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3176
(4.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3177
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3178
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3179
(4.83)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3180
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_3181
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3182
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_3183
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3184
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3185
(5.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3186
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3187
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3188
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_3189
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3190
(1.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3191
(1.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3192
(3.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3193
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3194
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3195
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3196
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3197
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_3198
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_3199
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3200
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3201
fc0.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3202
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3203
fc0.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3204
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3205
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3206
(f2.21)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3207
ch0.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_3208
fc1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3209
ch0.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_3210
fc1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3211
(f2.23)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3212
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3213
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3214
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3215
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3216
(f2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3217
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3218
(2.14)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3219
(2.63)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3220
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_3221
fc1.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3222
52.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3223
52.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_3224
52.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3225
52.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_3226
52.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3227
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3228
52.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3229
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3230
51.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_3231
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3232
48.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_3233
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3234
51.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_3235
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3236
50.00



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CANOPY

MAIN BAR
ENTRANCE

EN
TR

A
N

C
E

BOH

AUDITORIUM

BAR / CAFE

TERRACE

PARKING

LOADING

Shelter

23.2m

SA
N

 R
EM

O
 P

AR
AD

E

1

NORT
H

BAR /
FOYER/
RESTAURANT

SUNKEN
GARDEN

POND

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

P01 17/07/2023 issued for planning

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

EXISTING
East & West Elevation

CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-090002

P011:100@A0July 23

NOTE:
· Solar Panel layout indicative only and subject to specialist design
· Refer to Interior Design Package for details of interior finishes

1:100@A0
EXISTING EAST ELEVATION1

EA
ST

 E
LE

VA
TI

O
N

W
ES

T 
EL

EV
AT

IO
N

1:100@A0
EXISTING WEST ELEVATION2

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

51

AutoCAD SHX Text_3237
57.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_3238
elec.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3239
render

AutoCAD SHX Text_3240
56.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_3241
51.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_3242
brick

AutoCAD SHX Text_3243
tiles

AutoCAD SHX Text_3244
render

AutoCAD SHX Text_3245
render

AutoCAD SHX Text_3246
render

AutoCAD SHX Text_3247
render

AutoCAD SHX Text_3248
brick

AutoCAD SHX Text_3249
46.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_3250
46.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_3251
46.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3252
52.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_3253
54.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3254
57.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_3255
49.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3256
48.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_3257
50.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_3258
56.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_3259
55.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_3260
55.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_3261
50.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_3262
49.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3263
49.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3264
47.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3265
53.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3266
55.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3267
56.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_3268
46.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3269
56.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_3270
59.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_3271
58.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_3272
62.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_3273
65.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3274
68.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_3275
tiles

AutoCAD SHX Text_3276
glazing

AutoCAD SHX Text_3277
glazing

AutoCAD SHX Text_3278
glazing

AutoCAD SHX Text_3279
glazing

AutoCAD SHX Text_3280
glazing

AutoCAD SHX Text_3281
glazing

AutoCAD SHX Text_3282
glazing

AutoCAD SHX Text_3283
glazing

AutoCAD SHX Text_3284
glazing

AutoCAD SHX Text_3285
glazing

AutoCAD SHX Text_3286
brick

AutoCAD SHX Text_3287
brick

AutoCAD SHX Text_3288
brick

AutoCAD SHX Text_3289
57.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_3290
53.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_3291
56.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_3292
56.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_3293
54.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_3294
52.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_3295
53.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_3296
62.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_3297
67.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_3298
48.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_3299
55.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3300
54.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_3301
51.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3302
49.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3303
57.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_3304
56.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_3305
55.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_3306
50.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_3307
57.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_3308
59.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_3309
58.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_3310
58.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_3311
55.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_3312
55.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3313
50.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_3314
50.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_3315
52.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_3316
53.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3317
55.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3318
55.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_3319
53.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3320
52.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_3321
50.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_3322
51.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3323
50.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_3324
50.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_3325
48.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3326
48.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3327
48.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_3328
49.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3329
49.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_3330
49.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3331
50.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3332
53.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_3333
52.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3334
52.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_3335
55.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3336
48.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3337
48.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_3338
46.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_3339
46.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3340
46.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3341
46.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3342
56.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_3343
62.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3344
61.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_3345
63.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3346
62.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_3347
62.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_3348
62.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_3349
65.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3350
69.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3351
68.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_3352
68.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3353
tiles

AutoCAD SHX Text_3354
render

AutoCAD SHX Text_3355
render

AutoCAD SHX Text_3356
tiles

AutoCAD SHX Text_3357
render

AutoCAD SHX Text_3358
tiles

AutoCAD SHX Text_3359
render

AutoCAD SHX Text_3360
tiles

AutoCAD SHX Text_3361
tiles

AutoCAD SHX Text_3362
brick

AutoCAD SHX Text_3363
brick

AutoCAD SHX Text_3364
brick

AutoCAD SHX Text_3365
brick

AutoCAD SHX Text_3366
corrugated steel sheets



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CANOPY

MAIN BAR
ENTRANCE

EN
TR

A
N

C
E

BOH

AUDITORIUM

BAR / CAFE

TERRACE

PARKING

LOADING

Shelter

23.2m

SA
N

 R
EM

O
 P

AR
AD

E

1

NORT
H

BAR /
FOYER/
RESTAURANT

SUNKEN
GARDEN

POND

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

P01 17/07/2023 issued for planning

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

EXISTING
North & South Elevation

CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-090001

P011:100@A0July 23

NOTE:
· Solar Panel layout indicative only and subject to specialist design
· Refer to Interior Design Package for details of interior finishes

1:100@A0
EXISTING NORTH ELEVATION1

SOUTH ELEVATION

NORTH ELEVATION

1:100@A0
EXISTING SOUTH ELEVATION2

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

53

AutoCAD SHX Text_3367
tiles

AutoCAD SHX Text_3368
49.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_3369
53.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3370
53.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3371
50.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3372
50.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_3373
51.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_3374
51.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_3375
55.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3376
52.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_3377
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3378
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3379
52.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_3380
52.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_3381
51.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3382
52.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_3383
52.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_3384
50.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_3385
51.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_3386
52.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_3387
57.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_3388
55.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_3389
56.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_3390
57.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_3391
68.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3392
65.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3393
57.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_3394
53.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_3395
50.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3396
48.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_3397
48.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3398
50.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_3399
50.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3400
50.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_3401
50.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3402
50.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3403
50.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_3404
tiles

AutoCAD SHX Text_3405
corrugated steel sheets

AutoCAD SHX Text_3406
wood

AutoCAD SHX Text_3407
brick

AutoCAD SHX Text_3408
tiles

AutoCAD SHX Text_3409
white upvc

AutoCAD SHX Text_3410
white upvc

AutoCAD SHX Text_3411
white upvc

AutoCAD SHX Text_3412
glazing

AutoCAD SHX Text_3413
glazing

AutoCAD SHX Text_3414
glazing

AutoCAD SHX Text_3415
tiles

AutoCAD SHX Text_3416
tiles

AutoCAD SHX Text_3417
56.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_3418
51.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_3419
50.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_3420
50.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_3421
53.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3422
56.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_3423
53.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3424
51.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_3425
49.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_3426
48.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3427
57.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_3428
55.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_3429
54.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3430
57.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_3431
59.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_3432
58.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_3433
58.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3434
60.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_3435
68.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_3436
62.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_3437
61.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_3438
62.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3439
63.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3440
48.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_3441
46.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3442
57.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_3443
56.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_3444
53.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_3445
50.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3446
46.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3447
49.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3448
46.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_3449
49.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3450
46.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_3451
46.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3452
46.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_3453
48.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_3454
48.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3455
48.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_3456
48.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_3457
46.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_3458
46.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_3459
46.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_3460
48.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_3461
50.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3462
65.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3463
render

AutoCAD SHX Text_3464
brick

AutoCAD SHX Text_3465
brick

AutoCAD SHX Text_3466
tiles

AutoCAD SHX Text_3467
render

AutoCAD SHX Text_3468
render

AutoCAD SHX Text_3469
render

AutoCAD SHX Text_3470
render



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Lift 2

roof layout not
surveyed, layout
approximated from
photographs

NORT
H

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

Existing Roof GA Plan
1:100 at A0

P01 17/07/2023 issued for planning

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

Existing
GA Plan Roof

Planning Submission

CLIF-AL3-ZZ-RF-DR-A-010005

P011:100@A0July 23

SITE CONSTRAINTS BOUNDARY

COUNCIL OWNERSHIP BOUNDARY

OUTLINE OF PROPOSED EXTENSION

55

AutoCAD SHX Text_3471
52.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3472
52.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_3473
52.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3474
52.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_3475
52.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3476
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3477
52.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3478
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3479
51.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_3480
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3481
48.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_3482
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3483
51.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_3484
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3485
50.00



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Lift 1

Stairs 2

Stairs 4

Stairs 5

Lift 2

Lobby 1
Male WC

Female
WC

DDA
WC

CAR PARK
ENTRANCE 2

General admin office Office

Office

TERRACE
ENTRANCE

Cloakroom

Lobby 2Lobby 3

CAR PARK

up

up

Maritime RoomAdmirals Room

LGF
ENTRANCE
LOBBY

FEMALE
WC

MALE
WC

ADMIRAL'S
ROOM

MARITIME
ROOM

BAR

BoH

BoH

BoH

BoH

BoH

BoH

BoH

BoHPlant Room

Plant Room

BoH

BoH Plant

Plant

Male WCFemale WC

SVP02

SVP03

SVP02

SVP01

SVP02

SVP13

SVP11

SVP22

SVP14

RWP08

RWP09

RWP02

RWP01

Existing ceiling

changing
place

Plant Room

CAR PARK
ENTRANCE 1

Asgard Metal Bike
Shelter for 2

Asgard Metal Bike
Shelter for 2

Asgard Metal Bike
Shelter for 2

Asgard Metal Bike
Shelter for 2

Asgard Metal Bike
Shelter for 2

Asgard Metal Bike
Shelter for 2

Bin Store

4

9

1

5

6

3

NOTE:
· ALL FURNITURE LAYOUT IS INDICATIVE AND SUBJECT TO DETAILED

INTERIOR DESIGN
· Refer to Interior Design Package for details of interior finishes0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

Lower Ground Floor GA Plan
1:100 at A0

P01 17/07/2023 issued for planning
T01 01/09/2023 issued for tender

T02 03/10/2023 added correct number of existing
parking spaces

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

GA Plan
Lower Ground  Floor
Planning Submission

CLIF-AL3-ZZ-B1-DR-A-020001

T021:100@A0July 23

6 No. secure Staff Bicycle parking
spaces using 6 No Asgard Metal
Double Bike Storage Shelter

8 No. Guest Bicycle Parking
spaces using 4 No Sheffield Cycle

Hoops (Stainless Steel) with
additional horizontal cross bar

New Changing Places compliant
WC room

North SITE CONSTRAINTS BOUNDARY

COUNCIL OWNERSHIP BOUNDARY

OUTLINE OF PROPOSED EXTENSION

new plasterboard wall lining

57

AutoCAD SHX Text_3486
PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3487
PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3488
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3489
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3490
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3491
ICs

AutoCAD SHX Text_3492
PIPES

AutoCAD SHX Text_3493
rwp

AutoCAD SHX Text_3494
rwp

AutoCAD SHX Text_3495
CL 46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3496
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3497
36.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_3498
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3499
48.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_3500
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3501
46.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_3502
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3503
47.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_3504
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3505
45.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_3506
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3507
47.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_3508
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3509
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_3510
(f2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3511
(f2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3512
ch1.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_3513
fc1.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_3514
usb2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3515
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3516
46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3517
46.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_3518
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3519
(2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3520
dh2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_3521
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_3522
(f2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3523
(f2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3524
(f2.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3525
ch1.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_3526
fc1.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_3527
usb2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3528
(2.33)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3529
(3.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3530
(3.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3531
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3532
usb2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3533
dh2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3534
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3535
46.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_3536
47.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_3537
46.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_3538
47.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3539
usb3.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_3540
46.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3541
46.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3542
usb3.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3543
46.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3544
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3545
(f2.18)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3546
(3.06)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3547
usb2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_3548
dh2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3549
usb2.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_3550
dh2.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3551
usb2.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_3552
(2.99)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3553
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3554
dh2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3555
(2.92)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3556
(2.90)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3557
47.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3558
47.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3559
(3.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3560
(3.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3561
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3562
usb2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3563
dh2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3564
(f2.07)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3565
usb2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_3566
(3.76)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3567
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3568
usb3.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_3569
usb3.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3570
usb3.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3571
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3572
(f2.18)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3573
(3.06)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3574
usb2.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_3575
dh2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3576
usb2.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_3577
dh2.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3578
dh2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3579
usb2.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_3580
(2.99)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3581
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3582
dh2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3583
(2.92)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3584
(2.90)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3585
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3586
dh1.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_3587
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3588
dh1.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_3589
46.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3590
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3591
46.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3592
46.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_3593
46.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3594
PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3595
usb2.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_3596
(2.99)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3597
dh2.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3598
(2.99)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3599
usb2.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_3600
(2.92)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3601
usb2.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_3602
(2.99)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3603
dh2.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3604
(2.99)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3605
usb2.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_3606
(2.92)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3607
dh2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_3608
47.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3609
dh2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_3610
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3611
usb3.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3612
(3.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3613
46.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3614
46.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3615
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3616
usb3.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3617
(3.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3618
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3619
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3620
47.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3621
usb2.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_3622
dh2.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3623
dh2.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_3624
(2.99)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3625
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3626
dh2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3627
usb2.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_3628
(2.92)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3629
(2.90)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3630
47.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3631
47.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3632
47.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3633
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3634
usb2.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_3635
dh2.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3636
dh2.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_3637
(2.99)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3638
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3639
dh2.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3640
usb2.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_3641
(2.92)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3642
(2.90)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3643
rwp

AutoCAD SHX Text_3644
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_3645
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3646
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3647
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_3648
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_3649
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3650
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3651
DISABLED

AutoCAD SHX Text_3652
DISABLED

AutoCAD SHX Text_3653
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_3654
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_3655
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_3656
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_3657
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_3658
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3659
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_3660
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_3661
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_3662
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_3663
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3664
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_3665
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_3666
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_3667
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_3668
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3669
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_3670
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3671
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3672
01

AutoCAD SHX Text_3673
02

AutoCAD SHX Text_3674
03

AutoCAD SHX Text_3675
04

AutoCAD SHX Text_3676
05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3677
06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3678
07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3679
08

AutoCAD SHX Text_3680
09

AutoCAD SHX Text_3681
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3682
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3683
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3684
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3685
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3686
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3687
02

AutoCAD SHX Text_3688
03

AutoCAD SHX Text_3689
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_3690
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3691
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3692
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3693
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_3694
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3695
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3696
22



T
his page is intentionally left blank



MAIN BAR & CAFE

23.2m

SA
N

 R
EM

O
 P

AR
AD

E Director's
Room

Band
Room

STAGE

AUDITORIUM

DRESSING ROOMS / OFFICES / BOH

cleaners

Dis. WC

WC

Dis. WC

MALE
WC

control
room

LOADING
AREA

10
26

10
26 D-

GF
-1

3

SVP01

SVP02

762 D-GF-01

SVP01

D
IS

TR
IB

U
TI

O
N

 B
O

AR
D

S

el
ec

tri
cs

826

D-GF-03

N
ew

 B
O

H
 c

or
rid

or

171
285

171
285

171
285

D
-G

F-
10

30
02

 58
6

30
02

 41
9

30
02

 42
0

100

100

ST
R

U
C

TU
R

E 
TO

 B
E

AD
VI

SE
D

20
0m

m
 G

IR
TH

EP
D

M
 B

Y 
JP

J.

SL
ID

IN
G

 D
O

O
R

 W
IT

H

BR
EA

K 
O

U
T 

FA
C

IL
IT

Y

IN
 O

PE
N

 P
O

SI
TI

O
N

.

H
IN

G
ES

 D
O

O
R

  I
N

O
PE

N
 P

O
SI

TI
O

N
.

76
x5

1x
3.

25
m

m
 E

XT
R

U
D

ED

AL
U

M
IN

IU
M

 S
EC

TI
O

N

SC
R

EW
ED

 T
O

 IN
SI

D
E 

O
F

D
O

O
R

 L
EA

F.
 L

EV
ER

LA
TC

H
ES

 T
O

P 
& 

BO
TT

O
M

171285

D-GF-09

3002 419

100

171285

171285

3002 419

100

171285

171285

171
285

171
285

171
285

D-
G

F-
11

30
02

 58
6

30
02

 41
9

30
02

 42
0

100

100

SL
ID

IN
G

 D
O

O
R 

W
IT

H

BR
EA

K 
O

UT
 F

AC
IL

IT
Y

IN
 O

PE
N 

PO
SI

TI
O

N.

HI
NG

ES
 D

O
O

R 
 IN

O
PE

N 
PO

SI
TI

O
N.

76
x5

1x
3.

25
m

m
 E

XT
RU

DE
D

AL
UM

IN
IU

M
 S

EC
TI

O
N

SC
RE

W
ED

 T
O

 IN
SI

DE
 O

F

DO
O

R 
LE

AF
. L

EV
ER

LA
TC

HE
S 

TO
P 

& 
BO

TT
O

M

171285

171285

D-G
F-123002 419

100

171285

171285

3002 419

100

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171
285

el
ec

tri
cs

171285

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light BolLight Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol
Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Hawkers

1026

D-
GF

-1
5

cu
pb

oa
rd

926

D-
GF

-1
6

down

up

Electrics and
Store

Upgraded ex
Goods lift 1

826

D-
GF

-0
4

el
ec

tri
cs

sh
ut

te
r o

ve
r

vo
id

vo
id

rwp 02

rwp 08

08

LIFT 3

07

06

05

04

03

02

01

re
du

ce
d 

he
ad

ro
om

C/L

C
  E

N
TR

AN
C

E
L

C
  C

AB
IN

L

C  CABINL

92
6

D-
GF

-14

171
285

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

10
26 D-

GF
-0

1

riser 4

riser 3

riser 1

826
826

D-GF-06

826D-GF-02

726
726

D-GF-05

st
or

e

C/L

C/L

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285171285171285171285171285171285

171
285

171
285

171
285

10
26

10
26 D-

GF
-0

8

171
285

171
285

171
285

171
285

rwp 06

rwp 05

rwp 04

rwp 03

52
6

52
6

D-GF-07

LIFT 3 Pum
p

cabinet

st
or

e

Fe
m

al
e 

W
C

st
or

e

726
726

D-GF-17

726
726

D-GF-18

726
726

D-GF-19

Illuminated 6-Sheet
Poster Frame

Illuminated 6-Sheet
Poster Frame

Illuminated 6-Sheet
Poster Frame

Illuminated 6-Sheet
Poster Frame

Illuminated 6-Sheet
Poster Frame

rwp 08

rwp 07

rwp 09

rwp 07

Tall Lamp

Tall Lamp

Tall Lamp

Tall Lamp

Servi
ce

s 0
1

Services 02

726

D-
GF

-2
0

cu
pb

oa
rd

remove

Sec Bol

remove

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

rw
p 

01

rwp 10

rwp 11

10 09

Welcome
Desk

Ice cream
freezer

Hawkers

New
kitchen

Bar counter

FOYER BAR

shop store

C
on

ce
ss

io
nslo
w

er
 c

ou
nt

er

Lobby

ACC WC

Digi Screen Digi Screen

pop up
ice cream 1

D
ig

i S
cr

ee
n

D
ig

i S
cr

ee
n

D
ig

i S
cr

ee
n

window window

shutter shutter

window

shutter shutter

STORAGE
CROCKERY STORAGE UNDER

STORAGE STORAGESTORAGE

GLASSWASH

D
ig

i S
cr

ee
n

lo
w

er
 c

ou
nt

er

sh
ut

te
r o

ve
r

LL
 s

w
ee

ts

O
H

 T
V

O
H

 T
V

re
ar

 c
ou

nt
er

re
ar

 c
ou

nt
er

po
st

er
po

st
er

po
st

er

cpbd

Low tables
& Chairs

window

shutter

windowwindow

shutter

window

U/C
FRIDGE

POTATO
OVEN

COMBI
MICROWAVE

Main Bar & Coffee

Bar 1
Concessions 1

fixed seating 2

fix
ed

 s
ea

tin
g 

1

CE02

PL
1

PL
1

609

60
0

66
0

St
an

da
rd

St
an

da
rd

Am
bu

la
nt

M
an

oe
uv

rin
g

Sp
ac

e
M

an
oe

uv
rin

g
Sp

ac
e

60
0

St
an

da
rd

M
an

oe
uv

rin
g

Sp
ac

e

70
0

En
la

rg
ed

Bi
n

Sh
el

f
(4

00
x2

00
)

Horizontal baby change
unit

(Folds up to approx
100mm)

W
el

co
m

e 
De

sk

Re
ta

il 
Ki

os
k

Co
nc

es
sio

ns
 S

ta
nd

Kitchen 1

Hawkers

ENTRANCE FOYER

M
er

ch
an

di
se

St
al

l

2754

R2
30

5

EXISTING STRUCTURE

PROPOSED STRUCTURE
0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

Ground Floor GA Plan
1:100 at A0

P01 17/07/2023 issued for planning
P02 04/08/2023 minor update to WC walls
T01 01/09/2023 issued for tender
T02 15/09/2023 added planter along edge of road

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

GA Plan
Ground Floor

PLANNING SUBMISSION

CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-DR-A-020002

T021:100@A0July 23

NOTE:
· ALL FURNITURE LAYOUT IS INDICATIVE AND SUBJECT TO DETAILED

INTERIOR DESIGN
· EXTERNAL LIGHTING SCHEME SUBJECT TO DETAIL DESIGN DEVELOPMENT
· Refer to Interior Design Package for details of interior finishes

North

slide and fold door
leaf for increased
opening width

New render finish to existing brick facadepainted existing brick facade

re
nd

er

pa
in

te
d

Existing Sculpture relocated onto new
plinth, 1700mm high with 2No integral
services panels for power & water

base of Menorah relocated to here.

new planter
refer to landscape drawing
CLIF-AL3-V2-00-DR-A-030011 for paving pattern

existing doors retained

existing steps retained

existing balustrade retained

outline of building under

SITE CONSTRAINTS BOUNDARY

COUNCIL OWNERSHIP BOUNDARY

OUTLINE OF PROPOSED EXTENSION

01 02

03

04

05

06

07

08

09
10

11

12

13

14

15

XX

Plan Detail location. Refer to drawing
CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-DR-A-020005 for details

16 17

retain existing glazed screen

slope of ground to be adjusted for vehicle access through here

new raised planter

59

AutoCAD SHX Text_3697
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3698
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3699
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3700
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3701
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3702
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3703
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3704
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3705
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3706
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3707
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3708
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3709
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3710
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3711
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3712
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3713
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3714
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3715
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3716
(2.15)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3717
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3718
(2.18)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3719
usb2.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3720
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3721
(2.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3722
(f2.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3723
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3724
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3725
usb1.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_3726
(f2.41)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3727
usb1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3728
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3729
(f2.41)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3730
(2.60)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3731
usb2.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_3732
(2.57)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3733
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3734
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3735
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_3736
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3737
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3738
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3739
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3740
(f2.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3741
usb2.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_3742
ch2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3743
fc0.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3744
dh2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3745
usb2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_3746
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3747
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_3748
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3749
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_3750
usb3.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3751
usb3.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3752
(4.14)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3753
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_3754
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3755
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3756
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3757
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3758
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3759
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3760
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3761
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3762
usb1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3763
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3764
usb2.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_3765
dh2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_3766
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3767
(3.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3768
usb2.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_3769
(2.67)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3770
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3771
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3772
ch0.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_3773
fc2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3774
ch0.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_3775
fc2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3776
(f2.08)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3777
(2.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3778
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3779
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3780
usb2.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3781
(2.71)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3782
ch1.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_3783
fc0.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_3784
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3785
(2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3786
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3787
(2.19)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3788
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3789
usb2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_3790
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3791
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3792
dh2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3793
(2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3794
(2.46)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3795
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3796
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3797
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3798
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3799
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_3800
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3801
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3802
usb2.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_3803
(2.02)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3804
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3805
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_3806
(f2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3807
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3808
dh2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_3809
(f2.04)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3810
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3811
usb3.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3812
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3813
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_3814
dh2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_3815
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_3816
(f2.46)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3817
usb2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3818
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3819
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3820
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3821
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3822
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3823
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3824
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3825
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3826
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3827
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3828
(f2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3829
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3830
(f2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3831
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3832
(f2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3833
(2.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3834
(f2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3835
(f2.94)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3836
(f2.73)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3837
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3838
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3839
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3840
(4.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3841
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_3842
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3843
(2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3844
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3845
ch1.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_3846
fc0.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3847
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3848
(1.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3849
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3850
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3851
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_3852
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3853
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3854
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3855
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3856
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3857
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3858
(2.69)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3859
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3860
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3861
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3862
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3863
(f2.50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3864
usb2.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3865
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3866
(2.54)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3867
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3868
usb2.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_3869
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3870
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3871
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3872
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_3873
(2.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3874
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3875
fc1.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3876
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3877
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3878
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3879
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3880
(2.09)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3881
(2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3882
(2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3883
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3884
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3885
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_3886
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_3887
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_3888
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_3889
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_3890
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_3891
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_3892
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_3893
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3894
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3895
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3896
(7.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3897
(7.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3898
usb3.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_3899
usb3.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_3900
(3.09)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3901
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3902
(3.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3903
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3904
(3.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3905
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3906
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3907
ch1.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_3908
fc0.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_3909
(f2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3910
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3911
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3912
(4.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3913
ch0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3914
fc1.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3915
ch0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3916
fc1.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3917
ch0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3918
fc1.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3919
(4.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3920
(2.08)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3921
(2.74)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3922
usb2.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_3923
(2.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3924
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3925
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3926
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3927
(2.33)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3928
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3929
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3930
ch1.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3931
fc2.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_3932
ch1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3933
fc0.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_3934
(2.60)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3935
ch1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3936
fc0.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_3937
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3938
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3939
usb2.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3940
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3941
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3942
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3943
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3944
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3945
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3946
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3947
(3.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3948
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3949
fc2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3950
(4.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3951
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3952
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3953
(4.83)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3954
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_3955
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3956
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_3957
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3958
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3959
(5.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3960
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3961
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3962
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_3963
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3964
(1.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3965
(1.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3966
(3.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3967
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3968
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3969
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3970
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3971
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_3972
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_3973
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3974
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3975
fc0.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3976
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3977
fc0.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3978
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3979
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3980
(f2.21)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3981
ch0.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_3982
fc1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3983
ch0.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_3984
fc1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3985
(f2.23)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3986
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3987
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3988
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3989
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3990
(f2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3991
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3992
(2.14)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3993
(2.63)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3994
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_3995
fc1.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3996
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3997
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_3998
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3999
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4000
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4001
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4002
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4003
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4004
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4005
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4006
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4007
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4008
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4009
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4010
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4011
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4012
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4013
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4014
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4015
(2.15)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4016
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_4017
(2.18)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4018
usb2.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_4019
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_4020
(2.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4021
(f2.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4022
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4023
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_4024
usb1.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_4025
(f2.41)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4026
usb1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_4027
dh1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_4028
(f2.41)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4029
(2.60)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4030
usb2.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_4031
(2.57)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4032
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4033
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4034
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_4035
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4036
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_4037
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_4038
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4039
(f2.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4040
usb2.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_4041
ch2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4042
fc0.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4043
dh2.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_4044
usb2.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_4045
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4046
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_4047
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_4048
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_4049
usb3.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_4050
usb3.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_4051
(4.14)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4052
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_4053
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4054
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4055
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_4056
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_4057
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_4058
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_4059
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4060
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4061
usb1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4062
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4063
usb2.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_4064
dh2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_4065
dh2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4066
(3.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4067
usb2.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_4068
(2.67)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4069
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4070
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4071
ch0.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_4072
fc2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_4073
ch0.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_4074
fc2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_4075
(f2.08)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4076
(2.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4077
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4078
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_4079
usb2.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_4080
(2.71)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4081
ch1.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_4082
fc0.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_4083
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4084
(2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4085
(2.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4086
(2.19)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4087
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4088
usb2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_4089
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_4090
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_4091
dh2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_4092
(2.44)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4093
(2.46)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4094
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4095
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4096
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4097
usb2.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_4098
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_4099
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4100
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4101
usb2.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_4102
(2.02)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4103
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4104
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_4105
(f2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4106
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4107
dh2.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_4108
(f2.04)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4109
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4110
usb3.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_4111
dh1.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_4112
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_4113
dh2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_4114
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_4115
(f2.46)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4116
usb2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4117
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4118
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4119
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4120
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4121
(3.64)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4122
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4123
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4124
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4125
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4126
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4127
(f2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4128
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4129
(f2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4130
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4131
(f2.49)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4132
(2.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4133
(f2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4134
(f2.94)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4135
(f2.73)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4136
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4137
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4138
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4139
(4.47)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4140
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_4141
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_4142
(2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4143
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4144
ch1.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_4145
fc0.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_4146
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4147
(1.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4148
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4149
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4150
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_4151
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4152
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4153
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4154
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4155
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4156
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4157
(2.69)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4158
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4159
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4160
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4161
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4162
(f2.50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4163
usb2.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_4164
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4165
(2.54)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4166
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4167
usb2.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_4168
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_4169
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4170
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4171
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_4172
(2.40)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4173
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_4174
fc1.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_4175
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4176
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4177
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4178
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4179
(2.09)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4180
(2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4181
(2.79)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4182
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4183
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4184
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_4185
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_4186
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_4187
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_4188
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_4189
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_4190
ch5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_4191
fc0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_4192
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4193
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4194
(6.27)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4195
(7.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4196
(7.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4197
usb3.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_4198
usb3.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_4199
(3.09)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4200
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4201
(3.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4202
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4203
(3.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4204
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4205
usb2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4206
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4207
usb2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4208
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4209
DISABLED

AutoCAD SHX Text_4210
DROP-OFF ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4211
DROP-OFF ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4212
01

AutoCAD SHX Text_4213
02

AutoCAD SHX Text_4214
03

AutoCAD SHX Text_4215
04

AutoCAD SHX Text_4216
05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4217
06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4218
07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4219
08

AutoCAD SHX Text_4220
09

AutoCAD SHX Text_4221
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_4222
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_4223
RESERVED

AutoCAD SHX Text_4224
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_4225
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4226
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4227
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4228
14



T
his page is intentionally left blank



FEMALE
WC

AUDITORIUM

Lift 1Lift 1

Store 2

Lobby

Store

VOID

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

926926

D-
FF

-1
1

926 926

D-
FF

-1
8

1026

D-
FF

-1
9

350350350

Lobby

Lower
counter

coffee
area

626

626
D-FF-16

1026

D-
FF

-1
7

350

726

926

D-
FF

-2
0

926

726

D-
FF

-2
1

250

250

250

250

Store

VOID

LIFT 3

171285171285

1320

2885

Male WC

ACC WC
left handed

Lobby

Lobby

92
6

D-
FF

-1
2

35
0

1026

D-
FF

-0
5

1026

D-
FF

-0
6

826

D-
FF

-0
7

826

D-
FF

-0
8

826

D-
FF

-0
9

82
6

D-
FF

-1
0

ACC WC
right handed

762

D-FF-10

Store / poss wash up

Di
gi

 S
cr

ee
n

vertical
sign

horizontal sign

D
ig

i S
cr

ee
n

D
ig

i S
cr

ee
n

lounge

Digi Screen Digi Screen

19

20

21

22

08

07

06

05

04

03

02

18

17

15 14 13 1211 10

16

09

LIFT 3

C
  E

N
TR

AN
C

E
L

C
  C

AB
IN

L

C  CABINL

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285171285171285171285 171285171285

riser 4

riser 3

riser 2

riser 1

171285 171285

575575

fu
ll 

ht
 w

in
do

w
s

Digi Screen

826

D-FF-13

350

171285
171285

171285
171285

171285
171285

171285
171285

171285

92
6

D-
FF

-0
2

350

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285171285171285171285171285171285

rwp 06

rwp 03

rwp 02
rwp 02

rwp 05

rwp 04

rw
p 

01

C/L

D-FF-01

rwp 07

vertical
sign

approx 900m
m

 step up

Bar

Kitchen

LOUNGE AREA

OFFICE
SPACE
33.2m2

Restaurant 96 covers

Bar / Restaurant 30 covers

Bar 21 covers

Male WC

Female
WC

ACC WC
left handed

ACC WC
right handed

D
ig

i S
cr

ee
n

D
ig

i S
cr

ee
n

Digi Screen Digi Screen

Di
gi

 S
cr

ee
n

waiter
station

waiter
station

waiter
station

waiter
station

loungeloungelounge

Ba
r 3

Mezzanine

be
nc

h
be

nc
h

700
660

En
la

rg
ed

Am
bu

la
nt

Bi
n

Sh
el

f
(4

00
x2

00
)

Horizontal baby change
unit

(Folds up to approx
100mm)

609

St
an

da
rd

M
an

oe
uv

rin
g

Sp
ac

e

609

St
an

da
rd

M
an

oe
uv

rin
g

Sp
ac

e

609

60
0

St
an

da
rd

St
an

da
rd

M
an

oe
uv

rin
g

Sp
ac

e
M

an
oe

uv
rin

g
Sp

ac
e

609

60
0

St
an

da
rd

St
an

da
rd

M
an

oe
uv

rin
g

Sp
ac

e
M

an
oe

uv
rin

g
Sp

ac
e

609

St
an

da
rd

M
an

oe
uv

rin
g

Sp
ac

e

66
0

Am
bu

la
nt

70
0

En
la

rg
ed

Bi
n

Sh
el

f
(4

00
x2

00
)

Horizontal baby change
unit

(Folds up to approx
100mm)

EXISTING STRUCTURE

PROPOSED STRUCTURE

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

First Floor GA Plan
1:100 at A0

P01 17/07/2023 issued for planning

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

GA Plan
First Floor

PLANNING SUBMISSION

CLIF-AL3-ZZ-01-DR-A-020003

P011:100@A0July 23

NOTE:
· ALL FURNITURE LAYOUT IS INDICATIVE AND SUBJECT TO DETAILED

INTERIOR DESIGN
· Refer to Interior Design Package for details of interior finishes

North

New Sign 01

New Sign 02

New Sign 04

existing roof retained

parapet wall locally raised by approx 1200mm

SITE CONSTRAINTS BOUNDARY

COUNCIL OWNERSHIP BOUNDARY

OUTLINE OF PROPOSED EXTENSION

61

AutoCAD SHX Text_4229
flat roof

AutoCAD SHX Text_4230
flat roof

AutoCAD SHX Text_4231
area obstructed

AutoCAD SHX Text_4232
area obstructed

AutoCAD SHX Text_4233
54.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_4234
54.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_4235
54.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_4236
54.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_4237
54.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_4238
55.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_4239
54.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_4240
54.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_4241
53.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_4242
53.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_4243
54.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_4244
54.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_4245
54.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_4246
54.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_4247
53.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_4248
53.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_4249
53.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_4250
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_4251
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_4252
55.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_4253
55.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_4254
55.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_4255
55.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_4256
56.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_4257
56.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_4258
55.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_4259
55.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_4260
56.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4261
56.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_4262
56.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_4263
56.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4264
55.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_4265
55.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_4266
55.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_4267
Stn 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4268
down

AutoCAD SHX Text_4269
54.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_4270
51.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_4271
down

AutoCAD SHX Text_4272
down

AutoCAD SHX Text_4273
extractor

AutoCAD SHX Text_4274
LIFT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4275
pipe

AutoCAD SHX Text_4276
0.40h

AutoCAD SHX Text_4277
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_4278
LIFT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4279
ledge 0.69h

AutoCAD SHX Text_4280
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_4281
railing/shelf 1.05h

AutoCAD SHX Text_4282
down

AutoCAD SHX Text_4283
down

AutoCAD SHX Text_4284
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_4285
down

AutoCAD SHX Text_4286
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_4287
down

AutoCAD SHX Text_4288
elec.

AutoCAD SHX Text_4289
ground floor area

AutoCAD SHX Text_4290
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_4291
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4292
54.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_4293
54.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4294
54.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4295
54.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_4296
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4297
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4298
54.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4299
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4300
54.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4301
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4302
54.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4303
54.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4304
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4305
54.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4306
54.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4307
dh1.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_4308
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_4309
(2.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4310
ch1.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_4311
fc0.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_4312
(f2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4313
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4314
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4315
(4.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4316
(f2.70)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4317
(3.38)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4318
ch2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4319
fc0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4320
(2.84)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4321
ch1.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_4322
fc2.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_4323
ch1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_4324
fc0.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_4325
(2.60)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4326
ch1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_4327
fc0.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_4328
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4329
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4330
usb2.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_4331
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4332
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_4333
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4334
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_4335
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4336
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_4337
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4338
(3.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4339
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4340
dh2.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_4341
(2.11)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4342
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4343
ch0.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_4344
fc0.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_4345
ch0.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_4346
fc0.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_4347
fc2.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_4348
(4.43)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4349
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4350
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4351
(4.83)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4352
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_4353
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_4354
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_4355
fc1.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_4356
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4357
(5.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4358
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4359
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4360
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_4361
(2.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4362
(3.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4363
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4364
usb2.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4365
(2.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4366
(2.61)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4367
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_4368
dh2.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_4369
(2.12)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4370
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_4371
fc0.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_4372
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_4373
fc0.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_4374
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4375
(2.35)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4376
(f2.21)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4377
ch0.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_4378
fc1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4379
ch0.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_4380
fc1.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4381
(f2.23)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4382
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4383
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4384
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4385
dh2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4386
(f2.31)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4387
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4388
(2.14)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4389
(2.63)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4390
ch0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_4391
fc1.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_4392
LIFT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4393
lift

AutoCAD SHX Text_4394
50.46



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Lift 2

horizontal sign

rwp 06

rwp 03

rwp 02
rwp 02

riser 3

riser 2

rwp 05

rwp 04

rw
p 

01

riser 1

 DX

 DX

 DX

 DX

AHU01

AHU02

VRF01 VRF02

MVHR

PLANT SCREENING 2600mm high

vertical
sign

NORT
H

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

Roof GA Plan
1:100 at A0

P01 17/07/2023 issued for planning

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

GA Plan
Roof

CLIF-AL3-ZZ-RF-DR-A-020004

P011:100@A0Mar 22

NOTE:
· Roof Plant layout indicative only and subject to specialist design
· Refer to Interior Design Package for details of interior finishes

New Sign 01

New Sign 02

New Sign 03

Area allocated for Solar Panels

Brise Soleils

Brise Soleils

new up-and-over steps from existing roof onto new roof area

SITE CONSTRAINTS BOUNDARY

COUNCIL OWNERSHIP BOUNDARY

OUTLINE OF PROPOSED EXTENSION

63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CANOPY

MAIN BAR
ENTRANCE

ENTRANCE
LOBBY

BOH

AUDITORIUM

BAR / CAFE

BAR /
FOYER/
RESTAURANT

TERRACE

PARKING

LOADING

Shelter

23.2m

34

STATION ROAD

3

1

SA
N

 R
EM

O
 P

AR
AD

E

1

NORT
H

PIAZZA

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

P01 06/07/2023 issued for planning
T01 01/09/2023 issued for tender
T02 11/09/2023 updated various elements

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

PROPOSED
East Elevation

CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050003

T021:100@A0July 23

1:100@A0
PROPOSED EAST ELEVATION1

EA
ST

 E
LE

VA
TI

O
N

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

NTS
PROPOSED EAST ELEVATION PERSPECTIVE2

0102 03

04
05 0607

08 09
0202 01

10

09

04
0405

05

02 - Schueco FWS50 Aluminium or
equiv.glazing facade system in
White. G-Values of Glazing TBC

03 - IKO Single ply membrane roof
cover (dark grey) with white fascia
and White Trespa Meteon panels to
soffit

04 - Venue Signage, internally
illuminated material TBC, colour
Terracotta (RAL 050 60 30)

06 - Louvered Plant screen in dark
grey, exact spec TBC subject to
acoustic requirements

07 - Brise Soleil sun shading, colour
to match glazed curtain walling in
white

08 - glazing infill panel part of the
glazing curtain wall system, colour to
match the white frame

09 - painted finish in Terracotta
(RAL 050 60 30)

10 - Aluminium rainwater down
pipes and hoppers in natural mill
finished colour (ALumasc Flushjoint
or equivalent)

01 - Monocouche Render in two
tones, White (main area); and
Teracotta (entrance lobby). Exact
colour and spec of render TBC

EXTERNAL MATERIALS DESCRIPTION

05 - Existing facade finishes such as
render, mosaic tiles and brick

NOTE:
Signage shown is indicative
is sign and location only.
Actual design of signage
will be developed during
detail design stage

12

13

12 - movement joints in render
colour matched to render finish
(white)

13 - 120mm Dia Lindab Steel
concealed rainwater pipes in
Teracotta colour (RAL 050 60 30)

13

65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CANOPY

MAIN BAR
ENTRANCE

ENTRANCE
LOBBY

BOH

AUDITORIUM

BAR / CAFE

BAR /
FOYER/
RESTAURANT

TERRACE

PARKING

LOADING

Shelter

23.2m

SA
N

 R
EM

O
 P

AR
AD

E

NORT
H

PIAZZA

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

P01 17/07/2023 issued for planning
T01 01/09/2023 issued for tender
T02 11/09/2023 various amendments

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

PROPOSED
South Elevation

CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050006

T021:100@A0July 23

1:100@A0
PROPOSED SOUTH ELEVATION1

SOUTH ELEVATION

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

1:100@A0
PROPOSED INSET SOUTH ELEVATION2

EXTERNAL MATERIALS DESCRIPTION

INSET SOUTH
ELEVATION

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

01

02

01

0305

05

05

06 07

08

10

01 10 0702

02 - Schueco FWS50 Aluminium or
equiv.glazing facade system in
White. G-Values of Glazing TBC

03 - IKO Single ply membrane roof
cover (dark grey) with white fascia
and White Trespa Meteon panels to
soffit

04 - Venue Signage, internally
illuminated material TBC, colour
Terracotta (RAL 050 60 30)

06 - Louvered Plant screen in dark
grey, exact spec TBC subject to
acoustic requirements

07 - Brise Soleil sun shading, colour
to match glazed curtain walling in
white

08 - glazing infill panel part of the
glazing curtain wall system, colour to
match the white frame

09 - painted finish in Terracotta
(RAL 050 60 30)

10 - Aluminium rainwater down
pipes and hoppers in natural mill
finished colour (ALumasc Flushjoint
or equivalent)

01 - Monocouche Render in two
tones, White (main area); and
Teracotta (entrance lobby). Exact
colour and spec of render TBC

05 - Existing facade finishes such as
render, mosaic tiles and brick

12 - movement joints in render
colour matched to render finish
(white)

12

12

67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



General notes

Materials and workmanshipAny building work to be carried out withproper materials and in a workmanlikemanner in accordance with regulation 7of the Building Regulations. The buildermay show compliance with regulation 7in a number of ways including theappropriate use of a product bearing CEmarking in accordance with theConstruction Products Directive(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CEMarking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or aproduct complying with an appropriatetechnical specification (as defined inthose Directives), a British Standard oran alternative national technicalspecification of any state which is acontracting party to the EuropeanEconomic Area which in use isequivalent, or a product covered by anational or European certificate issuedby a European Technical Approvalissuing body, and the conditions of useare in accordance with the terms of thecertificate.

For any other purpose other thanplanning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,must not scale dimensions from thisdrawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensionsshould be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunctionwith all relevant other drawings, detailedspecifications, Engineer's drawings,detail sheets and calculations.Assumptions have been made on someof the detail to existing fabric. Anydiscrepancies or differences to bereported back by the main contractorupon opening up.

CANOPY

MAIN BAR
ENTRANCE

ENTRANCE
LOBBY

BOH

AUDITORIUM

BAR / CAFE

BAR /
FOYER/
RESTAURANT

TERRACE

PARKING

LOADING

Shelter

23.2m

SA
N

 R
EM

O
 P

AR
AD

E

NORT
H

PIAZZA

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

P01 17/07/2023 issued for planning
T01 01/09/2023 issued for tender
T02 11/09/2023 updated various elements

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

PROPOSED
North Elevation

CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050005

T021:100@A0July 23

1:100@A0
PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION1

NORTH ELEVATION

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

NTS
PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION PERSPECTIVE2

11 - White painted existing brickwork

11

10 05 05

050101

01

01 02 03

0404 0607

08 09

EXTERNAL MATERIALS DESCRIPTION

NOTE:
Signage shown is indicative
is sign and location only.
Actual design of signage
will be developed during
detail design stage

02 - Schueco FWS50 Aluminium or
equiv.glazing facade system in
White. G-Values of Glazing TBC

03 - IKO Single ply membrane roof
cover (dark grey) with white fascia
and White Trespa Meteon panels to
soffit

04 - Venue Signage, internally
illuminated material TBC, colour
Terracotta (RAL 050 60 30)

06 - Louvered Plant screen in dark
grey, exact spec TBC subject to
acoustic requirements

07 - Brise Soleil sun shading, colour
to match glazed curtain walling in
white

08 - glazing infill panel part of the
glazing curtain wall system, colour to
match the white frame

09 - painted finish in Terracotta
(RAL 050 60 30)

10 - Aluminium rainwater down
pipes and hoppers in natural mill
finished colour (ALumasc Flushjoint
or equivalent)

01 - Monocouche Render in two
tones, White (main area); and
Teracotta (entrance lobby). Exact
colour and spec of render TBC

05 - Existing facade finishes such as
render, mosaic tiles and brick

12 - movement joints in render
colour matched to render finish
(white)

13 - 120mm Dia Lindab Steel
concealed rainwater pipes in
Teracotta colour (RAL 050 60 30)

12

1213

69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CANOPY

MAIN BAR
ENTRANCE

ENTRANCE
LOBBY

BOH

AUDITORIUM

BAR / CAFE

BAR /
FOYER/
RESTAURANT

TERRACE

PARKING

LOADING

Shelter

23.2m

34

1

SA
N

 R
EM

O
 P

AR
AD

E

1

NORT
H

PIAZZA

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

P01 17/06/2023 issued for planning
T01 01/09/2023 issued for tender
T02 11/09/2023 various amendments

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

PROPOSED
West Elevation

CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050004

T021:100@A0July 23

1:100@A0
PROPOSED WEST ELEVATION1

W
EST ELEVATIO

N

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m 12.5m 15m

05 05

05

04

04 11

11 - White painted existing brickwork03 - IKO Single ply membrane roof
cover (dark grey) with white box
gutter edge, white fascia and White
Trespa Meteon panels to soffit

EXTERNAL MATERIALS DESCRIPTION

05 - Existing facade finishes such as
render, mosaic tiles and brick

01

03

NOTE:
Signage shown is indicative
is sign and location only.
Actual design of signage
will be developed during
detail design stage

01 - Monocouche Render in two
tones, White (main area); and
Teracotta (entrance lobby). Exact
colour and spec of render TBC

04 - Venue Signage, internally
illuminated material TBC, colour
Terracotta (RAL 050 60 30)

13 - 120mm Dia Lindab Steel
concealed rainwater pipes in
Teracotta colour (RAL 050 60 30)

13

71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



horizontal sign

Sec
BB

01

01

02

02

03

04

06

05

05

06

07

07

08

08

09

10
10

10

11

11

12
12

13
14

15

15

16

16

17

17

18

18

19

19

19

19

20

20

20

20

21

21

22

22 22

22

23

23

23

23

24

24

25

25

26

26

26

27 27

27

27

29

29

30
30

31

31

31

32

32

24

24

25

29

29

32

32

28

28
28

28
28

26
26

19 19

14 14

14

13
13

03 03

04

04

Sec
BB

09

09

Sec
BB

0m 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m 6m

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

Plan - Structural frame and timber battens to soffit
1:50 at A0

P01 28/06/2023 issued for costings

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

DETAILS:
Entrance canopy

CLIF-AL3-V2-00-DR-A-030008

-varies@A0Aug 23

North

Plan - RCP
1:50 at A0

Plan - Roof
1:50 at A0

Section AA
1:20 at A0

Section AA Detail 01
1:5 at A0

Section AA Detail 02
1:5 at A0

Plan Detail 03
1:5 at A0

0m 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m 6m 0m 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m 6m

0mm 500mm 1000mm 1500mm 2000mm 2500mm

0m 100mm 200mm 300mm 400mm 500m 600mm 0m 100mm 200mm 300mm 400mm 500m 600mm

0m 100mm 200mm 300mm 400mm 500m 600mm

Detail maquette view from above

Detail maquette view from below

6

6

50

90°
54°

36
°

36
°

54°

10
2°

10
2°

90°

6173

6165

5010

1242 1279

1003

4169

5218

1241

1003

3355

4000

1169

3714

3386

4960

6174

5108

4960

6139

4960

450
400

408
408

400
450

400

400
408

408

3D view From above and below

37
5

36
8

300100

430

20
0

25

25

6

20
0

25

70 70

sign to be fixed to top. Detail TBC

Steels to Str. Eng's spec

25x50mm treated timber
counter-battens

timber joists to Str Eng's spec

treated timber firring for 1:50 fall

ply/OSB deck

Novia® Black+ Roof and
Wall Breather Membrane

white Trespa Meteon 6mm HPL
soffit board screw fixed with colour
matched fixings

Novia® Black+ Roof and
Wall Breather Membrane

25x50mm treated timber
battens

Steels to Str. Eng's spec

25x50mm treated timber
counter-battens

timber joists to Str Eng's spec

treated timber firring for 1:50 fall

ply/OSB deck

25x50mm treated timber
battens

IKO single ply roofing membrane

ACO HP Gully Spigot Outlet – Dome
Grate sized to fit 120mm Dia
down-pipe

Design of signage subject to design development and only indicative of size here

white Trespa Meteon 6mm HPL
soffit board screw fixed with colour
matched fixings

exposed fixings to be carefully aligned in both directions

50mm wide 35mm deep extruded aluminium
LED tape channel with diffuser to M&E spec

White
semi-gloss

painted fascia
board

White
semi-gloss

painted fascia
board

allow for 6mm gap
between boards

soffit board pattern based on a
standard Trespa Meteon
1860x2550mm board cut diagonally
using a total of 32 boards

2550

18
60

indicates direction of falls

1380

25450

5000

1496

10968

16790

27
17

7854

R2500

R2000

8600

600

5238

5128

5128

5128

5128

300

boards are spaced 50mm apart where
there is a horizontal lighting channel
which is why the diagonal line is
staggered

boards are aligned in the vertical axis and
the diagonal edge is trimmed to
accommodate the diagonal lighting
channel to ensure the vertical axis gaps
are aligned all the way down

Plan Detail 04
1:5 at A0

IKO single ply roofing membrane

ply/OSB deck

treated timber firring for 1:50 fall

25x50mm treated timber
counter-battens

25x50mm treated timber
battens

Novia® Black+ Roof and
Wall Breather Membrane

White
semi-gloss

painted fascia
board

battens are spaced in a pattern to
align with the soffit boards to
ensure the visible fixings are
perfectly aligned and in a row
when viewed from below

04

03

01 02

Lindab Galv. Steel 120mm dia rainwater pipe
painted  to match the painted structural

columns

Lindab Galv. Steel 120mm dia
rainwater pipe painted  to match

the painted structural columns

73



T
his page is intentionally left blank



D-
GF

-1
3

SVP01SVP01

D
IS

TR
IB

U
TI

O
N

 B
O

AR
D

S

17
12

85

17
12

85

17
12

85

Se
al

 c
ap

 R
ig

id
 P

.V
.C

Bl
ac

k
Sc

al
e 

:- 
1:

1
Le

ng
th

 =
 4

50
0 

m
m

Cap Rigid P.V.C Black

Scale :- 1:1

Length = 4500 m
m

D
-G

F-
10

30
02

 5
86

30
02

 4
19

30
02

 4
20

Se
al

 c
ap

 R
ig

id
 P

.V
.C

Bl
ac

k
Sc

al
e 

:- 
1:

1
Le

ng
th

 =
 4

50
0 

m
m

Cap Rigid P.V.C Black

Scale :- 1:1

Length = 4500 m
m

Cap Rigid P.V.C Black

Scale :- 1:1

Length = 4500 m
m

100

100

Ca
p 

Ri
gi

d 
P.

V.
C 

Bl
ac

k
Sc

al
e 

:- 
1:

1
Le

ng
th

 =
 4

50
0 

m
m

ST
R

U
C

TU
R

E 
TO

 B
E

AD
VI

SE
D

20
0m

m
 G

IR
TH

EP
D

M
 B

Y 
JP

J.

SL
ID

IN
G

 D
O

O
R

 W
IT

H

BR
EA

K 
O

U
T 

FA
C

IL
IT

Y

IN
 O

PE
N

 P
O

SI
TI

O
N

.

H
IN

G
ES

 D
O

O
R

  I
N

O
PE

N
 P

O
SI

TI
O

N
.

76
x5

1x
3.

25
m

m
 E

XT
R

U
D

ED

AL
U

M
IN

IU
M

 S
EC

TI
O

N

SC
R

EW
ED

 T
O

 IN
SI

D
E 

O
F

D
O

O
R

 L
EA

F.
 L

EV
ER

LA
TC

H
ES

 T
O

P 
& 

BO
TT

O
M

171285

D-GF-09

3002 419

Seal cap Rigid P.V.C

Black
Scale :- 1:1

Length = 4500 mm

Cap Rigid P.V.C Black

Scale :- 1:1

Length = 4500 mm

Cap Rigid P.V.C Black

Scale :- 1:1 Length = 4500 mm

100

171285

171285

3002 419

Seal cap Rigid P.V.C

Black Scale :- 1:1 Length = 4500 mmCap Rigid P.V.C Black

Scale :- 1:1

Length = 4500 mm

Cap Rigid P.V.C Black

Scale :- 1:1

Length = 4500 mm

100

171285

171285

17
12

85

17
12

85

17
12

85

Se
al 

ca
p 

Ri
gid

 P
.V

.C

Bl
ac

k
Sc

ale
 :-

 1
:1

Le
ng

th
 =

 4
50

0 
m

m

Cap Rigid P.V.C Black

Scale :- 1:1

Length = 4500 m
m

D-
G

F-
11

30
02

 5
86

30
02

 4
19

30
02

 4
20

Se
al 

ca
p 

Ri
gid

 P
.V

.C

Bl
ac

k
Sc

ale
 :-

 1
:1

Le
ng

th
 =

 4
50

0 
m

m

Cap Rigid P.V.C Black

Scale :- 1:1

Length = 4500 m
m

Cap Rigid P.V.C Black

Scale :- 1:1

Length = 4500 m
m

100

100

Ca
p 

Ri
gid

 P
.V

.C
 B

lac
k

Sc
ale

 :-
 1

:1
Le

ng
th

 =
 4

50
0 

m
m

SL
ID

IN
G

 D
O

O
R 

W
IT

H

BR
EA

K 
O

UT
 F

AC
IL

IT
Y

IN
 O

PE
N 

PO
SI

TI
O

N.

HI
NG

ES
 D

O
O

R 
 IN

O
PE

N 
PO

SI
TI

O
N.

76
x5

1x
3.

25
m

m
 E

XT
RU

DE
D

AL
UM

IN
IU

M
 S

EC
TI

O
N

SC
RE

W
ED

 T
O

 IN
SI

DE
 O

F

DO
O

R 
LE

AF
. L

EV
ER

LA
TC

HE
S 

TO
P 

& 
BO

TT
O

M

171285

171285

D-G
F-123002 419

Seal cap Rigid P.V.C

Black
Scale :- 1:1

Length = 4500 m
m

Ca
p 

Ri
gid

 P
.V

.C
 B

lac
k

Sc
ale

 :-
 1

:1
Le

ng
th

 =
 4

50
0 

m
m

Ca
p 

Ri
gid

 P
.V

.C
 B

lac
k

Sc
ale

 :-
 1

:1
Le

ng
th

 =
 4

50
0 

m
m

100

171285

171285

3002 419

Se
al 

ca
p 

Ri
gid

 P
.V

.C

Bl
ac

k
Sc

ale
 :-

 1
:1

Le
ng

th
 =

 4
50

0 
m

m

Cap Rigid P.V.C Black

Scale :- 1:1

Length = 4500 m
m

Cap Rigid P.V.C Black

Scale :- 1:1

Length = 4500 m
m

100

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

17
12

85

171285

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light BolLight Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Light Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol
Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

Hawkers

D-
GF

-1
5

cu
pb

oa
rd

down

up

Electrics and

sh
ut

te
r o

ve
r

rwp 02

rwp 08

08

LIFT 3

07

06

05

04

03

02

01

10 09re
du

ce
d 

he
ad

ro
om

C/L

C
  E

N
TR

AN
C

E
L

C
  C

AB
IN

L

C  CABINL

D-
GF

-14

17
12

85

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

D-
FF

-0
1

riser 4

riser 3

riser 1

D-GF-06

D-GF-02

st
or

e

C/L

C/L

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285

171285171285171285171285171285171285

17
12

85

17
12

85

17
12

85

D-
GF

-0
8

17
12

85

17
12

85

17
12

85

17
12

85

rwp 06

rwp 05

rwp 04

rwp 03

D-GF-07

LIFT 3 Pum
p

cabinet

st
or

e

Fe
m

al
e 

W
C

st
or

e

D-GF-17

D-GF-18

D-GF-19

Illuminated 6-Sheet
Poster Frame

rwp 08

rwp 07

rwp 09

rwp 07

Tall Lamp

Tall Lamp

Tall Lamp

Tall Lamp

Servi
ce

s 0
1

Services 02
D-

GF
-2

0

cu
pb

oa
rd

remove

Sec Bol

remove

Sec Bol

Sec Bol

rw
p 

01

rwp 10

rwp 11

Welcome
Desk

Ice cream
freezer

Hawkers

New
kitchen

Bar counter

FOYER BAR

shop store

C
on

ce
ss

io
nslo
w

er
 c

ou
nt

er

Lobby

ACC WC

pop up
ice cream 1

D
ig

i S
cr

ee
n

D
ig

i S
cr

ee
n

D
ig

i S
cr

ee
n

window window

shutter shutter

window

shutter shutter

STORAGE
CROCKERY STORAGE UNDER

STORAGE STORAGESTORAGE

GLASSWASH

D
ig

i S
cr

ee
n

lo
w

er
 c

ou
nt

er

sh
ut

te
r o

ve
r

LL
 s

w
ee

ts

po
st

er
po

st
er

po
st

er

cpbd

Low tables
& Chairs

window

shutter

windowwindow

shutter

window

PL
1

PL
1

609

60
0

66
0

M
an

oe
uv

rin
g

Sp
ac

e
M

an
oe

uv
rin

g
Sp

ac
e

60
0

M
an

oe
uv

rin
g

Sp
ac

e

70
0

Bi
n

Sh
el

f
(4

00
x2

00
)

Horizontal baby change
unit

(Folds up to approx
100mm)

W
el

co
m

e 
De

sk

Re
ta

il 
Ki

os
k

Co
nc

es
sio

ns
 S

ta
nd

Kitchen 1

Hawkers

ENTRANCE FOYER

M
er

ch
an

di
se

St
al

l

2754

R2
30

5

0m 2.5m 5m 7.5m 10m

0ft 5ft 10ft 15ft 20ft 30ft

Se
rv

ic
es

 0
1

Services 02

General notes

Materials and workmanship
Any building work to be carried out with
proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7
of the Building Regulations. The builder
may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the
appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the
Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE
Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate
technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or
an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a
contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is
equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued
by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use
are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

For any other purpose other than
planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,
must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions
should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,
detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some
of the detail to existing fabric. Any
discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor
upon opening up.

NOTE:
· Design Intent to be developed in conjunction with

specialist subcontractor
· Structural Design to Str Eng's spec
· pavement to be laid to falls respecting existing perimeter

levels and drainage points
· External lighting subject to M&E lighting design

P01 17/07/2023 Issued for Planning
T01 01/09/2023 issued for tender

T02 06/09/2023 updated plan following planning
consultation

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn Rev.

Drawing No.

RevisionsDate

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2022 al3d

al3d
Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,
Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire
OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S
DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Cliffs Pavilion
Southend-On-Sea

DETAIL:
Ground Floor external hard

landscaping design

CLIF-AL3-V2-00-DR-A-030011

T02varies@A0Sept 23

1:75@A0
Ground Floor Landscape Plan1

01

01A

PV01 - Marshalls URBEX Paving Slab
600x600x50mm with 10mm gaps
between slabs
Pattern: square grid
Colour: Riven Natural
APPROX: 802m2

PV02 - Marshalls COLOURED PIMPLE
Paving Slab 600x600x50mm with 10mm
gap between blocks
Pattern: basket weave
Colour: Brindle
APPROX: 378m2

3738

edge of canopy

edge of canopy

existing balustrade retained

existing low wall &
balustrade retained

existing paving
retained

existing steps
retained

existing steps
retained

existing paving
retained

edge of known structure under

STREET FURNITURE

Marshalls The Rhino Stainless Steel Bollards with slightly
domed top Grade 316L S/Steel 1000mm high 114mm dia01

Marine Grade 316 Stainless Steel Commercial Bollard
Light 120m dia 1000mm tall02

Power Supply & Water Supply locked cabinet in plinth05

3-4m tall LED street lamps with contemporary lamp fitting
06

Marshalls The Rhino Stainless Steel Telescopic Bollards
Grade 316L S/Steel 850mm high 114mm dia01A

04 06

01

Seasonal installation of the Menorah, relocated from its
adjacent existing position07

Linear threshold drain channel

Linear threshold drain channel

Sq
ua

re
 G

rid
 P

at
te

rn

New Statue Plinth, rendered to match new extension, box
shaped w2000 d1000 h2000

03

Existing Fountain Statue, could be substituted for new
sculpture as part of a Arts and Culture programme

04

01

01

02

07

Dedication benches from existing sunken garden to be
positioned around the new piazza08

Where feasible, relocated existing planting from
around the sunken garden into this new planter

02

02

02

02

02

02

03
04

05

06

06

06

06
07

08

08

08

08

NTS
3D Visualisation5

NOTE:
Signage shown is indicative
is sign and location only.
Actual design of signage
will be developed during
detail design stage

1:50@A0
Paving Pattern2

1:20@A0
Plinth section3

1:20@A0
Plinth plan4

20
40

1240

475

70
0

17
05

53
5

reinforced concrete
slab to Str Eng's spec

140mm blockwork

Render to match main building

DPC

Recessed Electric Meter Box  with lock

Recessed Electric Meter Box  with lock

PV03 - Marshalls KEYBLOK Paving block
200x100x60mm with 3mm gap between
blocks
Pattern: basket weave
Colour: Brindle
APPROX: 378m2

Ba
sk

et
 W

ea
ve

 P
at

te
rn

Sq
ua

re
 G

rid
 P

at
te

rn

2440

42
70

610

61
0

18879

14238

32
14

3130

new raised planter with site suitable evergreen
bushes, grasses and small trees

1:20@A0
Raised Planter section6

405 4052000

45
0

ground drain existing ground

paving slabs

brickwork (painted white)

PV03 Paving blocks laid in a basket weave pattern

1:20@A0
Paving Pattern on top of planter wall7

pattern is adjusted to match
the gentle curve of the wall corner infill strips

geo textile membrane

gravel bed for drainage

28
01

R
26418

R
29218

1848

1400

1400

1409

1400
1400

1220

610

610

75

AutoCAD SHX Text_4395
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_4396
ch2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4397
fc0.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4398
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_4399
blocked door

AutoCAD SHX Text_4400
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_4401
(f2.46)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4402
usb2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4403
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_4404
down

AutoCAD SHX Text_4405
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4406
ch1.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_4407
fc0.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_4408
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4409
(1.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4410
sofa

AutoCAD SHX Text_4411
up

AutoCAD SHX Text_4412
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4413
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_4414
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4415
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4416
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4417
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4418
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4419
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4420
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4421
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4422
(f2.50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4423
usb2.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_4424
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4425
lift

AutoCAD SHX Text_4426
(2.54)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4427
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4428
usb2.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_4429
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_4430
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4431
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4432
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_4433
down

AutoCAD SHX Text_4434
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_4435
fc1.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_4436
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4437
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4438
(3.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4439
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_4440
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_4441
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_4442
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_4443
48.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_4444
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_4445
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_4446
49.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_4447
(4.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4448
ch0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_4449
fc1.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_4450
ch0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_4451
fc1.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_4452
ch0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_4453
fc1.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_4454
(4.77)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4455
(2.08)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4456
(2.74)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4457
usb2.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_4458
(2.39)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4459
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4460
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4461
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4462
(2.33)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4463
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4464
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4465
ch1.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_4466
fc2.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_4467
ch1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_4468
fc0.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_4469
(2.60)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4470
ch1.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_4471
fc0.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_4472
dh2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4473
usb2.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4474
usb2.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_4475
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4476
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_4477
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4478
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_4479
ch0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4480
fc1.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_4481
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4482
(3.58)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4483
(2.59)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4484
ch2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4485
fc0.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4486
dh1.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_4487
(f2.46)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4488
usb2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4489
dh2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4490
ch1.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_4491
fc0.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_4492
(2.10)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4493
(1.29)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4494
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4495
usb2.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_4496
(f2.24)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4497
(2.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4498
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4499
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4500
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4501
usb2.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_4502
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4503
usb2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4504
(f2.50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4505
usb2.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_4506
usb2.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4507
(2.54)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4508
(3.03)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4509
usb2.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_4510
usb2.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_4511
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4512
dh2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_4513
usb2.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_4514
ch0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_4515
fc1.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_4516
(3.36)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4517
(3.42)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4518
(3.30)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4519
Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_4520
Asphalt

AutoCAD SHX Text_4521
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4522
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4523
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4524
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4525
BD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4526
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4527
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4528
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4529
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4530
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4531
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4532
52.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_4533
52.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_4534
52.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_4535
52.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_4536
52.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_4537
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4538
52.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_4539
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4540
51.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_4541
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_4542
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4543
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4544
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4545
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4546
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4547
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_4548
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_4549
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_4550
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_4551
50.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_4552
50.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_4553
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_4554
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_4555
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_4556
50.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_4557
50.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_4558
49.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_4559
50.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_4560
50.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4561
50.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_4562
50.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_4563
50.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_4564
50.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_4565
50.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_4566
50.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_4567
50.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_4568
50.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_4569
50.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_4570
50.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_4571
50.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_4572
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_4573
50.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4574
50.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4575
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_4576
50.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_4577
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_4578
50.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4579
50.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_4580
50.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_4581
50.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_4582
49.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_4583
49.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_4584
49.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_4585
49.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_4586
rad

AutoCAD SHX Text_4587
blocked door

AutoCAD SHX Text_4588
50.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_4589
usb2.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4590
usb2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4591
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4592
usb2.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4593
(2.26)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4594
54.13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Cliffs Pavilion 
Photos and CGIs 

77



78



79



80



81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Reference: 23/00946/FUL 

Application Type: Full Application 

Ward: Chalkwell 

 

Proposal: 
Layout hard and soft landscaping to front, erect two storage 
sheds, pergola, bin store, covered store, cycle stand and 
boundary fencing to front (part retrospective) 

Address: Day Nursery, 43 Imperial Avenue, Westcliff-on-Sea, SS0 
8NQ 

Applicant: Mrs Frances Hickling 

Agent: Mrs Susan Jones of Susan Jones Consultancy 

Consultation Expiry: 18th August 2023 

Expiry Date: 20th October 2023 

Case Officer: James Benn 

Plan Nos: Location Plan; CLA-23260/LP001 Rev B; CLA-
23260/LP002 Rev A; CLA-23260/LP0003 

Supporting Documents: Cover Letter ref. SAJ/SJ/AA626 dated 06.06.2023; 
Planning Statement dated June 2023 

Recommendation: REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION 
 

                             
 

 
 

 
83

6



 

 

 
1 Site and Surroundings 
 
1.1 The application site contains a semi-detached two storey building with rooms in the roof on 

the northern side of Imperial Avenue. The building is in mixed use with a long-standing day 
nursery at ground floor level and a residential unit at the upper floors. The works relate to the 
frontage of the site which is accessed via two existing vehicle crossovers with pedestrian 
access from Imperial Avenue.  
 

1.2 The arrangement of the site’s frontage has been obscured in recent years by hoardings and 
storage of materials etc, which have been the subject of planning enforcement enquiries. 
More recently the frontage has been reconfigured with hardstanding and substantial fencing, 
the latter of which is the subject of a recent planning enforcement investigation.  
 

1.3 The surrounding area is predominantly residential in character, comprising detached and 
semi-detached dwellinghouses typically set in generous plots as well as two and three storey 
high flatted blocks.  

 
1.4 The site is not within a conservation area or subject to any site-specific planning policies.  

 
2 The Proposal 
 
2.1 Planning permission is sought part-retrospectively to reconfigure the frontage of the site by 

laying out hard and soft landscaping and erecting two storage sheds, a pergola, a bin store, 
a covered store, a cycle stand and boundary fencing.  
 

2.2 The proposal would subdivide the frontage between the residential unit and the nursery with 
1.83m high close board fencing running south to north through the centre. Part of the 
proposed fencing next to the nursery front entrance door would have a trellis panel attached 
to the top with an overall height of some 2.13m. There would be three separate pedestrian 
accesses from Imperial Avenue, one associated with the residential unit and two associated 
with the nursery. Existing fencing some 1.8m-2.2m high on the eastern and western side 
boundaries would be retained. The fencing slopes down to some 1m-1.2m high to the front 
part of the eastern side boundary and it is proposed for the front part of the western side 
boundary to slope down to match the eastern boundary fencing. To the front part of the 
western side boundary is an existing hedge which would be retained. 
 

2.3 The part of the frontage associated with the residential unit would be towards the western 
side boundary. It would have close board fencing some 1.8m high and 4.1m wide, an 
associated pedestrian gate which would front Imperial Avenue and would be set back some 
5.8m from the front boundary. To the front of the proposed fencing  would be a hardstanding 
for the off-street parking of 1no. vehicle. The hardstanding would be Charcon Europa (Burnt 
ker) block paving laid in a herringbone pattern. It would be accessed via an existing vehicle 
crossover from Imperial Avenue. To the rear of the proposed fencing would be the enclosed 
private amenity space for the residential unit. Tandur yellow antique limestone paving slabs 
would be laid in this space. The submitted plans show that some shrubs are proposed within 
the private amenity space and there are 5no. existing trees.  
 

2.4 The part of the frontage associated with the nursery would be towards the eastern side 
boundary. The front boundary would have a central hedge some 1.6m high and 4.2m wide 
with low level planting to the front and pedestrian accesses either side which would front 
Imperial Avenue. Immediately to the rear of the hedge running its full 4.2m width would be 
close board fencing some 1.5m high. Immediately to the rear of this fencing there would be 
2no. commercial bin stores separated by a close board fence some 1.5m high and 0.9m wide 
which would run south to north, adjacent to the front hedge. This fence would attach to the 

84



 

 

front elevation of the proposed covered buggy store which would be timber framed and 
weather boarded with a felt clad marine ply roof. The buggy store would be some 1.6m high, 
4.2m wide and 1m deep. To the flanks of the buggy store there would be two close board 
fence gates which would provide pedestrian access to and enclose the nursery’s front garden 
area. They would be some 1.5m high and 0.8m-0.9m wide, would front Imperial Avenue when 
closed and would be set back some 2.9m-3.3m from the front boundary.  
 

2.5 Within the nursery’s enclosed front garden area set up to the eastern side boundary there 
would be a timber pergola some 2.2m high, 1m deep and 2.4m wide, 2no. timber clad storage 
sheds some 1.8m high, 1m deep and 2.7m wide and some soft landscaping consisting of 
7no. pleached trees ‘Photonia Red Robin’ and associated ground cover. To the front elevation 
of the building there would be shrubs and bird bath and feeding stations enclosed by a white 
painted picket fence some 0.9m high and a white painted trellis panel some 1.8m high. To 
the front of the proposed picket fence a cycle stand for 1no. cycle is proposed and the existing 
semi-mature tree would be retained and its surround would be squared off with bullnose 
limestone coping stones.  
 

2.6 The existing concrete hardstanding to the main nursery area would be infilled as necessary 
with areas of slab paving replaced with a concrete base and both the existing hardstanding 
and infilled areas would be finished with a tar spray and shingle dressing. The edges would 
have concrete black paving in a natural colour. A galvanised steel drainage channel some 
0.1m deep would be installed across the width of the main nursery area to the rear of the 
proposed buggy store. 
 

2.7 This application for planning permission has been made following a planning enforcement 
investigation at the site in relation to the unauthorised fencing and associated storage 
structures which has been erected. This application seeks an alternative proposal to the 
existing unauthorised development. 
 

2.8 The application is part-retrospective as the existing western and eastern side boundary 
fencing, and some of the existing soft landscaping, has been undertaken and would be 
retained. 
 

3 Relevant Planning History 
  
3.1 The most relevant planning history of the application site is shown in Table 1 below:  

 
Table 1: Relevant Planning History of the Application Site under the Day Nursery, 43 Imperial Avenue 

 
 
Table 2: Relevant Planning History of the Application Site under 43 Imperial Avenue 

Reference  Description    Outcome  
22/01619/FUL Extend existing crossover onto Imperial Avenue    Refused.  

Reference  Description    Outcome 
19/00091/FUL Erect temporary portacabin to front (retrospective) 

(Amended Proposal) 
  Permission                  
  granted. 

18/01583/FUL Erect temporary portacabin to front (retrospective) 
(Amended Proposal) 

  Permission  
  granted. 

18/00819/FUL Erect a temporary portacabin to front (retrospective)   Permission  
  granted. 

14/01436/FUL Erect two storey side extension, roof terrace  
to rear (Amended Proposal) 

  Refused. 

14/01435/FUL Erect two storey side extension, roof terrace to rear 
and balcony to front (Amended Proposal) 

  Refused. 

85



 

 

 
3.2 The most relevant planning enforcement history of the application site is shown in Table 2 

below:  
 

Table 3: Relevant Planning Enforcement History of the Application Site  
 
 

 
4 Representation Summary 
 

Call-in 
4.1 This application has been called into Development Control Committee by Councillor Folkard. 

 
Public 

4.2 Thirteen (13) neighbouring properties were notified of the application by letter and a site 
notice was displayed. One representation objecting to the application has been received. 
Summary of comments:  
 
• Querying whether the application is all retrospective as works have taken place. 
• The design and scale of the construction seem to be significantly out of character with the 

existing architecture on the street. This has created an eyesore in the street. 
• The space would be better utilised for parents using the nursery. 
• Currently there is illegal parking and disruption to neighbours on the road daily. 

 
[Officer Comment: The comments have been taken into consideration and those matters 
that are relevant to planning are discussed further in the relevant sections of the report. Other 
than those stated in the refusal reason of this report, the points of objection raised in the 
representations were not found to justify refusing planning permission in the circumstances 
of this case.] 

 
Highways 

4.3 No objection. 
 
Environmental Health 

4.4 No objection subject to a refuse and recycling condition. 
 
[Officer Comment: If the application was found otherwise acceptable conditions would have 

13/00907/FUL Erect two storey side extension, roof terrace to rear 
and recessed balcony to front (Amended Proposal) 

  Refused. 

10/01170/FUL Erect two storey side extension with roof space 
accommodation, conservatory, roof terrace to rear 
and recessed balcony to front. 

  Refused.  
  Appeal  
  dismissed. 

10/01169/FUL Erect two storey side extension with roof space 
accommodation, conservatory and roof terrace to 
rear 

  Permission  
  granted. 

05/00474/FUL Erect part single/part two storey side extension and 
conservatory at rear, use part of first floor extension 
to form office ancillary to ground  
floor day nursery 

  Permission  
  granted. 

93/0349 Continue use of front lounge by playgroup   Permission  
  granted. 

88/1875 Use front lounge by playgroup (25 children 0900-
1500 hours) 

  Refused. 

Reference  Description    Outcome  
22/00326/UNAU_B Erection of fences   Under  

  investigation.   

86



 

 

been imposed at the last section of this report which would have been considered to pass the 
relevant tests of planning law, policy and guidance in the circumstances of this case.] 
 

5 Planning Policy Summary 
  
5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 
5.2 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2021) 
 
5.3 Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), CP3 

(Transport and Accessibility), CP4 (Environment and Urban Renaissance), CP6 (Community 
Infrastructure) 

 
5.4 Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM3 (Efficient 

and Effective Use of Land), DM15 (Sustainable Transport Management). 
 
5.5 The Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) 
 
5.6 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015) 
 
6 Planning Considerations 

 
6.1 The main considerations in relation to this application are the principle of the development, 

design and impact on the character and appearance of the area, impacts on neighbours’ 
residential amenity, traffic and transportation matters, and CIL.  
 

7 Appraisal 
 

Principle of Development 
 

7.1 The proposal which seeks to provide additional ancillary facilities for the existing day nursery 
is broadly in line with the central principles of Policies KP2 and CP6 of the Core Strategy 
which seek that development supports improvements to existing, and the provision of new, 
facilities to support the needs of education, skills and lifelong learning strategies. 
 

7.2 The principle of laying out landscaping and erecting outbuildings, stores and fencing within 
the curtilage of a building is therefore considered acceptable and policy compliant, subject to 
the development appropriately addressing the relevant detailed planning considerations. 
 
Design and Impact on the Character of the Area  

 
7.3 Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to ensure that new development is 

well designed. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places 
in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. 

 
7.4 Local development plan policies seek to ensure that new development is designed so that it 

adds to the overall quality of the area and respects the character of the site, its local context 
and surroundings, provides appropriate detailing that contributes to and enhances the 
distinctiveness of place; and contribute positively to the space between buildings and their 
relationship to the public realm. Policy DM1 and the Southend-on-Sea Design and 
Townscape Guide provide further details on how this can be achieved.  

 
7.5 Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document states that all development should; 

“add to the overall quality of the area and respect the character of the site, its local context 
and surroundings in terms of its architectural approach, height, size, scale, form, massing, 

87



 

 

density, layout, proportions, materials, townscape and/or landscape setting, use, and detailed 
design features.” 
 

7.6 Paragraph 155 of the Design and Townscape Guide states “Any form of enclosure must be 
high quality and complementary to the overall scheme design or existing building. Boundary 
treatment should clearly distinguish between public and private space.” 

 
7.7 The streetscene in this part of Imperial Avenue has a strong open character with low front 

boundary treatments comprising low brick walls and low fences which typically do not exceed 
1m high (apart from pillars associated with boundary walls) with some soft landscaping and 
buildings with relatively deep, spacious frontages. The higher boundary treatments in this part 
of Imperial Avenue are typically return frontages comprising 1.8m-2m high fences which 
enclose the private rear gardens of dwellings on corner plots. The proposal would include a 
substantial amount of close boarded fencing within the frontage varying between some 1.5m-
1.8m high (up to 2.13m high where the proposed trellis would be attached to the top of the 
fencing), which would be solid in appearance and highly visible in the public realm from 
Imperial Avenue. Other structures proposed in the frontage, including the buggy store some 
1.6m high, storage sheds some 1.8m high, trellis some 1.8m high and pergola some 2.2m 
high would all impact public views from Imperial Avenue to varying material extents due to 
their height and particularly when the proposed front gates are open. The proposed 2no. bins 
to the front of the site are poorly sited and without enclosures. Altogether it is considered that 
the totality of the proposed development, due to its height, layout and extent, and the solid 
appearance of the proposed fencing, would appear visually prominent, stark, and significantly 
out of keeping with the spacious setting and overall character of the surrounding area. It 
would therefore result in significant harm to the character and appearance of the site, the 
streetscene and the area more widely.  

 
7.8 The existing eastern side boundary fencing slopes down towards the front boundary and it is 

proposed for the western boundary fencing to slope down to the front boundary and to retain 
the existing hedge to the front part of the western boundary. No objection is raised to these 
aspects of the proposal which are not considered to cause significant harm to the character 
and appearance of the site and the surrounding area. 

 
7.9 No objection is raised to the proposed soft landscaping in terms of its impacts on the character 

and appearance of the site and the surrounding area. However, the proposed soft 
landscaping is relatively limited and it is not considered that it would sufficiently mitigate the 
harmfully stark and contrived appearance of the proposal.  
 

7.10 The extent of the proposed hardstanding is considered a negative aspect of the proposal. 
However, as it would be generally consistent in appearance with some examples of other 
such frontages elsewhere in Imperial Avenue and given some soft landscaping is proposed, 
no objection is raised to it. It is considered that the proposed drainage channel would 
sufficiently limit any surface run-off during heavy rainfall.  

 
7.11 The submitted planning statement claims the proposed fencing would fall under permitted 

development as it does not exceed 2m in height. Therefore consideration is given to whether 
the applicant has a realistic permitted development fall-back position. Officers do not consider 
that the applicant has a fall-back position due to the height and position of the fencing 
adjacent to the Highway and in the absence of a Certificate of Lawfulness, no material weight 
for a realistic fall-back position has been identified. 
 

7.12 Within the wider streetscene there is a school to the east, Alleyn Court, which has a front 
boundary fence some 1.8m high. This is a school and not a nursery and as such it benefits 
from permitted development rights for boundary fences adjacent to the highway up to a 
maximum of 2m high. This fencing is materially different to the development hereby sought 

88



 

 

and does not provide any justification for this development.  
 

7.13 The submitted planning statement states that there is lack of space to the rear of the site for 
the provision of any additional storage. However, it is considered that more discretely located 
and designed ancillary storage, such as buggy parks and refuse and recycling storage, could 
potentially be provided at the front of the site in an way which would not result in the significant 
harm to the character and appearance of the site, or the wider surrounding area that results 
from this particular proposal. It is similarly noted that any necessary screening/obscurity of 
the nursery from the public domain, should that be required, could be reasonably achieved in 
a more sympathetic and appropriate manner than the fencing hereby proposed. No significant 
public benefits have been identified such as an increased early years provision or education 
improvement and the public benefits of the proposal are considered limited given its nature. 
They do not clearly outweigh the significant harm identified as a result of the current proposal.   
 

7.14 Within the City there are other examples of nurseries with open frontages with appropriately 
scaled and sited ancillary storage (e.g. buggy parks and refuse and recycling storage) which 
has been accommodated and other means of privacy screening, such as opaque window 
films, which have an acceptable impact on the streetscene. Officers consider that a 
reasonable remodelling of the frontage including appropriately scaled and sited storage could 
be achieved within this site however the height, layout and extent of this proposal is 
unacceptable.  

 
7.15 Overall, it is considered that cumulatively the proposed development, by reason of its height, 

layout and extent, and the solid appearance of the proposed fencing within the frontage, 
would appear visually prominent, stark, and materially out of keeping with the spacious setting 
of the surrounding area and would result in significant harm to the character and appearance 
of the site, the streetscene and the area more widely. Although it is not incumbent on the 
applicant to do so, no significant public benefits have been identified for consideration such 
as increased early years provision or education improvement and the public benefits of the 
proposal are considered limited given its nature. The significant harm identified is therefore 
not outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal. The proposal is therefore unacceptable 
and contrary to policy in terms of its impact on the character and appearance of the site, the 
streetscene, and the area more widely.  

 
Amenity Impacts 

 
7.16 Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality development 

which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document specifically 
identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, immediate neighbours, and 
surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and disturbance, 
visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. Further advice on how to achieve this 
is set out in the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide.  
 

7.17 The proposal would be separated by some 3.5m from the flank wall of No 45 Imperial Avenue 
to the west which is subdivided into flats. Noting the some 2m-2.2m height of the existing 
fencing on this boundary and the separation distance, it is not considered that the 
development would significantly harm the amenity of the occupiers of the flats at No 45 in any 
relevant regards. 
 

7.18 The proposal would be set up to the shared boundary with No 41 Imperial Avenue to the east. 
There is an existing fence on this boundary which is some 1.8-2m high. The proposed pergola 
would be set up to this boundary and would rise marginally above it by some 0.2-0.4m for a 
length of some 2.4m. Other than the proposed pergola the other aspects of the proposal set 
up to the shared boundary would be level with or below the existing boundary fencing or 
would be sufficiently separated from it. Due to the existing boundary relationship and the 

89



 

 

marginal height of the proposed pergola above the shared boundary for a length of 2.4m, it 
is not considered that the proposal would significantly harm the amenity of the occupiers of 
No 41 in any relevant regards.  

 
7.19 All other dwellings are sufficiently removed from the development to prevent any significant 

harm in any relevant amenity regards. 
 
7.20 It is considered that the design, size, siting and scale of the development are such that it does 

not result in any significant harm to the amenities of the site, the neighbouring occupiers or 
the wider area in any regard. The development is therefore considered to be acceptable and 
policy compliant in terms of its amenity impacts.  
 
Highways 
 

7.21 Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that “Development should only be prevented or refused 
on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or, the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.” Policy CP3 of the Core 
Strategy and Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document aim to improve road 
safety, quality of life and equality of access for all. Policy DM15 states that “Development will 
be allowed where there is, or it can be demonstrated that there will be physical and 
environmental capacity to accommodate the type and amount of traffic generated in a safe 
and sustainable manner.” 
 

7.22 Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document requires that all development 
should meet the minimum off-street parking standards. A provision of a minimum of one 
parking space is required for a 2+ bedroom flat. A provision of a maximum of one parking 
space per full time equivalent staff and waiting facilities where appropriate are required for a 
nursery. 

 
7.23 Inconsistent information has been submitted with regard to the existing parking provision 

within the submitted documents. The application form states that there is one existing parking 
space which would be retained. The submitted planning statement states that one parking 
space would be created for the residential unit. The submitted elevation drawings show a 
total of three existing parking spaces. The Council’s Highways Team has confirmed that the 
two existing single vehicle crossovers could accommodate two existing off-street parking 
spaces. On this basis it is considered that there are two existing off-street parking spaces 
and the proposal would result in the net loss of one off-street parking space. It is not expressly 
clear how these existing parking spaces are divided between the residential unit and the 
nursery.  
 

7.24 The proposal would provide one off-street parking space on the frontage for the residential 
flat which is policy compliant. It would provide one cycle parking space and no off-street car 
parking for the nursery. The site is in a reasonably sustainable location with bus stops on 
London Road and Chalkwell Train Station within reasonable walking distance, some 8 
minutes and 16 minutes respectively. The submitted planning statement states that most staff 
and customers live locally and mostly walk to the site. The Council’s Highways Team have 
raised no objections to the proposal. On this basis, the one cycle parking space provided for 
the nursery is considered acceptable and would not justify a reasonable reason for refusal of 
the application in the specific circumstances of this case. 

 
7.25 The proposal would not have a harmful impact on parking or highway safety and therefore 

the proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in highways terms. 
 

Community Infrastructure Levy 
 

90



 

 

7.26 The development is not liable for a payment under the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010 (as amended).  

 
Equality and Diversity Issues 

 
7.27 The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in the 

exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. Under 
this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to eliminate 
unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and must advance equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. Officers have in considering this application and preparing this report had 
careful regard to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended). They have 
concluded that the decision recommended will not conflict with the Council's statutory duties 
under this legislation. 

 
8 Conclusion 
 
8.1 For the reasons outlined above the development is found to be unacceptable and fails to 

comply with the relevant planning policies and guidance. It is considered that cumulatively 
and in totality that the proposed development, by reason of its height, layout and extent, and 
the solid appearance of the proposed fencing within the frontage, would appear visually 
prominent, stark, and materially out of keeping with the spacious setting of the surrounding 
area and would result in significant harm to the character and appearance of the site, the 
streetscene and the area more widely. The proposal is therefore unacceptable and contrary 
to the policy in terms of its impact on the character and appearance of the site, the 
streetscene, and the area more widely. No significant public benefits have been identified 
such as increased early years provision or education improvement and the public benefits of 
the proposal are considered limited given its nature. It is considered that the ancillary features 
sought from the proposed development and the privacy of the nursery sought from the fencing 
could be achieved in a more appropriate and sympathetic way to that hereby proposed and 
as such these matters do not provide any justification for the unacceptable development 
hereby sought. The significant harm identified is therefore not clearly outweighed by any  
public benefits of the proposal. Therefore, the application is recommended for refusal. 

 
9 Recommendation 

 
 
REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION for the following reason: 

 
01 Cumulatively the proposed development, by reason of its height, layout and extent, 

and the solid appearance of the proposed fencing within the frontage, would appear 
visually prominent, stark, and materially out of keeping with the typically spacious 
setting of the surrounding area and would result in significant harm to the character 
and appearance of the site, the streetscene and the area more widely. The 
development is therefore unacceptable and contrary to the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Development 
Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3 and the guidance contained 
within the National Design Guide (2021) and the Southend-on-Sea Design and 
Townscape Guide (2009).  

 
Positive and Proactive Statement 
 
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying matters of concern with the proposal and determining the 
application within a timely manner, clearly setting out the reason(s) for refusal, 

91



 

 

allowing the Applicant the opportunity to consider the harm caused and whether or 
not it can be remedied by a revision to the proposal. The detailed analysis is set out in 
a report prepared by officers. In the circumstances the proposal is not considered to 
be sustainable development. The Local Planning Authority is willing to discuss the 
best course of action via the pre-application service available at 
https://www.southend.gov.uk/info/200155/make_a_planning_application_and_plannin
g_advice/365/planning_advice_and_guidance/2 
 
Informative 

 
1 You are advised that as the development equates to less than 100sqm of new 

floorspace the development benefits from a Minor Development Exemption under the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and as such no charge 
is payable. See www.southend.gov.uk/cil for further details about the Levy. 

92

https://www.southend.gov.uk/info/200155/make_a_planning_application_and_planning_advice/365/planning_advice_and_guidance/2
https://www.southend.gov.uk/info/200155/make_a_planning_application_and_planning_advice/365/planning_advice_and_guidance/2
http://www.southend.gov.uk/cil


93



This page is intentionally left blank



35.10

35.08

35.32

GV

GV

34.84

34.81

34.86

34.91

34.84

34.76

34.85

34.86

34.82

34.75

34.65

34.67

34.61

34.68

34.77

LP

35.31

35.18

35.00

35.06

35.04

35.16

35.23

35.25

35.01

35.10

35.12

34.94

35.17

35.26

35.28

35.32

35.26

35.23

35.14

35.28

37.708

35.949

37.618

37.551

37.188

37.093

37.042

36.141

37.681

37.412

36.992

34.93

34.94

34.99

CL34.862

TC

S 5.0

G 0.5

H 0.0

WM

WM

WM

WM

T1

T2

Tarmac

Concrete

Concrete

C

o

v

e

r

e

d

 

(

F

o

r

 

P

u

s

h

C

h

a

i

r

s

)

Bin Storage

Shed

Shed

Shed

Slabs

NO 43

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING.
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE.
TO BE READ WITH ALL CONTRACT DOCUMENTATION
ANY DISCREPANCIES TO BE REPORTED IMMEDIATELY TO THE CONTRACT
ADMINISTRATOR.

©  Classic Landscape architecture 2023

REV: DATE: INITIALS: DETAILS:

PROJECT:CLIENT:

DWG TITLE:

SCALE: DATE:

DRAWN BY: CHECKED: DWG NO. : REV:

LOW FARM   DENHAM   EYE   SUFFOLK   IP21 5ET
07895 450 407

lisafinchlandscapes@gmail.com      www.classiclandscape.design

1:100 @A1

CLA-23260/LP003CLA CLA

19TH MAY 2023

EXISTING SITE PLAN

MRS FRANCES HICKLING

43 IMPERIAL AVENUE, WESTCLIFFE ON SEA

TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH
DWGS:  CLA-23260/LP001 and LP002 HARD
AND SOFT WORKS PLANS

IMPERIAL AVENUE

43 IMPERIAL
AVENUE

43 IMPERIAL AVENUE, WESTCLIFFE ON SEA

95



T
his page is intentionally left blank



5

5
9

8
3

Existing hedge
Existing hedge

5

Covered buggy and bin
store behind hedge

Instant hedge with low
level planting to front

Imperial Day Nursery

and

Pre-School

10

5

5
9

8
3

Existing hedge
Existing hedge

Imperial Day Nursery

and

Pre-School

Covered buggy and bin
store behind hedge

Instant hedge with low
level planting to front

Existing hedge
Existing hedge

ENTRANCE

Imperial Day Nursery

and

Pre-School

17

Section through storage
shed D-D1

Section through pegola
C-C1

27

8

1

Proposed shrub and herbaceous planting

Proposed pleached trees

Proposed evergreen instant hedge

Proposed specimen shrub

Existing tree to remain and be protected

Proposed Tandur Yellow Antique Limestone Paving Slabs - Mix Size laid randomly in courses to garden
area (P3 image) over a prepared base and sub-base

Proposed short length of trellis over fencing to a max height of 2.1m adjacent to front door to nursery

Proposed 1.8m high close board fencing

1.8m high close board fencing to reduce to 1.1m adjacent to footway to match existing eastern boundary in
height, length and style

Existing tree planting bed to be capped with stone to match new planting bed and square off design

Covered buggy store to be 1.6m high with felt roof

Short section of 1.8m high trellis fencing adjacent to nursery front door  to prevent access to nursery
window

Commercial wheelie bins x 2 to be screened from road and garden with separate access

Proposed hardy ground cover planting under pleached trees

Existing timber fencing to remain

0.9m high pallisade fence, painted white to protect planting a prevent access to nursery window

1.5m closeboard fencing to front and centre of bin store to allow access but provide screening.  Gates to
match, to open out, to enclose garden areas if necessary (to be hinged at buggy store corner)

General pedestrian flow to/from nursery

Bird bath for ecological value in view of nursery window

Bird feeding stations for ecological value in view of nursery windows

Proposed 2.1m high timber pergola with bench under (see detail dwg. no. CLA 23260/LP002)

Proposed bespoke 1.8m high lean-to storage sheds
on wheels for ease of maintenance (see detail dwg. no. CLA 23260/LP002)

Existing hedge to remain and be protected

Existing concrete/slab paving to nursery to be infilled with concrete base as necessary and top dressed
with tar spray and shingle, colour buff, sample to be agreed to achieve cross fall across site to 1:60
towards eastern boundary, with tegular block edging

Proposed Charcon Europa (Burnt Oker) block paving laid in herringbone pattern to private driveway (P1
image)

Proposed nursery sign set into planting at height of 1.2m

Steel drainage channel to run to eastern boundary to be 100mm wide ACO channel with galvanised steel
grating

P2

NURSERY
ENTRANCE

BROADBAND
BOX

PRIVATE
PARKING AREA

A

A1

B

B1

D
D1

C
C1

6

4

15 14

1

16

10

9 11

12

13

3

2

7
5

8

IMPERIAL AVENUE

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING.
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE.
TO BE READ WITH ALL CONTRACT DOCUMENTATION
ANY DISCREPANCIES TO BE REPORTED IMMEDIATELY TO THE CONTRACT
ADMINISTRATOR.

©  Classic Landscape architecture 2023

REV: DATE: INITIALS: DETAILS:

N

1. 900mm high pallisade fence (colour white) with pedestrian gate to match for maintenance of flower
bed and bird feeders as necessary from the Picket Fence Company.
ThePicketFenceCompany.co.uk or similar approved

2. 2 x Bespoke lean-to storage sheds to be max 1.8m high to the rear with a felt clad marine ply pitched
roof as shown, with 2 no. lockable doors to front elevations.  To be timber clad and treated with 2 no.
coats of Sadolin 'Classic' or similar approved.  To have reinforced based set over 6no. heavy duty
lockable wheels to allow for maintenance of adjacent fence and tree planting.

3. Covered buggy store to be  1.6m high x 4.2m x 1.0m to be timber framed and weatherboarded with a
felt clad marine ply roof to be fixed to existing concrete base using min. 70mm shield anchor bolts.  To
be treated with 2 no. coats of Sadolin 'Classic' or similar approved.

4. Trellis panel to nursery entrance window to be 1.8m high x 2m (including 2 no. 100mm x 100mm x
2700mm hardwood posts with timber cappings as per photograph, set into concrete foundations)  All
to be painted white to match adjacent pallisade fencing.

5. Proposed Closeboard fencing to be maximum 1.83m high fixed to 100mm x 100mm concrete posts to
be set into existing concrete paving to form internal boundary between nursery and adjacent first floor
dwelling.

6. Trellis panel over 1.83m high closeboard fence between nursery and upstairs accommodation to be
maximum 300mm (to a maximum overall fence height of 2.13m adjacent to front door to a total length
of 2m.

7. Pergola to be 100x100x2.1 treated softwood timber posts set into steel shoes with min 28mm steel rod
set into concrete foundation.  Beams and cross beams to be 100mm x 50mm treated softwood set at
300mm centres with curved ends as shown to front and side elevations.  Rear elevation to lie flush
with rear beam as shown.  All to be treated with 2no. coats of Sadolin 'Classic' or similar approved.

8. Existing closeboard fencing to existing external boundaries (east and west) to be retained and
protected.  Proposed fencing to slope down towards road to match existing eastern boundary fencing.

43 IMPERIAL AVENUE, WESTCLIFFE ON SEA

ELEVATION - EASTERN BOUNDARY showing storage and pergola with pleached trees behind - B-B1
SECTION through eastern boundary showing storage
sheds, pergola and pleached trees
- C-C1 and D-D1

Existing elevation showing streetscene along Imperial Avenue

PROJECT:CLIENT:

DWG TITLE:

SCALE: DATE:

DRAWN BY: CHECKED: DWG NO. : REV:

LOW FARM   DENHAM   EYE   SUFFOLK   IP21 5ET
07895 450 407

lisafinchlandscapes@gmail.com      www.classiclandscape.design

1:50 @A1

CLA-23260/LP002CLA CLA

19TH MAY 2023

HARD LANDSCAPE PROPOSALS -DETAIL

MRS FRANCES HICKLING

43 IMPERIAL AVENUE, WESTCLIFFE ON SEA

Section locations -
NTS

9. 1.8m high treated softwood closeboard fencing to private garden (beyond parking area) to be attached
to 100mm x 100mm concrete posts set into existing concrete paving. To be treated with 2 no. coats of
Sadolin 'Classic' with pedestrian gate.

10. Fencing to bin store to be 1.5m high treated softwood timber closeboard fencing between bins and
adjacent to proposed hedge to allow access from both sides to the road.  1.5m high gates to be hinged
at buggy store to allow gates to either close off bin store or close off the nursery garden.  To be latched
to 125mm x 125mm treated timber posts and braced as necessary across gate.

11. Paving to main nursery area to be existing concrete paving infilled as necessary ensuring a cross-fall
towards the eastern boundary planting.   Areas of slab paving to be repalced with a concrete base and
all to be dressed with tar spray and shingle dressing, colour buff.  Edging to all areas to be concrete
block paving, colour natural.

12. Paving to dwelling garden to be Tandur yellow antique limestone, mixed sizes laid over a prepared
base, jointed and pointed.

13. Driveway to dwelling garden to be block paved with Charcon Europa Burnt Oker laid on a prepared
base, herringone pattern with matching edging.

14 Bird bath to be 'Sally' type from Wayfair.co.uk or similar approved.

15. Bird feeding station to be Tom Chambers elegance bird feeding station or similar approved.

16. Tree surround to be squared off with coping stones to be bullnosed  limestone, colour buff from
Nustone or similar approved.

17. Pleached trees to be planted as per soft works specification ensuring sufficient space along the
planting pit length to allow for good root health.  Trees to be staked as set out and irrigation pipe
provided along length of the run.

OUTLINE SPECIFICATION - HARD LANDSCAPE WORKS 

KEY

TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH
DWG:  CLA-23260/LP001 HARD AND
SOFT WORKS PLAN

ACO drainage channel set
into existing paving

Elevation showing streetscene along Imperial Avenue with gates open across nursery entrance (set
back 3m from footpath) - A-A1

Elevation showing streetscene along Imperial Avenue with gates closed across nursery entrance (set
back 3m from footpath) - A-A1

A

A 17/7/23 CLA EXISTING STREETSCENE ELEVATION ADDED

Elevation - existing
south elevation -
NTS

97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LP

CL34.862

TC

S 5.0

G 0.5

H 0.0

ENTRANCE

EXIT

NURSERY
ENTRANCE

DWELLING ACCESS

IMPERIAL AVENUE

BROADBAND
BOX

PRIVATE
PARKING AREA

4m2 GROUNDCOVER MIX 9
16No. plants @ 4/m2

4m Pru lus Hedge instant
8No. plants @ 2/m

7No. Hed GR

7 No. pleached Photinia
'Red Robin'

22No. Lav ML 5L

3No. Hyd Ann 7.5L

3No. Heb MB 7.5L

3No. Pot Abb 7.5L

3No. Pit ToT 7.5L

3No. Ger Bro 3L

3No. Iri DB
2No. Aga Afr

4No. Art VF 5L

1No. Ver bon sp

1No. Gau TB

1No. Gau TB

1No. Ver bon sp

8No. Heb EG
1No. Phi MH 7.5L

PLANT MIXES
     
PERCENT QTY PLANT NAME STOCK SIZE

4m2 GROUNDCOVER MIX 9 planted @ 4/m2
20% 3No. Epimedium perralchricum 'Frohnleiten' C 1L 20-30cm
30% 5No. Hedera 'Green Ripple' C 1L 20-30cm
20% 3No. Helleborus orientalis c 1L 20-30cm
30% 5No. Vinca minor 'Alba' C 1L 20-30cm

NOTES AND ABBREVIATIONS:
     
C = Container (or pot) grown, followed by size of the container (or pot).    
QTY = Quantity    
SIZE = Height or Spread of juvenile plant.    
STOCK = Root condition/protection method eg Bare root.    
     
- Refer to specification for further information.     
- All plants to be completely hardened off     
- Substitutions to be agreed with Landscape Architect.     

Proposed shrub and herbaceous planting

Proposed pleached trees

Proposed evergreen instant hedge

Proposed specimen shrub

Existing tree to remain and be protected

Proposed Tandur Yellow Antique Limestone Paving Slabs - Mix Size laid randomly in
courses to garden area (P3 image) over a prepared base and sub-base

KEY

Proposed short length of trellis over fencing to a max height of 2.1m adjacent to front
door to nursery

Proposed 1.8m high close board fencing

1.8m high close board fencing to reduce to 1.1m adjacent to footway to match existing
eastern boundary in height, length and style

Existing tree planting bed to be capped with stone to match new planting bed and
square off design

Covered buggy store to be 1.6m high with felt roof

Short section of 1.8m high trellis fencing adjacent to nursery front door  to prevent
access to nursery window

Commercial wheelie bins x 2 to be screened from road and garden with separate
access

Proposed hardy ground cover planting under pleached trees

Existing timber fencing to remain

0.9m high pallisade fence, painted white to protect planting a prevent access to nursery
window

1.5m closeboard fencing to front and centre of bin store to allow access but provide
screening.  Gates to match, to open out, to enclose garden areas if necessary (to be
hinged at buggy store corner)

General pedestrian flow to/from nursery

Bird bath for ecological value in view of nursery window

Bird feeding stations for ecological value in view of nursery windows

Proposed 2.1m high timber pergola with bench under (see detail dwg. no. CLA
23260/LP002)

Proposed bespoke 1.8m high lean-to storage sheds
on wheels for ease of maintenance (see detail dwg. no. CLA 23260/LP002)

Existing hedge to remain and be protected

Existing concrete/slab paving to nursery to be infilled with concrete base as necessary
and top dressed with tar spray and shingle, colour buff, sample to be agreed to achieve
cross fall across site to 1:60 towards eastern boundary, with tegular block edging

Proposed Charcon Europa (Burnt Oker) block paving laid in herringbone pattern to
private driveway (P1 image)

Proposed nursery sign set into planting at height of 1.2m

Steel drainage channel to run to eastern boundary to be 100mm wide ACO channel
with galvanised steel grating

P2

     
SHRUBS
     
QTY CODE PLANT NAME STOCK SIZE SPACING

3No. Heb MB 7.5L Hebe 'Midsummer Beauty' C 7.5L 40-60cm 3/m2
8No. Heb EG Hebe 'Emerald Globe' C 3L 30-40cm 5/m2
7No. Hed GR Hedera 'Green Ripple' C 3L 30-40cm 5/m2
3No. Hyd Ann 7.5L Hydrangea arborescens 'Annabelle' C 7.5L 80-100cm 3/m2
22No. Lav ML 5L Lavandula 'Mellisa Lilac' C 5L 20-30cm 4/m2
1No. Phi MH 7.5L Philadelphus 'Manteau d'Hermine' C 7.5L 60-90cm 3/m2
3No. Pit ToT 7.5L Pittosporum ten. 'Tom Thumb' C 7.5L 40-60cm 3/m2
3No. Pot Abb 7.5L Potentilla fruticosa 'Abbotswood' C 7.5L 40-60cm 3/m2

HERBACEOUS PLANTS
     
QTY CODE PLANT NAME STOCK SPACING

2No. Aga Afr Agapanthus africanus C 5L 4/m2
4No. Art VF 5L Artemesia 'Valerie Finnis' C 5L 3/m2
2No. Gau TB Gaura 'The Bride' C 3L 4/m2
3No. Ger Bro 3L Geranium 'Brookside' C 3L 5/m2
3No. Iri DB Iris 'Deep Black' C 2L 7/m2
2No. Ver bon sp Verbena bonariensis specimen C 2L 1/m2

HEDGES
     
QTY CODE PLANT NAME SIZE
4m Pru lus Hedge instant Prunus lusitanica 1.2m
8No. Plants spaced @ 2/m in a single row

TREES

7No. Pleached Photinia 'Red Robin' with 1.8m high wooden frame - to be min 30L container grown 

PROJECT:CLIENT:

DWG TITLE:

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING.
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE.
TO BE READ WITH ALL CONTRACT DOCUMENTATION
ANY DISCREPANCIES TO BE REPORTED IMMEDIATELY TO THE CONTRACT
ADMINISTRATOR.

©  Classic Landscape Architecture  2023

SCALE: DATE:

DRAWN BY: CHECKED: DWG NO. : REV:

LOW FARM   DENHAM   EYE   SUFFOLK   IP21 5ET
07895 450 407

lisafinchlandscapes@gmail.com      www.classiclandscape.design

1:100 @A1

CLA-23260/LP001REV: DATE: INITIALS: DETAILS: CLA CLA

19TH MAY 2023

HARD AND SOFT LANDSCAPE PROPOSALS

MRS FRANCES HICKLING

43 IMPERIAL AVENUE, WESTCLIFFE ON SEA

P1

A 19/5/23 CLA CLIENT TEXT ADDED ETC

B

B 25/5/23 CLA PAVING DETAIL REMOVED ETC

P2

P3

43 IMPERIAL AVENUE, WESTCLIFFE ON SEA
GENERAL:  Planting Contract with 12 months Remediation Period and Maintenance. This Specification is to be read in conjunction with the Contract
Documents.  Any discrepancies between the two must be reported to the Landscape Architect (LA) immediately.
Drawings:  This Specification is to be read in conjunction with the following drawing CLA 23260/LP001 and LP002.

All works to be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of BS 4428:1989 Code of Practice for General Landscape Operations.

SERVICES:  These landscape proposals have not been cross referenced against service and utility locations to identify any potential conflicts.
Client/Engineer to review and advise accordingly.  The Landscape Contractor shall make himself aware of all services prior to commencement of the
works.

PROGRAMME:  All planting will generally be undertaken during the first planting season after Practical Completion of the major works.

EQUIPMENT:  All equipment used shall be suitable for the relevant operations.  Machinery shall only be used by suitably qualified and experienced
operators at all times and shall not be used when the ground is excessively wet.  All machinery shall be used in accordance with the manufacturer’s
instructions.   Where necessary, hand operations shall be carried out only to prevent damage to adjacent structures, existing trees or planting.

CHEMICALS:   Chemicals shall only be used where specified and approved by the CA.  Only chemicals on the current list of the HSE Chemical Regulation
Directorate shall be used.  Every precaution shall be made to prevent spillage/damage and all works shall be in accordance with relevant legislation and to
the manufacturer’s instructions at all times.  Only personnel with the relevant, up to date, certification shall be allowed to handle chemicals and shall, at all
times, comply with COSHH (2002) Regulations.

TOPSOIL:  Imported topsoil shall be from an approved source. It shall be a loam type, to BS 3882:2007.  A topsoil sample shall be provided to the
Landscape Architect with topsoil structure analysis for general landscape purposes.  Topsoil from stockpiles on site shall be graded and separated and
shall have been loose tipped, not piled above 2.5m and shall have not have been compacted by site plant.  All topsoil heaps shall be regularly treated with
herbicide and again prior to use to prevent the spread of weed.

SETTING OUT:  Setting out of planting shall be in accordance with the Contract Drawings.  Any queries should be addressed immediately to the CA.

PLANTING

PLANT SUPPLY:  All planting shall be delivered to site in a strong and healthy condition and shall be checked on arrival by the Landscape Contractor and
the CA.  Any cause for concern shall be raised immediately, otherwise it shall be deemed that all plants are of adequate quality and size.  Responsibility for
the handling, planting and aftercare will immediately pass to the Landscape Contractor, who will, in the case of any losses become soley liable.

PLANT HANDLING:  All plant handling shall comply with CPSE Recommendations for Plant Handling from Lifting until Dispatch PART 2 – specification for
packaging and transporting nursery stock.

PLANT STORAGE:  Plants that are not to be planted on the day of delivery shall be stored out of the sun or strong wind.  Bareroot plants shall be covered
at all times.  All root balls shall be covered with soil or plastic to prevent drying out.  Where necessary, all bare root plants shall be ‘heeled in’ to prepared
trenches and watered  thoroughly until they are required.

IRRIGATION:  All planting shall be watered immediately upon delivery to site and prior to planting.  Plunge dry pots or rootballed plants into water until
saturated.  Bareroot stock (to be planted imminently) will be watered within the plastic sacks in which they arrive in order to keep them moist.  Ensure that
they do not remain waterlogged and store as above for periods of more than one day.

IMPLEMENTATION:  All works to be carried out only when the weather and soil conditions are suitable for the relevant operations.   No planting or ground
works shall be undertaken when the ground is frozen or during periods of drought.

SOIL PREPARATION:  All planting and grass areas shall be excavated to the specified depth and the base of all planting beds and lawns ripped a further
250mm minimum to provide free drainage.  All arisings shall be removed from the planting bed prior to topsoiling.  No bricks, rubble or other debris shall be
left in the subsoil levels prior to topsoiling and shall be removed from site.
Imported topsoil shall be from an approved source. It shall be a loam type, to BS 3882:2007,  A topsoil sample shall be provided to the Landscape
Architect with topsoil structure analysis for general landscape purposes.

Shrub beds and hedgerows shall be topsoiled to a minimum depth of 300mm. All beds shall be further cultivated to a depth of 250mm and raked to an
even tilth prior to planting operations.  All grass areas shall be topsoiled to a minimum depth of 150mm.  Finished topsoil levels of shrub and hedge beds
shall be 65mm below finished levels where bark is specified.  This is to allow the finished bark mulch levels (to be 50mm) to be recessed 15mm below
adjacent surfaces to prevent spillage.  Planting areas below existing trees shall be hand dug and cultivated with topsoil insitu.  50mm of peat free compost
shall be added prior to final cultivation.

TREE PLANTING IN SOFT AREAS

SETTING OUT:  All trees to be set out in the positions shown on the Contract Drawings and will be planted at field depth at all times.  The Contractor is
responsible for checking of all underground services prior to excavation of tree pits as necessary.

PLANTING:  Planting pits must be min.  300mm larger than the diameter of the rootball/pot/container with min. 300mm loose base beneath the root ball
once planted where the base of the pit is broken out to encourage drainage.

BACKFILL:  Backfill shall be: 75% topsoil from site or imported as specified, 25% peat free compost, 500g/cu m bonemeal, Broadleaf P4 polymer granules
to be thoroughly mixed into backfill at a rate of 100g/100L backfill.  Tel: 01452 521733, Agricultural Polymers International Ltd.

IRRIGATION :  Each standard tree shall be fitted with one ‘Root-Rain’ tree watering pipe to be installed in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions.
Contact GreenBlue Urban, Tel: 01424205249, enquiries@greenblueurban.com (or similar approved).

TREE STAKING:  Each standard tree shall be double staked using 2 no. 75mm x 1.5m round stakes set into the ground to a final height of 900m max and
secured to the tree using 2 no. rubber straps with spacers to allow for movement but no rubbing on the trunk.  All stakes and ties to be checked regulary
and expanded as necessary.

MULCHING :  All trees shall be mulched using medium grade composted bark mulch to a minimum depth of 50mm around the base prior to adjacent
planting and then watered to field capacity.

PLANTING HEDGES, SHRUBS AND HERBACEOUS PERENNIALS

All Instant hedges to be planted within areas of hard surfacing to be planted into a pre-prepared pit a minimum of 750mm wide or 450mm wider than
rootballs and min 450mm deep.  The base of the pit shall be loosened and backfilled with 75/25% soil/compost mix and watered to field capacity.  Plants to
be well secured into pit but planted at the same level as supplied by the nursery. The hedge to be  topped with 50mm medium composted bark mulch to be
minimum 20mm below adjacent kerbs after settlement.  All hedging to be irrigated on a regular basis during the first 18 months.

Where shrub planting is specified within hard landscape areas, haunching to kerbs shall be controlled by shuttering to avoid spread into planting areas and
to maximise planting space between kerbs.

All shrubs shall be either bare root or container grown (according to season of supply), bushy and have a minimum of three breaks/ branches from the
base of the plant with full root development in the container.

OUTLINE SPECIFICATION - SOFT LANDSCAPE WORKS 

SCHEDULE OF PLANTS 

TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH
DWG:  CLA-23260/LP002 HARD WORKS
DETAIL PLAN

IMAGE GALLERY

99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Imperial Avenue Day Nursery
Photos taken 16/12/2022 by Spyridon Mouratidis

101



Front of site. High 
fence at front. Hard 
standing at ground. 
Both need planning 
permission. For high 
fence unlikely to be 

supported. Middle part 
of the picture shows 

support for plants 
which applicant claims 

is temporary.

102



Access to maisonette. Construction manager advised that 
above the nursery there has always been a maisonette. Two 
pillars and gate are temporary as well as the CCTV on one of 

the pillars.

103



Waste storage area. 
Fences up to 2.22m

104



Pram storage area. Fences up to 2.22m

105



Fence in the middle of the site, 2.5m high.

106



Enclosed area. Sheds are used for storage of prams, maintenance equipment and 
paraphernalia associated with nursery. Constrc. Manager advised that outbuildings have 

been on the front part of the site historically. 

107



Front part of nursery in enclosed area. Constrc. Manager advised that 
Early Years department asked for the high fences to prohibit visibility.

108



Additional shed and covered area with chattel cover. Used for 
storage similarly to the other two sheds.

109



Side boundary fence slightly less than 2m in height. Structures supporting planting 3m high.

110



Closer view of structures 
supporting planting. 

Constr manager advises 
these need to be in place 
for 1 or 2 years to allow 

the vegetation to be 
established and then they 
can be removed. Claimed 

that there was an Oak tree 
that caused damage in 

that location and they are 
trying to re-establish the 

foliage with hedging.

111



Entrance to nursery. High 
fences either site are left 
2.5m and right 2.3m high

112



Fence in front of main nursery entrance.

113



View of the site towards Imperial Ave

114



Area to the front of access for the maisonette. Hard standing here is the original 
surface. Below the fences it is visible by how much the ground was raised.

115



View of the area in font of the access point for the maisonette

116



View of the area in font of the access point for the maisonette

117



Access point for the maisonette

118



View of the site from across the road

119



View of the site and neighbouring sites to the east from across the road.

120



View of the area towards the east of the site

121



View of the area towards the west of the site

122



View of the site from frontage of neighbouring site to the west

123



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Reference: 23/00751/FUL 

Application Type: Full Application 

Ward: Chalkwell 

 

Proposal: Erect two storey rear extension at lower ground and ground floor, 
increase height of existing rear extension, alter elevations  

Address: Brambles Care Home, 22 Cliff Road, Leigh-on-Sea, Essex, SS9 
1HJ 

Applicant: Mr A Kandola 

Agent: Mr Ian Stephenson of Stephensons 

Consultation Expiry: 16.06.2023 

Expiry Date:  20.10.2023 

Case Officer: Oliver Hart  

Plan Nos: 23_041/01 Location and Block Plan; 
23_041/03 Proposed Location and Block Plan;  
23_041/03 Rev P05 Existing and Proposed Plans and 
Elevations 

Supporting Documents: Justification Statement; Tree Survey and Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment by ROAVR Group 

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to conditions  
 
 
 
 

 
125

7



 
 

1. Site and Surroundings 
 

1.1. The application site is occupied by a four-storey detached property on the eastern side 
of Cliff Road. The building is used as a care home with 26 bedrooms, the majority of 
which benefit from an en-suite WC. The ground floor contains communal facilities.  An 
internal lift serves the ground, first and second floors. The building’s frontage is hard 
surfaced and used for parking for five vehicles. To the rear is a communal amenity 
space. Existing refuse storage is located to the northern flank of the application site. 
Land levels slope downwards from north to south across the site and also change in 
relation to gardens of houses to the east in Mount Avenue. 
 

1.2. The wider surrounding area is residential in character. The site itself has no specific 
allocation within the Development Management Document’s Proposals Map and is not 
subject to any planning policy designations. A group of TPO trees (TPO ref number: 
2/1967) are noted to the site’s eastern boundary.  

 
2. The Proposal 

 
2.1. Planning permission is sought to erect a two-storey extension (at lower ground and 

ground floor level) to an existing two storey addition to the rear of the property. Other 
alterations include an enlargement of the roof form of that existing two storey addition, 
from a hipped roof 4.9m high (above ground level), to a parapet flat roof 5.8m hight.  
 

2.2. The existing rear addition is some 6m deep and 4.8m wide with accommodation at lower 
ground and ground floor level. The proposed development would be the same depth but 
would increase the width of the existing structure to 8m. The enlargements would enable 
the provision of one additional en-suite bedroom at lower ground level and an additional 
kitchen area at ground level.  

 
2.3. Finishing exterior materials are render and fenestration to match the existing.  

 
2.4. Other alterations include the provision of three new openings to the existing ground floor 

bedroom (room 3). No other alterations are proposed. 
 

2.5. An Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been submitted in support of the application. 
 

3. Relevant Planning History 
  

3.1. 22/00841/FUL- Convert existing residential home (Class C2) into 9no. self-contained 
residential units (Class C3) with associated parking- Granted. This approved 
development has not been commenced. 
 

3.2. 22/01093/TPO- Reduce 2 Oak Trees (T1 and T2) to rear by 3m and general 
maintenance (Works to a tree covered by a Tree Preservation Order)- Granted 
 

3.3. 16/00732/TPO- Prune one Oak tree to rear (Works to a tree covered by a tree 
preservation order)- Granted 

 
3.4. 15/00444/FUL- Demolish existing conservatories and external staircase, erect 

replacement conservatory and external staircase to rear, dormers to front, side and rear 
elevations and alter roof to form additional accommodation, layout hardstanding at lower 
ground level rear- Granted 

 
4. Representation Summary 

126



 
 
Call-in request 

4.1. The application has been called in to Development Control Committee by Councillor 
Folkard.  

 
Public Consultation 

4.2. Nineteen neighbours were notified and a site notice was displayed. Two letters of 
objection have been received. These are summarised below: 

 
• Amenity concerns; loss of privacy and overlooking.  
• Concerns about increasing capacity of care home. 
• Design concerns; out of keeping in the area.  
• Query whether the applicant will still be able to implement an earlier permission for 

Change of Use of the care home to flats.  
[Officer Comment: The applicant has 3 years to implement the previous permission 
from the date of issue of the decision notice (28.07.2022] 

• Car parking concerns  
• Noise and disturbance concerns from construction  
 
[Officer Comments]: The concerns in the above representations are noted and where 
they refer to material planning considerations they have been taken into account in the 
assessment of the application. They have not been found to represent reasons justifying 
refusal of planning permission on those grounds in the circumstances of this case.  

 
Highways 

4.3. No objection. 
 
Environmental Health 

4.4. No objections subject to conditions relating to refuse and recycling details, and 
construction hours and declaration of any potential contamination.  
[Officer Comment: There is no previous use associated with the site that would render 
a contamination condition a reasonable requirement for this proposal] 
 
Adult Social Care 

4.5. No objection.  
 
Arboricultural (Tree) Officer 

4.6. No objections. If the proposed plan is adhered to then it is considered that any damage 
to the roots of trees T1 and T2 (English Oak Trees) would be minimised.  

 
5. Planning Policy Summary 

  
5.1. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 

 
5.2. Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2021) 

 
5.3. Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), 

CP3 (Transport and Accessibility), CP4 (Environment and Urban Renaissance) and  
CP6 (Community Infrastructure). 

 
5.4. Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM2 (Low 

Carbon Development and Efficient Use of Resources), DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use 
of Land), DM9 (Specialist Residential Accommodation) and DM15 (Sustainable 
Transport Management). 

127



 
 

5.5. Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) 
 

5.6. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015) 
 

5.7. Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments (2019) 
 

6. Planning Considerations 
 

6.1. The main considerations in relation to this application are the principle of the 
development, the design and impact on the character of the streetscene and wider area, 
the impact on residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers, any traffic and 
transportation issues, trees and CIL liability.  

 
7. Appraisal 

 
Principle of Development 
 

7.1. The proposed development enlarges an existing two-storey addition and results in the 
provision of an additional bedroom at the care home, increasing the total number of 
bedrooms from 26no. to 27no. Additional kitchen facilities would also be provided. The 
justification statement states the application has been submitted following a growing 
demand for the services.  
 

7.2. The proposal represents an alteration and improvement related to the operation of an 
existing adult care home facility. Strategic support is given generally to such Community 
Infrastructure proposals by Policy CP6 of the Core Strategy. Policy DM9 of the 
Development Management Document similarly supports such specialist residential 
accommodation proposals subject to detailed impact considerations.   
 

7.3. The net gain of 1 resident enabled by the proposal is not considered to conflict materially 
with the purpose or objectives of Policy DM9 in relation to identified need or existing 
capacity. Adult Social Care have not objected to the proposal.  

 
7.4. On this basis, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in principle. Other material 

planning considerations are discussed in the following sections of the report.  
 

 Design and Impact on the Character of the Area 
 
7.5. Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to ensure that new development 

is well designed. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 
better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities. 
 

7.6. Local development plan policies seek to ensure that new development is designed so 
that it adds to the overall quality of the area and respects the character of the site, its 
local context and surroundings, provides appropriate detailing that contributes to and 
enhances the distinctiveness of place; and contribute positively to the space between 
buildings and their relationship to the public realm. Policy DM1 and the Design and 
Townscape Guide provide further details on how this can be achieved.  
 

7.7. The proposal would enlarge the existing two storey rear addition from 4.9m high (above 
ground level), 6m deep and 4.8m wide, to 5.8m high, 6m deep and 8m wide. The roof 
form would also be extended and enlarged from a hipped roof to a parapet flat roof.  

 
128



 
7.8. Owing to the extensive changes in ground level across the site (levels fall significantly 

to the rear boundary and also fall to the south), the lower level of the extension would 
be partially subterranean and the upper level would align with the existing ground floor. 
Views of the structure would be possible from neighbouring rear gardens immediately 
to the east (Mount Avenue), from the neighbouring care home site to the north and from 
neighbouring properties to the south. There would be no publicly available views of the 
extension. Revisions were secured during the course of the application and amended 
plans were received which incorporated parapet wall detailing to the flat roof and a new 
complementary fenestration arrangement. 

 
7.9. When viewed in the context of the application site, the proposed extension is considered 

to represent a modest addition that would remain subservient to surrounding built form 
having regard to its size and scale. The application building has had a series of 
extensions that, over time, have eroded the building’s original character with a number 
of different roof forms and exterior materials within which context it is considered that 
the parapet roof form would not cause any significant visual harm. 

 
7.10. On this basis, and subject to conditions, the development is considered to be acceptable 

and policy compliant in the above regards. 
 

Impact on Residential Amenity 
 

7.11. Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality 
development which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management 
Document specifically identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, 
immediate neighbours, and surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, 
outlook, noise and disturbance, visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. 
Further advice on how to achieve this is set out in the Council’s Design and Townscape 
Guide.  

 
7.12. The area of the proposed extension is bounded by Adalia Care Home within Cliff Road 

to the north and by No’s 31, 33 and 39 Mount Avenue to the east. With regards to the 
elevation facing Adalia Care Home, only the overall height of the existing projection 
would be enlarged by some 0.9m. Built form would not project any closer to this shared 
boundary. On this basis, it is not considered that the proposed enlargement would result 
in a dominant or overbearing impact or result in unacceptable overshadowing or a 
significantly harmful loss of light and outlook to neighbouring occupants.  

 
7.13. Two new openings are proposed to the northern elevation facing Adalia Care Home. 

These openings would provide a new outlook to the existing bedroom 3 and are 
considered to provide potential for overlooking of the garden area belonging to Adalia 
Care Home. In weighing up the impact from overlooking, regard is had to the communal 
nature of that adjoining care home garden and to the presence of dormer windows within 
Bramble Care Home that overlook that garden area at present and in addition, to the 
significant number of windows within Adalia Care Home looking out onto the rear garden 
area such that it is reasonably considered that a mutual degree of overlooking for 
residents exists at present. Therefore, the addition of windows to the northern elevation 
of the extension would not introduce a significantly harmful degree of overlooking, such 
that the impact in these circumstances is considered acceptable.   

 
7.14. With regard to the impact on properties along Mount Avenue, No.33 is positioned directly 

to the rear of the existing two storey hipped roof rear addition. At present, the existing 
hipped roof extends some 1m above the line of the fencing on the boundary with No.33. 
The proposal would see this increased to approx.2m. Although it would increase in 
extent, the built form would not project any closer to No.33’s rear boundary fencing, a 

129



 
distance of some 4.5m. A separation in excess of 25m to the rear of the No.33 would be 
maintained. Given both these factors  and how the development would be viewed 
against the backdrop of the existing built form, it is not considered that the proposed 
enlargement would result in a dominant or overbearing impact or result in unacceptable 
overshadowing or a significantly harmful loss of light and outlook to those neighbouring 
occupants.  

 
7.15. One new opening is proposed to the eastern elevation facing towards No.33’s rear 

boundary which would provide an additional outlook to the existing bedroom 3. This has 
the potential to give rise to overlooking of the garden area at No.33 Mount Avenue where 
currently there is none. To mitigate the potential harm, a condition is recommended 
requiring this window be obscure glazed. As the two new north facing windows would 
be clear glazed as explained in paragraph 6.13 above, the internal environment and 
outlook for future occupiers of room 3 would be satisfactory. 

 
7.16. The proposed extension is sufficiently removed from any other neighbouring properties 

so as to not give rise to any harmful amenity impacts. It is considered that the design, 
size, siting and scale of the development proposed are such that it would not result in 
any significant harm to the amenities of the site, neighbouring occupiers or wider area 
in any regard.  

 
7.17. Noting the historic care home use of the site, it is not considered the modest increase in 

room capacity would result in significantly different noise and disturbance impacts. No 
plant or other external equipment is proposed as part of the development. In the interests 
of neighbours’ amenity a condition is recommended to prevent the flat roof areas of the 
proposed development being used in future as balconies, terraces etc without planning 
permission having first been obtained.   

 
7.18. Subject to conditions, the proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable and policy 

compliant in terms of its amenity impacts.  
 

Traffic and Transportation Issues 
 

7.19. The NPPF states (para 111) that “Development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or, the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.” 

 
7.20. The existing site has five off street parking spaces to the front of the building. The space 

standards for C2 uses including care homes are a maximum of 1 space per resident 
staff + 1 space per 3 bed spaces/dwelling units. The proposal includes an additional 
room at the site and would generate a notional maximum parking requirement of 9 car 
parking spaces (27 bed capacity divided by 3). The existing arrangement is less than 
this.  

 
7.21. The site is in a sustainable location with regard to public transport including Chalkwell 

Rail station. On this basis and noting that the development results in a single net 
additional room, it is not considered that the proposal will have a significantly detrimental 
impact on the local highway network.  

 
7.22. No objection is raised by Highways.   

 
7.23. The proposal is therefore acceptable and compliant with the relevant policies in these 

regards. 
 

Other Matters 
130



 
 

Trees 
 

7.24. The proposal would be constructed in close proximity to the group of trees to the eastern 
flank boundary of the site covered by TPO 2/1967.  
 

7.25. An Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been submitted with the proposal which 
identifies that the only trees potentially affected by the development are English Oak 
trees denoted as T1 and T2. The Arboricultural Impact Assessment contains tree 
protection measures to ensure the health of these trees is maintained. The Council’s 
tree officers have reviewed the report and state that the measures proposed cover all of 
the areas for tree protection. They state that if the proposed tree protection measures 
are adhered to then any damage to the roots of trees T1 and T2 would be adequately 
minimised. They state further that the area of the root protection zone that is being eaten 
in to is near to hard surfacing and so there is less likelihood of finding any active roots.  

 
7.26. On this basis, and subject to conditions including adherence to the tree protection 

measures identified, the development is considered to be acceptable and policy 
compliant in the above regards.  

 
Equality and Diversity 

 
7.27. The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in 

the exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. 
Under this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and must advance 
equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. Officers have in considering this application and 
preparing this report had careful regard to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 
(as amended). They have concluded that the decision recommended will not conflict 
with the Council's statutory duties under this legislation. The provision of an accessible 
and adaptable dwelling is a positive aspect of the proposal in this regard. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 

7.28. The proposed development equates to less than 100sqm of new floorspace. As such, 
the development benefits from a Minor Development Exemption under the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and no charge is payable. 
 
Conclusion 

 
7.29. For the reasons outlined above the proposal is found to be acceptable and compliant 

with the relevant planning policies and guidance. As there are no other material planning 
considerations which would justify reaching a different conclusion it is recommended 
that planning permission is granted subject to conditions. 

 
8. Recommendation 

 
8.1. GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following conditions: 

 
01 The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than three years of the 
date of this decision. 
 
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990  

131



 
 
02 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 23_041/01 Location and Block Plan; 23_041/03 
Proposed Location and Block Plan; 23_041/03 Rev 05 Existing and Proposed 
Plans and Elevations 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
Development Plan. 
 
03 Before the development hereby approved is first used the materials used on 
the external surfaces of the development must match those used on the external 
surfaces of the existing building. Parapet coping shall only be installed in 
accordance with details that have previously been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.   
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the appearance of 
the building makes a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the 
area. This is as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Core 
Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document 
(2015) Policy DM1, and advice contained in the Southend-on Sea Design and 
Townscape Guide (2009).  
 
04 The roof of the building/extension hereby approved shall not be used as a 
balcony, roof garden or similar amenity area or for any other purpose unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The roof can however 
be used for the purposes of maintenance or to escape in an emergency.  
 
Reason: To protect the privacy and environment of people in neighbouring 
residential properties, in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 
and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015) and the advice 
contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009)   

 
05 The development hereby approved shall be carried out from its outset solely 
in accordance with the Arboricultural Method Statement contained within the Tree 
Survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment by ROAVR Group issued 07.09.23 
hereby approved.  
 
Reason: This condition is needed to safeguard the preserved trees and so protect 
their contribution to the character and appearance of the surrounding area in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies DM1 
and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015), Policies KP2 and 
CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and the advice contained in the Southend-on-Sea 
Design and Townscape Guide (2009).  
 
05 Hours of construction works associated with this consent shall be 8am - 6pm 
Monday to Friday, 8am - 1pm Saturday. No works shall be carried out on Sundays 
or Bank Holidays. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of the adjoining residents and 
to ensure that the development complies with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development 
Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3 and advice in the Southend-
on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).  
 

132



 
06 No external plant equipment or machinery associated with the development 
hereby approved shall be installed or operated at the site unless a noise impact 
assessment (conducted out by a competent person) has previously been carried 
out, submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
assessment must be made using the appropriate standards and methodology for 
the noise sources and the relevant best practice. The plant equipment shall 
thereafter be implemented in full accordance with the details and mitigation 
provided in the approved Noise Impact Assessment before it is first brought into 
use and shall be maintained as such in perpetuity thereafter.  
 
Reason: In the interest of the residential amenity of neighbouring and future 
occupiers in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), 
Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the 
Development Management Document (2015). 
 
07 The proposed window in the ground floor east facing elevation of the 
development hereby approved to serve bedroom 3 shall only be glazed in obscure 
glass (the glass to be obscure to at least Level 4 on the Pilkington Levels of 
Privacy, or such equivalent as may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority) and fixed shut, except for any top hung fan light which shall be a 
minimum of 1.7 metres above the internal floor level of the room or area served 
before the development is occupied and shall be retained as such in perpetuity 
thereafter. In the case of multiple or double-glazed units at least one layer of glass 
in the relevant units shall be glazed in obscure glass to at least Level 4.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of the adjoining residents and 
to ensure that the development complies with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development 
Management Document (2015) policies DM1 and DM3 and advice in the Southend-
on-Sea  Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 

 
Positive and Proactive Statement 

 
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by identifying matters of concern within the application (as 
originally submitted) and negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments 
to the proposal to address those concerns. As a result, the Local Planning 
Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal, 
in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set 
out within the National Planning Policy Framework. The detailed analysis is set 
out in a report on the application prepared by officers. 

 
Informatives: 
 
01 You are advised that as the proposed extension(s) or change of use to your 
property equates to less than 100sqm of new floorspace, and does not involve the 
creation of a new dwelling (Class C3), the development benefits from a Minor 
Development Exemption under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
2010 (as amended) and as such no charge is payable. See 
www.southend.gov.uk/cil for further details about CIL. 
 
02 You should be aware that in cases where damage occurs during construction 
works to the highway in implementing this permission that Council will seek to 
recover the cost of repairing public highways and footpaths from any party 
responsible for damaging them. This includes damage carried out when 

133

http://www.southend.gov.uk/cil


 
implementing a planning permission or other works to buildings or land. Please 
take care when carrying out works on or near the public highways and footpaths 
in the city. 
 

 
 
 
 

134



CLIFF RO
AD

23
27

HILLSIDE CRESCENT

33

20

77

81
75

28

33

69

39

Flat Roof

T1
T2

CLIFF RO
AD

27

HILLSIDE CRESCENT
20

77
75

28
33

69

Flat Roof

T1
T2

CHARTERED SURVEYORS

ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN

TOWN PLANNERS

202 High Street  Hornchurch
Essex  RM12 6QP

office@stephensons.name
www.stephensons.name

BLOCK PLAN - SCALE 1:1250

LOCATION PLAN - SCALE 1:500

T1 & T2 - OAK TREE

135

AutoCAD SHX Text_4595
Project

AutoCAD SHX Text_4596
Client

AutoCAD SHX Text_4597
General Notes Dimensions shall not be scaled from these drawings in preference to figured dimensions. Any error or omission shall be reported to the Surveyors before proceeding with the work. Figured dimensions and levels should be verified by the Contractor on site before construction or manufacture and any discrepancies brought to the attention of the Surveyors. Copyright for all designs and drawing in whole or in part shall remain with the Surveyors in accordance with The Copyright Act.

AutoCAD SHX Text_4598
Issue Status

AutoCAD SHX Text_4599
Title

AutoCAD SHX Text_4600
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_4601
Scale @A3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4602
Drawn By

AutoCAD SHX Text_4603
Checked By

AutoCAD SHX Text_4604
Drawing No.

AutoCAD SHX Text_4605
Revision

AutoCAD SHX Text_4606
Revisions

AutoCAD SHX Text_4607
l Hornchurch l RM12 6QP 

AutoCAD SHX Text_4608
Mr A Kandola

AutoCAD SHX Text_4609
Brambles Care Home

AutoCAD SHX Text_4610
22 Cliff Road, Leigh-on-Sea

AutoCAD SHX Text_4611
SS9 1HJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_4612
PLANNING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4613
PROPOSED LOCATION AND BLOCK PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4614
MAY 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text_4615
1:500 & 1250

AutoCAD SHX Text_4616
JE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4617
IRS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4618
23_041/03

AutoCAD SHX Text_4619
P03

AutoCAD SHX Text_4620
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4621
10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4622
10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4623
20m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4624
30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4625
40m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4626
50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4627
1:500

AutoCAD SHX Text_4628
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4629
50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4630
25m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4631
25m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4632
75m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4633
100m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4634
125m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4635
1:1250



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Existing Front Elevation Existing Side Elevation Existing Rear Elevation Existing Side Elevation
Scale 1:200 Scale 1:200 Scale 1:200 Scale 1:200

Existing Lower Ground Floor
Scale 1:200

Existing Ground Floor
Scale 1:200

Existing First Floor
Scale 1:200

Existing Second Floor
Scale 1:200

Existing Roof Plan
Scale 1:200

Flat Roof

Stairs removed and
floor level raised to
match Ground Floor
Level.

Additional windows.
Style and colour to
match existing

Path adjusted to
allow access to lower
ground floor.

Existing wall extended
by 1260mm

Existing wall extended
by 1260mm

Flat Roof Flat Roof

Proposed Lower Ground Floor
Scale 1:200

Proposed Ground Floor
Scale 1:200

Proposed First Floor
Scale 1:200

Proposed Second Floor
Scale 1:200

Proposed Roof
Scale 1:200

Proposed Front Elevation Proposed Side Elevation Proposed Rear Elevation Proposed Side Elevation
Scale 1:200 Scale 1:200 Scale 1:200 Scale 1:200

Additional windows.
Style and colour to
match existing

New door and window.
Style and colour to
match existing

Eaves raised in 
accordance with internal
floor level increase.

Additional window.
Style and colour to
match existing

Additional windows.
Style and colour to
match existing

Eaves raised in 
accordance with internal
floor level increase.

Eaves raised in 
accordance with internal
floor level increase.

Existing wall extended
by 1260mm

CHARTERED SURVEYORS

ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN

TOWN PLANNERS

202 High Street  Hornchurch
Essex  RM12 6QP

office@stephensons.name
www.stephensons.name

137

AutoCAD SHX Text_4636
General Notes Dimensions shall not be scaled from these drawings in preference to figured dimensions. Any error or omission shall be reported to the Surveyors before proceeding with the work. Figured dimensions and levels should be verified by the Contractor on site before construction or manufacture and any discrepancies brought to the attention of the Surveyors. Copyright for all designs and drawing in whole or in part shall remain with the Surveyors in accordance with The Copyright Act.

AutoCAD SHX Text_4637
Project

AutoCAD SHX Text_4638
Client

AutoCAD SHX Text_4639
Issue Status

AutoCAD SHX Text_4640
Title

AutoCAD SHX Text_4641
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_4642
Scale @A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4643
Drawn By

AutoCAD SHX Text_4644
Checked By

AutoCAD SHX Text_4645
Drawing No.

AutoCAD SHX Text_4646
Revision

AutoCAD SHX Text_4647
Revisions

AutoCAD SHX Text_4648
l Hornchurch l RM12 6QP 

AutoCAD SHX Text_4649
Mr A Kandola

AutoCAD SHX Text_4650
Brambles Residential Home

AutoCAD SHX Text_4651
22 Cliff Road, Leigh-on-Sea

AutoCAD SHX Text_4652
SS9 1HJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_4653
PLANNING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4654
EXISTING AND PROPOSED

AutoCAD SHX Text_4655
PLANS AND ELEVATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4656
MAR 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text_4657
1:200

AutoCAD SHX Text_4658
JE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4659
IRS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4660
23_041/03

AutoCAD SHX Text_4661
P05

AutoCAD SHX Text_4662
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4663
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4664
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4665
8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4666
12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4667
16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4668
20m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4669
1:200



T
his page is intentionally left blank



139



140



Existing extension to be enlarged

141



142



View east to 33 Mount Avenue

143



144



145



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 

Reference: 23/01226/FULH 

Application Type: Full Application - Householder 

Ward: Chalkwell 

 

Proposal: Erect first floor front extension with pitched roof, rooflight to side and 
alterations to front and side elevations (Amended Proposal) 

Address: 131 Beach Avenue, Leigh-on-Sea, Essex, SS9 1HD 

Applicant: Mr Chambers 

Agent: Knight Gratrix of Knight Gratrix Architects 

Consultation Expiry: 31st August 2023 

Expiry Date: 20th October 2023 

Case Officer: Gabriella Fairley 

Plan Nos: 010 (Rev B) 

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to conditions 

147

8



 

1. Site and Surroundings 
 

1.1. The site contains a detached dwelling, which has a gabled roof to the sides, a catslide roof 
and dormer to the front and is on the west side of Beach Avenue. The site’s frontage is a 
mixture of paving and landscaping with a low brick wall fronting the public highway.  
 

1.2. The area is residential in nature comprising detached, semi-detached and terraced two-
storey dwellings, most of which are traditional in design. Gabled and pitched roof designs 
are common in the immediate streetscene. There are some examples of more 
contemporary architecture having been incorporated in the vicinity of the site. 
 

1.3. The site is not within a conservation area or subject to any site-specific planning policy 
designations. Ground levels at the site slope down from north to south. Land levels vary 
between plots due to local topography. 

 
2. The Proposal 

 
2.1. The application seeks planning permission to erect a first-floor front extension with pitched 

roof, install a rooflight to the side elevation and alter the front and side elevations. 
 

2.2. The proposed front extension would be pitched roof and above an existing front outrigger 
to the same width and depth at 6.4m and projecting 3.3m beyond the front elevation of the 
main dwelling. The extension would be some 7.3m high to the ridge and some 4.6m high 
to the eaves. It would be set down 0.9m below the existing roof ridge. The extension would 
contain two windows at first floor and two windows at ground floor level, which mirror each 
other.  

 

2.3. A window on the southern flank elevation would be installed at first floor level serving a 
landing and a window on the southern ground floor flank elevation, which would serve a 
W/C. A door is also proposed to the southern flank elevation. The existing dwelling is brick 
built with some render to a small section to the front elevation. A rooflight is also proposed 
to the roofslope of the proposed first floor front extension on the southern side. It is 
proposed to finish the extension in render with timber cladding to the front elevation of the 
proposed extension. 

 
2.4. This proposal is a resubmission following the refusal of planning application 

22/01252/FULH (the “2022 Application”). The proposed front extension has the same 
depth as the previously refused 2022 application. The proposal differs from the 2022 
Application as follows: 
- the maximum height of the proposed front extension has been reduced by some 0.6m; 
- the proposed front extension is set further below the ridge of the main dwelling;  
- the use of timber cladding has been introduced; and 
- a rooflight at roof level and a window at ground floor southern flank elevation are 

proposed. 
 

2.5. Amended plans were submitted during the course of the application. The amendments 
included alterations to the design of the front elevation of the proposal.  

 
3. Relevant Planning History 

  
3.1. 01/00185/FUL - Convert garage into habitable room (Relaxation of Condition 03 imposed 

on planning consent P4698 approved 4.7.66 which permanently reserved the garage for 
the use of one car) (Retrospective) – Granted. 
 

148



 

3.2. 22/01252/FULH - Erect first floor front extension with pitched roof. Refused (10.08.2022). 
Reason for refusal: 
 

01 “The proposed development would, by reason of its forward siting, form, scale and 
detailed design represent a dominant, visually incongruous and poorly designed 
addition to the dwelling. This would be detrimental to the character and appearance 
of the host property, the streetscene and the area more widely. The proposal is 
therefore unacceptable and contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021); Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Southend-on-Sea Core Strategy (2007); Policies 
DM1 and DM3 of the Southend-on-Sea Development Management Document 
(2015); and advice contained within the National Design Guide (2021) and the 
Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009)”. 

 
4. Representation Summary 

 
Call In 
 

4.1. The application was called in to Development Control Committee by Councillor Courtenay. 
 

Public Consultation 
 

4.2. Eighteen (18) neighbouring properties were notified of the application by letter. Two letters 
of representation have been received and the following comments have been summarised: 
- Roof height will be significantly increased close to the boundary, which would result in 

loss of light and a sense of enclosure. 
- Neighbouring properties have experienced uninterrupted light for over 20 years. 
- The proposal extends the property beyond the property’s own building line and beyond 

the front of neighbouring properties. 
- The proposal is not in keeping with the Seafront Character Zone. 

 
4.3. (Officer comment: All relevant planning considerations have been assessed within the 

appraisal section of the report. The concerns within the representations that are planning 
considerations are noted and they have been taken into account in the assessment of the 
application but were not found to justify refusing planning permission in the circumstances 
of this case.) 
 

5. Planning Policy Summary 
  

5.1. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 

5.2. Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2021) 
 

5.3. Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), CP3 
(Transport and Accessibility), CP4 (Environment and Urban Renaissance) 
 

5.4. Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM3 
(Efficient and Effective Use of Land), DM15 (Sustainable Transport Management) 
 

5.5. Southend-on-Sea Design & Townscape Guide (2009) 
 

5.6. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015) 
 

6. Appraisal 
 

149



 

Principle of Development 
 
6.1. The principle of extending and altering an existing dwelling is considered acceptable and 

policy compliant, subject to the proposal appropriately addressing the relevant detailed 
planning considerations. 

  
 Design and Impact on the Character of the Area 
 
6.2. Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to ensure that new development 

is well designed. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better 
places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. 
 

6.3. Local development plan policies seek to ensure that new development is designed so that 
it adds to the overall quality of the area and respects the character of the site, its local 
context and surroundings, provides appropriate detailing that contributes to and enhances 
the distinctiveness of place; and contribute positively to the space between buildings and 
their relationship to the public realm. Policy DM1 and the Council’s Design and Townscape 
Guide provide further details on how this can be achieved.  
 

6.4. The neighbouring properties in the surrounding area have a traditional design with 
predominantly gabled and pitched roofs. The application property too, is of a traditional 
design although dating from the 1960s is  of a more recent era than most of the nearby 
dwellings. The neighbouring dwelling immediately to the north, No.129 Beach Avenue, is 
a detached dwelling with a two-storey front gabled projection. The proposal would extend 
some 0.9m forward of No. 129. No. 93 Cliff Gardens, directly to the south projects some 
0.4m forward of the proposed front extension. The streetscene is made up of a mix of 
materials, including brick and render. Timber cladding is not evident within the surrounding 
streetscene. The proposed use of the timber cladding does not cover the entire frontage 
of the site and consists of a small section of the front elevation to provide architectural 
interest. It is considered that its limited use would not significantly harm the character and 
appearance of the host dwelling or the streetscene more widely. The forward siting of the 
proposed front extension has not been altered when compared to the 2022 application, but 
as explained in the following paragraph, the three other key component factors of form, 
scale and detailed design have been resolved resulting in the remaining consideration of 
the forward siting of the proposed front extension no longer leading to a dominant and 
incongruous addition.  

 
6.5. The altered roof form, increased set down from the ridge of the main dwelling and design 

has resulted in a more subservient addition to the original dwelling when compared to the 
previously refused scheme. The proposed windows on the front elevation of the proposal 
create a sense of hierarchy and contribute to the overall design of the proposal. The form 
and scale of the proposed pitched roof front extension would reflect pitched roof elements 
seen within the streetscene and with a contemporary appearance due to the use of timber 
cladding would result in the character and appearance of the dwelling being cohesive and 
suitably resolved. Provided the character and appearance of a streetscene and wider 
surroundings is not harmed, national planning guidance would not discourage the identity 
of non-protected buildings such as this being given a different architectural style including 
a contemporary theme. In this instance there are no designations offering specific 
protection for the current traditional style and form of the dwelling. More widely, there are 
some examples of contemporary themed dwellings, such as 116 Beach Avenue. 
Therefore, it is considered that the amended proposal has overcome the previous reason 
for refusal of the 2022 Application and is therefore acceptable in design terms. 
 

6.6. It is considered that the design, including the proposed siting, form, scale, appearance and 

150



 

materials of the development proposed are such that it would not result in significant harm 
to the character and appearance of the existing dwelling, the streetscene and the area 
more widely. Therefore, the proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in these regards. 
 
Amenity Impacts 

 
6.7. Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality development 

which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document 
specifically identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, immediate 
neighbours, and surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise 
and disturbance, visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. Further advice on 
how to achieve this is set out in the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide.  

 
6.8. There would be some 10m between the southern flank of the dwelling and the rear 

elevation of No 93 Cliff Gardens to the south (some 6m from the closest rear elevation, 
which contains a garage) and some 15m from the southern flank of the proposed first floor 
front extension and the rear elevation at No. 93, which is considered to be an acceptable 
relationship. The proposal would not result in an increase in depth at ground floor and the 
proposed first floor side window serves a non-habitable room (a landing). Taking these 
factors into consideration, it is not considered that the additional bulk to the roof and front 
elevation and additional window would have a significantly harmful impact on the light, 
outlook, privacy and sense of enclosure of this neighbouring dwelling.  

 
6.9. The application dwelling sits 0.9m forward of No 129 Beach Avenue to the north and the 

proposed roof enlargement would be separated from this neighbouring dwelling by 1.9m. 
Due to the position and orientation of the proposed roof enlargement, the development 
would have some increased impact on the receipt of light to the habitable windows in the 
front and flank elevations of No.129 as a result of the applicant dwelling’s proposed front 
projection. However, due to the modest 0.9m projection beyond the front elevation of No. 
129, it not considered that the additional bulk to the roof would have a significantly harmful 
impact on the light, outlook, privacy and sense of enclosure of this neighbouring dwelling.  

 
6.10. It is considered that the design, size, siting and scale of the development proposed are 

such that it would not result in any significant harm to the amenities of the site, neighbouring 
occupiers or wider area in any regard. The proposal is therefore considered to be 
acceptable and policy compliant in terms of its amenity impacts. This is not considered to 
overcome the harm outlined in the above sections of this report. 

  
 Other Matters 

 
6.11. Consistent with the basis of decision on the 2022 application, the proposed development 

is not found to result in any significant parking or highways impacts, it is therefore 
acceptable and policy compliant in these regards.  
 

6.12. The development equates to less than 100sqm of new floorspace and therefore benefits 
from a Minor Development Exemption under the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) and as such no charge is payable. 

 
Equality and Diversity 
 

6.13. The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in the 
exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. Under 
this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to eliminate 
unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and must advance equality of 

151



 

opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. Officers have in considering this application and preparing this report 
had careful regard to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended). They have 
concluded that the decision recommended will not conflict with the Council's statutory 
duties under this legislation. 

 
Conclusion 

 
6.14. For the reasons outlined above, it is considered that the proposal has overcome the 

previous reason for refusal and the proposal is found to be acceptable and compliant with 
the relevant planning policies and guidance. As there are no other material planning 
considerations which would justify reaching a different conclusion it is recommended that 
planning permission is granted subject to conditions.  

 
7. Recommendation 

 
GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than three years from 

the date of this decision. 
 

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 
2. The development shall only be undertaken in accordance with the following 

approved plan: 010 (Rev B). 
 

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the 
consent sought, has an acceptable design and complies with Policy DM1 of the 
Development Management Document (2015). 

 
3. Before the development hereby approved is occupied the materials used on the 

external surfaces of the development must match those used on the external 
surfaces of the existing property. This applies unless differences are shown on 
the drawings hereby approved or are required by other conditions on this 
permission. 

 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the 
consent sought, has an acceptable design and complies with Policy DM1 of the 
Development Management Document (2015). 

 
Informatives 

 
1 You are advised that as the development equates to less than 100sqm of new 

floorspace the development benefits from a Minor Development Exemption under 
the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and as such 
no charge is payable. See www.southend.gov.uk/cil for further details about the 
Levy. 

 
2 You should be aware that in cases where damage occurs during construction 

works to the highway in implementing this permission that Council will seek to 
recover the cost of repairing public highways and footpaths from any party 
responsible for damaging them. This includes damage carried out when 
implementing a planning permission or other works to buildings or land. Please 

152

http://www.southend.gov.uk/cil


 

take care when carrying out works on or near the public highways and footpaths 
in the city. 

 
Positive and Proactive Statement 

 
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by identifying matters of concern within the application (as 
originally submitted) and negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments 
to the proposal to address those concerns.  As a result, the Local Planning 
Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal, 
in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set 
out within the National Planning Policy Framework.  The detailed analysis is set 
out in a report on the application prepared by officers. 

 
 
 

 

153



This page is intentionally left blank



155



This page is intentionally left blank



The front of the site and the 
front elevation of No. 129

157



Front of the application site

158



Front of the site from 
opposite the site and the 
wider streetscene.

159



The front of the site and No. 129 next to the site.

160



Front elevation of the site 
and No. 129 adjacent to 
the site.

161



Existing relationship of the 
application site and No. 
129 from the front 
elevation.

162


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday, 13th September 2023
	 Contents List & Introduction
	SPA	-	Special Protection Area.  An area designated for special protection under the terms of the European Community Directive on the Conservation of Wild Birds.
	Ramsar Site	-	Describes sites that meet the criteria for inclusion in the list of Wetlands of International Importance under the Ramsar Convention.  (Named after a town in Iran, the Ramsar Convention is concerned with the protection of wetlands, especially those important for migratory birds)

	5 23/01216/BC4 - Cliffs Pavilion Station Road, Westcliff on Sea (Milton Ward)
	1	Site and Surroundings
	1.1	The Cliffs Pavilion is the City’s main theatre. It dates from the 1960s and was extended on the south side in the late 1990s. It is a large building which sits on the top of the clifftop at Westcliff at the western end of the cliff gardens. It has a commanding and prominent position on the clifftop facing the estuary and is a local physical and cultural landmark.
	1.2	To the south and south-east the building is wrapped by the cliff gardens. To the north-east side is a sunken paved terrace with water feature adjacent to the main entrance. This is the site of the proposed extension. This side of the building is enclosed by the building’s service road, which provides disabled peoples’ and drop off parking, and Station Road and Westcliff Parade beyond. The properties opposite to the north and north-east are residential and fall within the Shorefields Conservation Area. To the west is another residential street San Remo Parade, which is outside the conservation area boundary. There are a few commercial uses in the vicinity of the site, mainly small restaurants to the west and south on Western Esplanade at the bottom of the cliff.
	1.3	There are 65 off street spaces on the site under and to the south of the building and on the service road including 7 disabled peoples’ parking bays and several drop off bays opposite the entrance. The site is also close to two large public car parks in Shorefield Road and Western Esplanade. The surrounding roads also have on street parking but most on street spaces in the surrounding streets are covered by a residents parking scheme.
	1.4	The site falls within the Central Seafront Policy Area as defined by the Southend Central Area Action Plan (SCAAP). The clifftop gardens to the east are designated as protected green space but this designation does not cover the sunken terrace site or theatre. The building is recognised as a landmark under SCAAP Policy DS3. The site fronts onto the Seafront Landmark Area Key View as defined by SCAAP Policy DS2.  The site is within the setting of Shorefields Conservation Area.

	2	The Proposal
	2.1	The proposal seeks planning permission to:
		Erect a two storey extension with feature canopy and roof top plant enclosure to the east side of the building to form a new main entrance.
		Improve the internal layout of the building including the foyer, circulation space and hospitality areas within the building and provide new additional WCs and baby changing facilities.
		Improve access to and within the building including a new internal lift, accessible bar heights and step free access.
		Alter the existing elevations including the painting of the lower-level brickwork on the north elevation and new feature signage.
		Re-landscape the external area to the east of the building to form a new public plaza including new paving, planting, lighting and art.
		Additional cycle stores in the undercroft area comprising 6 secure staff cycling stores and 8 visitor spaces.
		Amend parking including below the building (no change in overall number of spaces on the Cliffs Pavilion site) and in Westcliff Parade to increase parking capacity on street by 8 spaces.
	2.2	The proposed extension would have the same length but be up to 8m wider than the existing entrance and foyer arrangement. The proposed height is a maximum of 8.5m (10m including roof top plant enclosure). Overall, the gross internal area of the building will change from 5925 sqm to 6249 sqm, a net increase of 324 sqm over 2 floors. The existing restaurant is proposed to increase in capacity from 100 covers to 158 covers to the existing bars and restaurant as set out in the following table:
	2.3	In support of these alterations the Design and Access Statement comments:
	‘This increase in area adds much needed space for the 2200+ attendees of a show to move around safely, particularly in a post covid environment, with space to queue without blocking circulation, better access to WCs and a more open, welcoming environment to visit. The improved access to the first floor areas and the new internal signage and layout will make navigation through the space clearer and easier for all visitors. The enlarged first floor restaurant and bar adds more capacity for an improved pre-show dining experience and the bar element will encourage guests to stay after the show for longer, thereby reducing the post-show surge volumes which can have an impact on local traffic and noise. Overall, WC capacity will be increased, particularly female WCs on all levels, as well as offering more accessible WC facilities and a new, Changing Place facility as part of the access strategy enhancements.’

	3	Relevant Planning History
	3.1	The most relevant planning history for the determination of this application is shown on Table 1 below:

	4	Representation Summary
	Public Consultation
	4.1	One hundred (100) neighbouring properties were notified of the application by letter, a site notice was displayed, and a press notice published. 1 letter of representation has been received supporting the application.
	Highways
	4.2	No objections. The applicant has provided a detailed and robust Transport Statement in support of the application. The applicant has provided 2 traffic modelling scenarios. 1. Modelling demonstrates just the hospitality in use which shows that parking within the area which includes local car parks and seafront is available.
	2.	Modelling demonstrates with both hospitality and the theatre in use parking is still available within local car parks and the seafront.
	It is considered that the increased size of the hospitality provision at the site will not have a detrimental impact on the surrounding highway network.
	Environmental Health
	4.3	No objections provided the noise mitigation measures set out in the submitted noise report are implemented and the use of the outside area for hospitality is not extended beyond what is already allowed for the existing bar area. The proposed external lighting is appropriate for the location. The Construction Management Plan is also acceptable. Conditions are recommended in relation to waste management arrangements and timings of deliveries and collections.
	Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA)
	4.4	No objections subject to a condition requiring full drainage details to be agreed.
	Essex Fire Service
	4.5	No objections.
	Theatres Trust
	4.6	No objections. The Cliffs Pavilion is an important regional theatre. This proposal will further expand and enhance the venue’s front of house provision, improve orientation and accessibility and encourage longer stays at the venue enhancing the potential for income generation to help sustain the venue and its cultural offer for the city. It allows for operational benefits too, because the removal of the large ticket office enables a new back of house corridor providing better access between front and back of house.  Overall, the scheme is supported.

	London Southend Airport
	4.7	No objections.
	Milton Conservation Society
	4.8	Milton Conservation Society support this application, in particular the amended design and the retention of a flexible open space as part of the proposal.

	5	Planning Policy Summary
	5.1	The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021)
	5.2	Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2021)
	5.3	Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP1(Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), CP2 (Town Centre and Retail Development), CP3 (Transport and Accessibility) CP4 (The Environment and Urban Renaissance), CP6 (Community Infrastructure)
	5.4	Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM2 (Low Carbon and Development and Efficient Use of Resources) DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use of Land), DM5 (Southend-on-Sea’s Historic Environment) and DM15 (Sustainable Transport Management)
	5.5	Southend Central Area Action Plan (SCAAP) (2018) Policies CS1 Central Seafront Policy Area Development Principles), DS2 (Key Views) and DS3 (Landmarks and Landmark Buildings)
	5.6	Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009)
	5.7	Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments (2019)
	5.8	Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure for new development Supplementary Planning Document (2021)
	5.9	Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015)
	5.10	Shorefields Conservation Area Appraisal (2021)

	6	Planning Considerations
	6.1	The main considerations in relation to this application include the principle of the development, impact on heritage, the design and impact on the character and appearance of the area, the impact on residential amenity, traffic and parking implications, energy and water use sustainability, refuse and recycling storage, flooding and drainage and CIL liability. Due weight has been given to the basis of decision for the extant 2021 planning permission 21/01314/BC4 in the assessment of this current proposal.

	7	Appraisal
	7.1	Policy KP1 supports the regeneration and growth of Southend as a successful leisure and tourism destination and the Cliffs Pavilion is a key component of this offer.
	7.2	Paragraph 194 of the SCAAP states “The Cliffs Pavilion on the western edge of the Central Seafront Policy Area is another major visitor destination and is an important cultural asset which should be enhanced where possible to develop further the visitor offer.”
	7.3	Policy CS1, Central Seafront Area Development Principles, seeks to enhance the role of the seafront as a leisure destination and states amongst other things:
	‘1. The Council through its role in determining planning decisions and other initiatives will:
	a.  consider favourably proposals which enhance or diversify the range of arts, culture, entertainment, tourism, leisure and recreational facilities, subject to an assessment of the scale, character, location and impact of the proposal on existing facilities and environmental designations, including protected green space;
	c.  secure high quality and sustainable redevelopment of poor quality, vacant or underused sites and buildings to improve the local townscape, including provision of active ground floor frontages to add to the vibrancy and vitality of the streetscene;
	d.  ensure that all development proposals affecting all designated and non-designated heritage assets, including Conservation Areas, listed and locally listed buildings, conserve and enhance these buildings and their settings in line with Policy DM5 of the Development Management Document;
	h.  seek to conserve existing landmarks and landmark buildings and ensure new development respects views to and from them, their setting and character, in line with Policy DS2: Key Views and Policy DS3: Landmarks and Landmark Buildings.
	3.  The Council will promote the following access and public realm improvements a.  emphasise landmarks and landmark buildings (Policy DS3), orientation points, views and vistas, and improve accessibility between the seafront and town centre;
	j.  upgrade the Cliffs Pavilion outdoor space and improve its connection to the Cliffs;
	7.4	In relation to the protection of the City landmark buildings which includes the Cliffs Pavilion, Policy DS3 states:
	‘The Council, through its role in determining planning applications, master planning, and other initiatives, will seek to conserve landmarks and landmark buildings as identified in Table 2 and Appendix 3 from adverse impact by:
	a.  encouraging the provision of open spaces and public realm improvements which provide views to landmarks or landmark buildings or enhance their setting;
	b.  resisting adverse impacts of new development by virtue of excessive height, massing or bulk;
	c.  ensuring development proposals respect views, setting and character.’
	7.5	The above policies strongly support proposals which enhance the arts, culture, entertainment, tourism, and leisure and recreation facilities particularly within this Policy Area.  The proposal will improve the visitor facilities at the Cliffs Pavilion and is therefore fully in line with policy in this regard.
	7.6	The proposal includes the remodelling of the outside plaza area to make it more user friendly and therefore specifically meets the aims of Policy CS1 3j above.
	7.7	The proposal will not materially impact on longer views of the Cliffs Pavilion or diminish its status as a local landmark. Indeed, the proposal aims to refresh parts of the new entrance extension works. The proposal is therefore compliant with Policy DS3.
	7.8	The principle of this development is therefore supported subject to the detailed considerations set out below.
	7.9	Section 69 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 defines conservation areas as 'areas of special architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance'. In determining this application, the Council has a statutory duty under section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requiring special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of Conservation Areas.
	7.10	Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to ensure that new development is well designed. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities.
	7.11	Local development plan policies seek to ensure that new development is designed so that it adds to the overall quality of the area and respects the character of the site, its local context and surroundings, provides appropriate detailing that contributes to and enhances the distinctiveness of place; and contribute positively to the space between buildings and their relationship to the public realm. Policy DM1 and the Design and Townscape guide provide further details on how this can be achieved. Policy DM5 of the Development Management Document seeks to protect the special character of the City’s Conservation Areas.
	7.12	The existing building is a well-known local landmark in a prominent location on the cliffs. It dates from the mid C20 and has some attractive modernist design features including the zig zag roof profile to the auditorium and the distinctive butterfly (i.e. V-shaped) roof to the fly tower and decorative mosaic tiling. A glazed extension was added to the south elevation in the 1990s which has given the building a more active frontage facing the estuary and has contributed positively to its character. There are, however, some elements of the building which are constrained and get very congested during busy times, are tired in appearance or have been altered with poor detailing and materials which detract from the character and the useability of the building. These include the current entrance which is long and narrow and creates a bottle neck during busy times and which lacks legibility in the streetscene, the constrained foyer and the detailing of the 2 storey projection to the east side which in the past was   reclad in UPVC. These aspects are considered to have a negative impact on the building’s character and the setting of the adjacent Shorefields Conservation Area.
	7.13	To the east side of the building is a large hardsurfaced open space which sits above the lower ground level of the building and has a large sunken section and water feature. Whilst this provides some enclosure to the space it means that the area looks inwards and does not make the best use of its south-easterly position overlooking the estuary. The space has some small areas of planting and a few benches but has a rather dated appearance and is often devoid of activity. In its present form this area does not make a positive contribution to the setting of the building, the cliffs or adjacent conservation area and is specifically identified in the SCAAP as being a location in need of a new/improved open space.
	7.14	The primary focus of the proposal is to provide a new, more-useable entrance for the theatre which improves both the internal and external circulation space making it more legible and accessible and to provide a focal point for the east elevation of the building. The design achieves this by remodelling the restaurant projection at the south-east corner by infilling the curved section at first floor to reference the adjacent 1990s extension and by extending the lines of this round until it meets the northern building line. Double doors and a double internal space will provide a more fitting arrival space for this scale of public building and a feature rain canopy will link this to the drop off point in the service road. The exterior of the building will be detailed in white aluminium curtain glazing with brise soleil detailing and white render to match the 1990s extension giving the building a more recognisable and cohesive character to the more public sides of the building and a visible feature entrance to the street. To ensure that it integrates with the 1960s building the proposal includes new feature signage across both elements and a continuation of the white colour palette into the lower section of the northern elevation and a fly tower roof helping to tie the two elements of the building together.
	7.15	In addition to the improved entrance and foyer space the extension includes dedicated concessions and merchandising areas, remodelling and modest enlargement of the ground floor foyer bar and first floor restaurant, additional toilet and back of house/ancillary facilities and a second internal customer lift. The new plant for the relocated restaurant kitchen will be located on the roof within an acoustic enclosure set back from the front to minimise its impact.
	7.16	The remodelled plaza to the east side of the building will be marginally smaller than the existing arrangement but will be raised and relandscaped to take advantage of the estuary aspect and make the area more useable and attractive generally. This includes new paving, planting to the street boundary, lighting and focal points provided by the relocated statue and seasonal installation of the Menorah light feature. The plaza will be further animated by outside seating for the foyer bar during fine weather and the new planter to the northern boundary will provide a buffer to the conservation area and road.
	7.17	Overall, it is considered that the design is well scaled and well detailed and will give the theatre a more cohesive and distinct character as well as an improved customer experience. The extension and associated landscaping will also enhance the streetscenes of Station Road and Westcliff Parade and the setting of the adjacent Shorefields Conservation Area and will give the theatre a new lease of life, helping to safeguard its future viability which is important for the City and the wider region.  The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in all design and heritage regards subject to the agreement of materials, key details and landscaping which can be secured by conditions.
	7.18	Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality development which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document specifically identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, immediate neighbours, and surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and disturbance, visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. Further advice on how to achieve this is set out in the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide.
	7.19	The site is set on its own on the Clifftop. The proposed extension is located on the eastern side of the existing building and is two storeys only with a general height of 8.5m rising to 10m for the plant room section which is set back against the tower. The closest neighbour is on the other side of Westcliff Parade some 50m from the proposed extension. It is therefore considered that the proposal would not have any adverse  impact on privacy, overlooking, outlook, sense of enclosure or daylight and sunlight for neighbouring properties.
	7.20	The landscaping scheme and external lighting plan proposes new lighting in the plaza comprising 4 tall street lamps around the feature artwork and low level bollard lighting on the perimeter of the space. Feature LED lighting is also proposed on the underside of the new canopy. New signage will also be lit and uplighting is proposed to the butterfly roof on the tower. Environmental Health comment that this lighting scheme is appropriate for the location and have raised no concerns in relation to neighbour amenity. The proposal is therefore acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.
	7.21	The proposal is not intended to increase the number of customers to the site, rather, its primary objective is to improve the customer experience by offering them a better experience and improved facilities so that they stay longer at the venue. The new, more- spacious entrance and larger circulation space will help to reduce the bottle neck which currently occurs at the rather narrow main entrance during show start and finish times and the additional facilities should discourage patrons from all trying to arrive/leave at the same time, reducing the noise and disturbance at peak periods. Given that the auditorium is unchanged and is often at capacity, it is considered that during the evening when the shows are playing, the level of noise and disturbance at the site will not be significantly greater than the existing situation and may in fact be lessened by the proposal.
	7.22	Whilst the proposal is primarily to improve the visitor experience for the existing theatre customers there will be some customers who visit the venue who do not attend a show. It is most likely that these will be outside the start and finish times of the shows and is not likely to significantly increase noise and disturbance around the site subject to a condition controlling the opening hours of the terrace for outside eating and drinking. In the  approved 2021 proposal for a new larger restaurant the use of the terrace was found to be acceptable provided it was restricted to between 09:00 and 22:00. A similar condition is considered appropriate in this case.
	7.23	The remodelled restaurant kitchen will require new extraction and air handling plant. The development is required to ensure that any noise arising from this plant is at least 10dB(A) below background levels at the boundaries of the nearest noise sensitive properties. To meet this requirement, the submitted noise report recommends the installation of an acoustic louvered plant enclosure around the new air handling units on the roof of the extension. Environmental Health are satisfied that this would be acceptable in this instance subject to confirmation via post completion noise testing which can be required by condition. A condition can also control the hours of deliveries and collections for the proposed restaurant. Conditions are also proposed for hours of construction. Overall, it is considered that the proposal would have less noise potential than the previously approved 200 cover restaurant (reference 21/01314/BC4) which was found to have an acceptable impact on neighbour amenity in all relevant regards.
	7.24	Subject to the conditions noted above, it is considered that the proposal would have an acceptable impact on the amenities of neighbours and the proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.
	Traffic and Transportation Issues
	7.25	The NPPF states (paragraph 111) that ‘Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or, the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.’
	7.26	Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy and Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document aim to improve road safety, quality of life and equality of access for all. Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document states that development will be allowed where there is, or it can be demonstrated that there will be physical and environmental capacity to accommodate the type and amount of traffic generated in a safe and sustainable manner. Maximum parking standards are set out in relation to the proposed uses.
	7.27	Policy DM15 expresses non-residential parking standards as a maximum, which in this location, is a maximum of 1 space per 5 seats for theatres and a maximum of 1 space per 6sqm for new restaurants in the central area.
	7.28	The capacity of the theatre is not changing. The net increase in internal space is 324 sqm most of which is proposed within the new foyer area. The increase in the footprint of the building is 165sqm but around half of the extension will be improved circulation space and ancillary uses. The net increase in restaurant and bar areas is 87sqm. This would equate to a maximum increase in parking requirements of up to 15 spaces.
	7.29	A Transport Assessment has been submitted with the application. This concludes:
	7.30	The existing site has 65 off street car parking spaces, 49 to the south west corner of the site partly under the building and 16 on the service road to the north. There is no capacity to increase on site car parking or in the service road however the site is well served by public car parking including two large public car parks at Shorefield Road (capacity 126 spaces) and Western Esplanade (capacity 494 spaces). The site is also within walking distance of Westcliff and Southend’s 2 railway stations and close to bus routes.
	7.31	The Transport Statement also makes a commitment to work with the Council to improve the off street parking on Westcliff Parade by converting it from parallel parking to echelon parking. This would involve proposed new white lining and the amendment of the Traffic Regulation Order. It is envisaged that this will create an additional 8 spaces. The details of this have yet to be finalised however this commitment can in this instance be secured by a Grampian style condition and is consistent with the same approach taken for the approved 2021 development. This approach is supported by the applicant plus the Council’s Highways Officer who has confirmed that the number of residents’ parking bays in this location will not be reduced.
	7.32	The NPPF advises that developments should only be refused on highway grounds if there is an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the residual cumulative impacts are severe. No such concerns have been identified in the assessment of this proposal. The Council’s Highways Officer is satisfied that, subject to the proposal providing a contribution to the Council’s parking scheme in Westcliff Parade, the proposal will not have a detrimental impact on parking or traffic in the local area and the proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard. Indeed, the proposal would have less parking and highways impact than the previously approved 200 cover restaurant (reference 21/01314/BC4) which was found to have an acceptable impact on traffic and transportation in all relevant regards. Therefore, subject to the conditions described above there are no objections to the proposal in these regards.
	Cycle Parking
	7.33	Policy DM15 requires that new restaurants and bars provide 1 cycle space per 100sqm for staff and 1 cycle space per 100sqm for customers. Public cycle parking is currently provided at Western Esplanade to the south and at Westcliff and Southend Victoria and Central Stations but there is no cycle parking on site for staff or customers. The increase in floor area of the building is 324 sqm. There is no change to the capacity of the theatre itself. Most of this new floorspace is circulation space and an increase in bar and restaurant covers of 58. The maximum requirement for cycle parking, assuming 300sqm of additional bar and restaurant space, which is an over estimation, would be 3 spaces for visitors and 3 spaces for staff. The submitted plans include 6 new cycle parking lockers for staff and 8 new cycle parking spaces for visitors to the site which exceeds the policy requirement and can be secured by condition. The proposal is therefore acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.
	7.34	The refuse and recycling storage at the site is unchanged by these proposals. The agent has confirmed that the existing arrangements will serve the needs of the proposed development. This is acceptable in principle but given the increases in the covers of the restaurant and foyer bar it is likely that more frequent collections and servicing may be needed. Environmental Health have therefore requested that the times of these deliveries and collections are controlled by condition so as not to cause a nuisance for neighbours. Subject to this condition the proposal is acceptable and policy complaint in this regard.
	7.35	Given the tight nature of the site and proximity of neighbours, it is considered that a construction management plan will be required for this development. A Construction Management and Construction Traffic Management Plan has been submitted with the application which shows the phasing of the development and the location of the contractors’ compound at each stage, dust control and noise mitigation measures. No objections have been raised to this plan from either Highways or Environmental Health. The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in this regard subject to a condition requiring its full implementation.
	7.36	Subject to the conditions described above, the proposal is therefore acceptable and policy compliant in regard to traffic and transportation issues.
	Sustainability
	7.37	Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy requires that “at least 10% of the energy needs of new development should come from on-site renewable options (and/or decentralised renewable or low carbon energy sources).’ Policy DM2 of the Development Management Document states that ‘to ensure the delivery of sustainable development, all development proposals should contribute to minimising energy demand and carbon dioxide emissions.’ Policy DM2 (iii) further states ‘Where viable and feasible, achieving a BREEAM ‘very good’ rating, and move towards zero carbon by 2019 for all non-residential developments’ however this is not a policy requirement for extensions to existing buildings.
	7.38	In relation to the sustainability of the development the submitted Design and Access Statement comments:

	‘As the project is only an extension of less than 10% of the existing floor area, utilising a lot of the existing building fabric and is reliant on existing services that fall outside of the project scope, we will not be able to provide any BREEAM certification however that does not mean we won't be aiming to improve the sustainable profile of the extension and with it the building as a whole as a result.’  To this end the proposal includes PV panels on the roof, more efficient plant, improved thermal efficiency and high levels of solar gain and daylighting.
	7.39	These benefits are welcomed and the requirement for 10% renewable energy and water efficiency can be secured by condition. In this instance, as the proposal is an extension only which enlarges the ancillary areas of the existing 1960s building, is considered unreasonable to require a BREEAM Very Good rating to be achieved.
	7.40	Subject to the above conditions, it is considered that the proposal is therefore acceptable and policy compliant in regard to sustainability.
	Flooding and Drainage
	7.41	A drainage plan has been submitted with the application showing the new connections to the existing drainage system. The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has advised the development is shown to be within an area of surface water flood risk and full detailed information on the detailed drainage scheme will therefore need to be conditioned. The proposal is therefore acceptable and policy compliant in this regard subject to this condition.
	Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
	7.42	This application is CIL liable and there will be a CIL charge payable. In accordance with Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 143 of the Localism Act 2011) and Section 155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, CIL is being reported as a material ‘local finance consideration’ for the purpose of planning decisions. The proposed development includes a gross internal area of 324 sqm, which may equate to a CIL charge of approximately £4,423.85(subject to confirmation). Any existing floor area that is being retained/demolished that satisfies the ‘in-use building’ test, as set out in the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended), may be deducted from the chargeable area thus resulting in a reduction in the chargeable amount.
	7.43	The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in the exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. Under this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and must advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.
	7.44	The proposals include a new lift and new entrance and will significantly improve DDA (Disability Discrimination Act) access to the building and the internal and external circulation space. This is positive and a public benefit of the proposal which should be afforded due weight in the balance of material considerations. The proposal will not conflict with the Council’s Statutory duties under the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended).
	7.45	Having taken all material planning considerations into account, it is found that subject to compliance with the attached conditions, the proposed development would be acceptable and compliant with the objectives of the relevant development plan policies and guidance. The principle of the development which supports the future vitality and viability of culture and tourism in the city is supported by policy. The proposal would have an acceptable impact on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the character and appearance of the application site, setting of the adjacent Shorefields Conservation Area and the locality more widely. There would be no materially adverse traffic, parking or highways impacts caused by the proposed development. There are associated public benefits, including improved access when considered under the provisions of the Disability Discrimination Act, which must be afforded due weight in the balancing exercise. This application is recommended for approval subject to conditions.

	8	Recommendation
	07 Any replacement or additional sanitary facilities within the development hereby approved shall incorporate water efficient design measures as set out in Policy DM2 (iv) of the Development Management Document including water efficient sanitary fittings.
	Informatives:
	04 The applicant is advised that Advert Consent may be required for any new signage at the site.

	01  Site and Loc  231003
	Sheets and Views
	EX Site & Loc CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-DR-A-010001


	02  EX Lower Ground Floor Plan 231003
	Sheets and Views
	Ex 00 Plan CLIF-AL3-ZZ-B1-DR-A-010002


	03 EX Ground Floor Plan 231003
	Sheets and Views
	Ex 01 Plan CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-DR-A-010003


	04 existing first floor plan
	Sheets and Views
	EX 02 Plan CLIF-AL3-ZZ-01-DR-A-010004


	05 existing east and west elevation
	Sheets and Views
	ELEV EX E W P01 CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-090002


	06 existing north and south elevations
	Sheets and Views
	ELEV EX N S P01 CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-090001


	07 existing roof plan
	Sheets and Views
	EX 03 Plan CLIF-AL3-ZZ-RF-DR-A-010005


	08 proposed  Lower Ground Floor 231003
	Sheets and Views
	GA 00 Plan CLIF-AL3-ZZ-B1-DR-A-020001


	09 proposed Ground Floor Plan 231003
	Sheets and Views
	GA 01 Plan CLIF-AL3-ZZ-00-DR-A-020002


	10 proposed first floor plan
	Sheets and Views
	GA 02 Plan CLIF-AL3-ZZ-01-DR-A-020003


	11 proposed roof plan
	Sheets and Views
	G 03 Plan P02 CLIF-AL3-ZZ-RF-DR-A-020004


	12 proposed east elevation
	Sheets and Views
	ELEV E  P01 CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050003


	13 proposed south elevation
	Sheets and Views
	ELEV S  P01 CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050006


	14 north elevation proposed
	Sheets and Views
	ELEV N  P01 CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050005


	15 proposed west elevation
	Sheets and Views
	ELEV W  P01 CLIF-AL3-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-050004


	16 Cliffs pavilion canopy design
	Sheets and Views
	DET Canopy CLIF-AL3-V2-))-DR-A-030009


	17 Cliffs Pavilion indicative landscaping
	Sheets and Views
	DET Landscape  CLIF-AL3-V2-00-DR-A-030011


	Cliffs Pavilion photos and CGIs
	Slide 1: Cliffs Pavilion 
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5


	6 23/00946/FUL - Day Nursery, 43 Imperial Avenue, Westcliff-on-Sea (Chalkwell Ward)
	1	Site and Surroundings
	1.1	The application site contains a semi-detached two storey building with rooms in the roof on the northern side of Imperial Avenue. The building is in mixed use with a long-standing day nursery at ground floor level and a residential unit at the upper floors. The works relate to the frontage of the site which is accessed via two existing vehicle crossovers with pedestrian access from Imperial Avenue.
	1.2	The arrangement of the site’s frontage has been obscured in recent years by hoardings and storage of materials etc, which have been the subject of planning enforcement enquiries. More recently the frontage has been reconfigured with hardstanding and substantial fencing, the latter of which is the subject of a recent planning enforcement investigation.
	1.3	The surrounding area is predominantly residential in character, comprising detached and semi-detached dwellinghouses typically set in generous plots as well as two and three storey high flatted blocks.
	1.4	The site is not within a conservation area or subject to any site-specific planning policies.

	2	The Proposal
	2.1	Planning permission is sought part-retrospectively to reconfigure the frontage of the site by laying out hard and soft landscaping and erecting two storage sheds, a pergola, a bin store, a covered store, a cycle stand and boundary fencing.
	2.2	The proposal would subdivide the frontage between the residential unit and the nursery with 1.83m high close board fencing running south to north through the centre. Part of the proposed fencing next to the nursery front entrance door would have a trellis panel attached to the top with an overall height of some 2.13m. There would be three separate pedestrian accesses from Imperial Avenue, one associated with the residential unit and two associated with the nursery. Existing fencing some 1.8m-2.2m high on the eastern and western side boundaries would be retained. The fencing slopes down to some 1m-1.2m high to the front part of the eastern side boundary and it is proposed for the front part of the western side boundary to slope down to match the eastern boundary fencing. To the front part of the western side boundary is an existing hedge which would be retained.
	2.3	The part of the frontage associated with the residential unit would be towards the western side boundary. It would have close board fencing some 1.8m high and 4.1m wide, an associated pedestrian gate which would front Imperial Avenue and would be set back some 5.8m from the front boundary. To the front of the proposed fencing  would be a hardstanding for the off-street parking of 1no. vehicle. The hardstanding would be Charcon Europa (Burnt ker) block paving laid in a herringbone pattern. It would be accessed via an existing vehicle crossover from Imperial Avenue. To the rear of the proposed fencing would be the enclosed private amenity space for the residential unit. Tandur yellow antique limestone paving slabs would be laid in this space. The submitted plans show that some shrubs are proposed within the private amenity space and there are 5no. existing trees.
	2.4	The part of the frontage associated with the nursery would be towards the eastern side boundary. The front boundary would have a central hedge some 1.6m high and 4.2m wide with low level planting to the front and pedestrian accesses either side which would front Imperial Avenue. Immediately to the rear of the hedge running its full 4.2m width would be close board fencing some 1.5m high. Immediately to the rear of this fencing there would be 2no. commercial bin stores separated by a close board fence some 1.5m high and 0.9m wide which would run south to north, adjacent to the front hedge. This fence would attach to the front elevation of the proposed covered buggy store which would be timber framed and weather boarded with a felt clad marine ply roof. The buggy store would be some 1.6m high, 4.2m wide and 1m deep. To the flanks of the buggy store there would be two close board fence gates which would provide pedestrian access to and enclose the nursery’s front garden area. They would be some 1.5m high and 0.8m-0.9m wide, would front Imperial Avenue when closed and would be set back some 2.9m-3.3m from the front boundary.
	2.5	Within the nursery’s enclosed front garden area set up to the eastern side boundary there would be a timber pergola some 2.2m high, 1m deep and 2.4m wide, 2no. timber clad storage sheds some 1.8m high, 1m deep and 2.7m wide and some soft landscaping consisting of 7no. pleached trees ‘Photonia Red Robin’ and associated ground cover. To the front elevation of the building there would be shrubs and bird bath and feeding stations enclosed by a white painted picket fence some 0.9m high and a white painted trellis panel some 1.8m high. To the front of the proposed picket fence a cycle stand for 1no. cycle is proposed and the existing semi-mature tree would be retained and its surround would be squared off with bullnose limestone coping stones.
	2.6	The existing concrete hardstanding to the main nursery area would be infilled as necessary with areas of slab paving replaced with a concrete base and both the existing hardstanding and infilled areas would be finished with a tar spray and shingle dressing. The edges would have concrete black paving in a natural colour. A galvanised steel drainage channel some 0.1m deep would be installed across the width of the main nursery area to the rear of the proposed buggy store.
	2.7	This application for planning permission has been made following a planning enforcement investigation at the site in relation to the unauthorised fencing and associated storage structures which has been erected. This application seeks an alternative proposal to the existing unauthorised development.
	2.8	The application is part-retrospective as the existing western and eastern side boundary fencing, and some of the existing soft landscaping, has been undertaken and would be retained.

	3	Relevant Planning History
	3.1	The most relevant planning history of the application site is shown in Table 1 below:
	Table 1: Relevant Planning History of the Application Site under the Day Nursery, 43 Imperial Avenue
	Table 2: Relevant Planning History of the Application Site under 43 Imperial Avenue
	3.2	The most relevant planning enforcement history of the application site is shown in Table 2 below:
	Table 3: Relevant Planning Enforcement History of the Application Site

	4	Representation Summary
	Call-in
	4.1	This application has been called into Development Control Committee by Councillor Folkard.
	Public
	4.2	Thirteen (13) neighbouring properties were notified of the application by letter and a site notice was displayed. One representation objecting to the application has been received. Summary of comments:
	[Officer Comment: The comments have been taken into consideration and those matters that are relevant to planning are discussed further in the relevant sections of the report. Other than those stated in the refusal reason of this report, the points of objection raised in the representations were not found to justify refusing planning permission in the circumstances of this case.]
	Highways
	4.3	No objection.
	Environmental Health
	4.4	No objection subject to a refuse and recycling condition.
	[Officer Comment: If the application was found otherwise acceptable conditions would have been imposed at the last section of this report which would have been considered to pass the relevant tests of planning law, policy and guidance in the circumstances of this case.]

	5	Planning Policy Summary
	5.1	The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021)
	5.2	Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2021)
	5.3	Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), CP3 (Transport and Accessibility), CP4 (Environment and Urban Renaissance), CP6 (Community Infrastructure)
	5.4	Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use of Land), DM15 (Sustainable Transport Management).
	5.5	The Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009)
	5.6	Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015)

	6	Planning Considerations
	6.1	The main considerations in relation to this application are the principle of the development, design and impact on the character and appearance of the area, impacts on neighbours’ residential amenity, traffic and transportation matters, and CIL.

	7	Appraisal
	7.1	The proposal which seeks to provide additional ancillary facilities for the existing day nursery is broadly in line with the central principles of Policies KP2 and CP6 of the Core Strategy which seek that development supports improvements to existing, and the provision of new, facilities to support the needs of education, skills and lifelong learning strategies.
	7.2	The principle of laying out landscaping and erecting outbuildings, stores and fencing within the curtilage of a building is therefore considered acceptable and policy compliant, subject to the development appropriately addressing the relevant detailed planning considerations.
	Design and Impact on the Character of the Area
	7.3	Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to ensure that new development is well designed. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities.
	7.4	Local development plan policies seek to ensure that new development is designed so that it adds to the overall quality of the area and respects the character of the site, its local context and surroundings, provides appropriate detailing that contributes to and enhances the distinctiveness of place; and contribute positively to the space between buildings and their relationship to the public realm. Policy DM1 and the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide provide further details on how this can be achieved.
	7.5	Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document states that all development should; “add to the overall quality of the area and respect the character of the site, its local context and surroundings in terms of its architectural approach, height, size, scale, form, massing, density, layout, proportions, materials, townscape and/or landscape setting, use, and detailed design features.”
	7.6	Paragraph 155 of the Design and Townscape Guide states “Any form of enclosure must be high quality and complementary to the overall scheme design or existing building. Boundary treatment should clearly distinguish between public and private space.”
	7.7	The streetscene in this part of Imperial Avenue has a strong open character with low front boundary treatments comprising low brick walls and low fences which typically do not exceed 1m high (apart from pillars associated with boundary walls) with some soft landscaping and buildings with relatively deep, spacious frontages. The higher boundary treatments in this part of Imperial Avenue are typically return frontages comprising 1.8m-2m high fences which enclose the private rear gardens of dwellings on corner plots. The proposal would include a substantial amount of close boarded fencing within the frontage varying between some 1.5m-1.8m high (up to 2.13m high where the proposed trellis would be attached to the top of the fencing), which would be solid in appearance and highly visible in the public realm from Imperial Avenue. Other structures proposed in the frontage, including the buggy store some 1.6m high, storage sheds some 1.8m high, trellis some 1.8m high and pergola some 2.2m high would all impact public views from Imperial Avenue to varying material extents due to their height and particularly when the proposed front gates are open. The proposed 2no. bins to the front of the site are poorly sited and without enclosures. Altogether it is considered that the totality of the proposed development, due to its height, layout and extent, and the solid appearance of the proposed fencing, would appear visually prominent, stark, and significantly out of keeping with the spacious setting and overall character of the surrounding area. It would therefore result in significant harm to the character and appearance of the site, the streetscene and the area more widely.
	7.8	The existing eastern side boundary fencing slopes down towards the front boundary and it is proposed for the western boundary fencing to slope down to the front boundary and to retain the existing hedge to the front part of the western boundary. No objection is raised to these aspects of the proposal which are not considered to cause significant harm to the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding area.
	7.9	No objection is raised to the proposed soft landscaping in terms of its impacts on the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding area. However, the proposed soft landscaping is relatively limited and it is not considered that it would sufficiently mitigate the harmfully stark and contrived appearance of the proposal.
	7.10	The extent of the proposed hardstanding is considered a negative aspect of the proposal. However, as it would be generally consistent in appearance with some examples of other such frontages elsewhere in Imperial Avenue and given some soft landscaping is proposed, no objection is raised to it. It is considered that the proposed drainage channel would sufficiently limit any surface run-off during heavy rainfall.
	7.11	The submitted planning statement claims the proposed fencing would fall under permitted development as it does not exceed 2m in height. Therefore consideration is given to whether the applicant has a realistic permitted development fall-back position. Officers do not consider that the applicant has a fall-back position due to the height and position of the fencing adjacent to the Highway and in the absence of a Certificate of Lawfulness, no material weight for a realistic fall-back position has been identified.
	7.12	Within the wider streetscene there is a school to the east, Alleyn Court, which has a front boundary fence some 1.8m high. This is a school and not a nursery and as such it benefits from permitted development rights for boundary fences adjacent to the highway up to a maximum of 2m high. This fencing is materially different to the development hereby sought and does not provide any justification for this development.
	7.13	The submitted planning statement states that there is lack of space to the rear of the site for the provision of any additional storage. However, it is considered that more discretely located and designed ancillary storage, such as buggy parks and refuse and recycling storage, could potentially be provided at the front of the site in an way which would not result in the significant harm to the character and appearance of the site, or the wider surrounding area that results from this particular proposal. It is similarly noted that any necessary screening/obscurity of the nursery from the public domain, should that be required, could be reasonably achieved in a more sympathetic and appropriate manner than the fencing hereby proposed. No significant public benefits have been identified such as an increased early years provision or education improvement and the public benefits of the proposal are considered limited given its nature. They do not clearly outweigh the significant harm identified as a result of the current proposal.
	7.14	Within the City there are other examples of nurseries with open frontages with appropriately scaled and sited ancillary storage (e.g. buggy parks and refuse and recycling storage) which has been accommodated and other means of privacy screening, such as opaque window films, which have an acceptable impact on the streetscene. Officers consider that a reasonable remodelling of the frontage including appropriately scaled and sited storage could be achieved within this site however the height, layout and extent of this proposal is unacceptable.
	7.15	Overall, it is considered that cumulatively the proposed development, by reason of its height, layout and extent, and the solid appearance of the proposed fencing within the frontage, would appear visually prominent, stark, and materially out of keeping with the spacious setting of the surrounding area and would result in significant harm to the character and appearance of the site, the streetscene and the area more widely. Although it is not incumbent on the applicant to do so, no significant public benefits have been identified for consideration such as increased early years provision or education improvement and the public benefits of the proposal are considered limited given its nature. The significant harm identified is therefore not outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal. The proposal is therefore unacceptable and contrary to policy in terms of its impact on the character and appearance of the site, the streetscene, and the area more widely.
	Amenity Impacts
	7.16	Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality development which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document specifically identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, immediate neighbours, and surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and disturbance, visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. Further advice on how to achieve this is set out in the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide.
	7.17	The proposal would be separated by some 3.5m from the flank wall of No 45 Imperial Avenue to the west which is subdivided into flats. Noting the some 2m-2.2m height of the existing fencing on this boundary and the separation distance, it is not considered that the development would significantly harm the amenity of the occupiers of the flats at No 45 in any relevant regards.
	7.18	The proposal would be set up to the shared boundary with No 41 Imperial Avenue to the east. There is an existing fence on this boundary which is some 1.8-2m high. The proposed pergola would be set up to this boundary and would rise marginally above it by some 0.2-0.4m for a length of some 2.4m. Other than the proposed pergola the other aspects of the proposal set up to the shared boundary would be level with or below the existing boundary fencing or would be sufficiently separated from it. Due to the existing boundary relationship and the marginal height of the proposed pergola above the shared boundary for a length of 2.4m, it is not considered that the proposal would significantly harm the amenity of the occupiers of No 41 in any relevant regards.
	7.19	All other dwellings are sufficiently removed from the development to prevent any significant harm in any relevant amenity regards.
	7.20	It is considered that the design, size, siting and scale of the development are such that it does not result in any significant harm to the amenities of the site, the neighbouring occupiers or the wider area in any regard. The development is therefore considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in terms of its amenity impacts.
	Highways
	7.21	Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that “Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or, the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.” Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy and Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document aim to improve road safety, quality of life and equality of access for all. Policy DM15 states that “Development will be allowed where there is, or it can be demonstrated that there will be physical and environmental capacity to accommodate the type and amount of traffic generated in a safe and sustainable manner.”
	7.22	Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document requires that all development should meet the minimum off-street parking standards. A provision of a minimum of one parking space is required for a 2+ bedroom flat. A provision of a maximum of one parking space per full time equivalent staff and waiting facilities where appropriate are required for a nursery.
	7.23	Inconsistent information has been submitted with regard to the existing parking provision within the submitted documents. The application form states that there is one existing parking space which would be retained. The submitted planning statement states that one parking space would be created for the residential unit. The submitted elevation drawings show a total of three existing parking spaces. The Council’s Highways Team has confirmed that the two existing single vehicle crossovers could accommodate two existing off-street parking spaces. On this basis it is considered that there are two existing off-street parking spaces and the proposal would result in the net loss of one off-street parking space. It is not expressly clear how these existing parking spaces are divided between the residential unit and the nursery.
	7.24	The proposal would provide one off-street parking space on the frontage for the residential flat which is policy compliant. It would provide one cycle parking space and no off-street car parking for the nursery. The site is in a reasonably sustainable location with bus stops on London Road and Chalkwell Train Station within reasonable walking distance, some 8 minutes and 16 minutes respectively. The submitted planning statement states that most staff and customers live locally and mostly walk to the site. The Council’s Highways Team have raised no objections to the proposal. On this basis, the one cycle parking space provided for the nursery is considered acceptable and would not justify a reasonable reason for refusal of the application in the specific circumstances of this case.
	7.25	The proposal would not have a harmful impact on parking or highway safety and therefore the proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in highways terms.
	Community Infrastructure Levy
	7.26	The development is not liable for a payment under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended).
	7.27	The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in the exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. Under this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and must advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. Officers have in considering this application and preparing this report had careful regard to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended). They have concluded that the decision recommended will not conflict with the Council's statutory duties under this legislation.

	8	Conclusion
	8.1	For the reasons outlined above the development is found to be unacceptable and fails to comply with the relevant planning policies and guidance. It is considered that cumulatively and in totality that the proposed development, by reason of its height, layout and extent, and the solid appearance of the proposed fencing within the frontage, would appear visually prominent, stark, and materially out of keeping with the spacious setting of the surrounding area and would result in significant harm to the character and appearance of the site, the streetscene and the area more widely. The proposal is therefore unacceptable and contrary to the policy in terms of its impact on the character and appearance of the site, the streetscene, and the area more widely. No significant public benefits have been identified such as increased early years provision or education improvement and the public benefits of the proposal are considered limited given its nature. It is considered that the ancillary features sought from the proposed development and the privacy of the nursery sought from the fencing could be achieved in a more appropriate and sympathetic way to that hereby proposed and as such these matters do not provide any justification for the unacceptable development hereby sought. The significant harm identified is therefore not clearly outweighed by any  public benefits of the proposal. Therefore, the application is recommended for refusal.

	9	Recommendation
	REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION for the following reason:
	01	Cumulatively the proposed development, by reason of its height, layout and extent, and the solid appearance of the proposed fencing within the frontage, would appear visually prominent, stark, and materially out of keeping with the typically spacious setting of the surrounding area and would result in significant harm to the character and appearance of the site, the streetscene and the area more widely. The development is therefore unacceptable and contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3 and the guidance contained within the National Design Guide (2021) and the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).

	Positive and Proactive Statement
	The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application by identifying matters of concern with the proposal and determining the application within a timely manner, clearly setting out the reason(s) for refusal, allowing the Applicant the opportunity to consider the harm caused and whether or not it can be remedied by a revision to the proposal. The detailed analysis is set out in a report prepared by officers. In the circumstances the proposal is not considered to be sustainable development. The Local Planning Authority is willing to discuss the best course of action via the pre-application service available at https://www.southend.gov.uk/info/200155/make_a_planning_application_and_planning_advice/365/planning_advice_and_guidance/2
	Informative
	1	You are advised that as the development equates to less than 100sqm of new floorspace the development benefits from a Minor Development Exemption under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and as such no charge is payable. See www.southend.gov.uk/cil for further details about the Levy.

	Location Plan
	Ex site plan
	hard landscaping plan
	soft landscaping plan
	Enf site photos
	Slide 1: Imperial Avenue Day Nursery
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12
	Slide 13
	Slide 14
	Slide 15
	Slide 16
	Slide 17
	Slide 18
	Slide 19
	Slide 20
	Slide 21
	Slide 22
	Slide 23


	7 23/00751/FUL - Brambles Care Home, 22 Cliff Road, Leigh-on-Sea (Chalkwell Ward)
	1.	Site and Surroundings
	1.1.	The application site is occupied by a four-storey detached property on the eastern side of Cliff Road. The building is used as a care home with 26 bedrooms, the majority of which benefit from an en-suite WC. The ground floor contains communal facilities.  An internal lift serves the ground, first and second floors. The building’s frontage is hard surfaced and used for parking for five vehicles. To the rear is a communal amenity space. Existing refuse storage is located to the northern flank of the application site. Land levels slope downwards from north to south across the site and also change in relation to gardens of houses to the east in Mount Avenue.
	1.2.	The wider surrounding area is residential in character. The site itself has no specific allocation within the Development Management Document’s Proposals Map and is not subject to any planning policy designations. A group of TPO trees (TPO ref number: 2/1967) are noted to the site’s eastern boundary.

	2.	The Proposal
	2.1.	Planning permission is sought to erect a two-storey extension (at lower ground and ground floor level) to an existing two storey addition to the rear of the property. Other alterations include an enlargement of the roof form of that existing two storey addition, from a hipped roof 4.9m high (above ground level), to a parapet flat roof 5.8m hight.
	2.2.	The existing rear addition is some 6m deep and 4.8m wide with accommodation at lower ground and ground floor level. The proposed development would be the same depth but would increase the width of the existing structure to 8m. The enlargements would enable the provision of one additional en-suite bedroom at lower ground level and an additional kitchen area at ground level.
	2.3.	Finishing exterior materials are render and fenestration to match the existing.
	2.4.	Other alterations include the provision of three new openings to the existing ground floor bedroom (room 3). No other alterations are proposed.
	2.5.	An Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been submitted in support of the application.

	3.	Relevant Planning History
	3.1.	22/00841/FUL- Convert existing residential home (Class C2) into 9no. self-contained residential units (Class C3) with associated parking- Granted. This approved development has not been commenced.
	3.2.	22/01093/TPO- Reduce 2 Oak Trees (T1 and T2) to rear by 3m and general maintenance (Works to a tree covered by a Tree Preservation Order)- Granted
	3.3.	16/00732/TPO- Prune one Oak tree to rear (Works to a tree covered by a tree preservation order)- Granted
	3.4.	15/00444/FUL- Demolish existing conservatories and external staircase, erect replacement conservatory and external staircase to rear, dormers to front, side and rear elevations and alter roof to form additional accommodation, layout hardstanding at lower ground level rear- Granted

	4.	Representation Summary
	Call-in request
	4.1.	The application has been called in to Development Control Committee by Councillor Folkard.
	Public Consultation
	4.2.	Nineteen neighbours were notified and a site notice was displayed. Two letters of objection have been received. These are summarised below:
	Highways
	4.3.	No objection.
	Environmental Health
	4.4.	No objections subject to conditions relating to refuse and recycling details, and construction hours and declaration of any potential contamination.
	[Officer Comment: There is no previous use associated with the site that would render a contamination condition a reasonable requirement for this proposal]
	Adult Social Care
	4.5.	No objection.
	Arboricultural (Tree) Officer
	4.6.	No objections. If the proposed plan is adhered to then it is considered that any damage to the roots of trees T1 and T2 (English Oak Trees) would be minimised.

	5.	Planning Policy Summary
	5.1.	The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021)
	5.2.	Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2021)
	5.3.	Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), CP3 (Transport and Accessibility), CP4 (Environment and Urban Renaissance) and  CP6 (Community Infrastructure).
	5.4.	Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM2 (Low Carbon Development and Efficient Use of Resources), DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use of Land), DM9 (Specialist Residential Accommodation) and DM15 (Sustainable Transport Management).
	5.5.	Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009)
	5.6.	Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015)
	5.7.	Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments (2019)

	6.	Planning Considerations
	6.1.	The main considerations in relation to this application are the principle of the development, the design and impact on the character of the streetscene and wider area, the impact on residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers, any traffic and transportation issues, trees and CIL liability.

	7.	Appraisal
	7.1.	The proposed development enlarges an existing two-storey addition and results in the provision of an additional bedroom at the care home, increasing the total number of bedrooms from 26no. to 27no. Additional kitchen facilities would also be provided. The justification statement states the application has been submitted following a growing demand for the services.
	7.2.	The proposal represents an alteration and improvement related to the operation of an existing adult care home facility. Strategic support is given generally to such Community Infrastructure proposals by Policy CP6 of the Core Strategy. Policy DM9 of the Development Management Document similarly supports such specialist residential accommodation proposals subject to detailed impact considerations.
	7.3.	The net gain of 1 resident enabled by the proposal is not considered to conflict materially with the purpose or objectives of Policy DM9 in relation to identified need or existing capacity. Adult Social Care have not objected to the proposal.
	7.4.	On this basis, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in principle. Other material planning considerations are discussed in the following sections of the report.
	7.5.	Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to ensure that new development is well designed. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities.
	7.6.	Local development plan policies seek to ensure that new development is designed so that it adds to the overall quality of the area and respects the character of the site, its local context and surroundings, provides appropriate detailing that contributes to and enhances the distinctiveness of place; and contribute positively to the space between buildings and their relationship to the public realm. Policy DM1 and the Design and Townscape Guide provide further details on how this can be achieved.
	7.7.	The proposal would enlarge the existing two storey rear addition from 4.9m high (above ground level), 6m deep and 4.8m wide, to 5.8m high, 6m deep and 8m wide. The roof form would also be extended and enlarged from a hipped roof to a parapet flat roof.
	7.8.	Owing to the extensive changes in ground level across the site (levels fall significantly to the rear boundary and also fall to the south), the lower level of the extension would be partially subterranean and the upper level would align with the existing ground floor. Views of the structure would be possible from neighbouring rear gardens immediately to the east (Mount Avenue), from the neighbouring care home site to the north and from neighbouring properties to the south. There would be no publicly available views of the extension. Revisions were secured during the course of the application and amended plans were received which incorporated parapet wall detailing to the flat roof and a new complementary fenestration arrangement.
	7.9.	When viewed in the context of the application site, the proposed extension is considered to represent a modest addition that would remain subservient to surrounding built form having regard to its size and scale. The application building has had a series of extensions that, over time, have eroded the building’s original character with a number of different roof forms and exterior materials within which context it is considered that the parapet roof form would not cause any significant visual harm.
	7.10.	On this basis, and subject to conditions, the development is considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in the above regards.
	Impact on Residential Amenity
	7.11.	Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality development which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document specifically identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, immediate neighbours, and surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and disturbance, visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. Further advice on how to achieve this is set out in the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide.
	7.12.	The area of the proposed extension is bounded by Adalia Care Home within Cliff Road to the north and by No’s 31, 33 and 39 Mount Avenue to the east. With regards to the elevation facing Adalia Care Home, only the overall height of the existing projection would be enlarged by some 0.9m. Built form would not project any closer to this shared boundary. On this basis, it is not considered that the proposed enlargement would result in a dominant or overbearing impact or result in unacceptable overshadowing or a significantly harmful loss of light and outlook to neighbouring occupants.
	7.13.	Two new openings are proposed to the northern elevation facing Adalia Care Home. These openings would provide a new outlook to the existing bedroom 3 and are considered to provide potential for overlooking of the garden area belonging to Adalia Care Home. In weighing up the impact from overlooking, regard is had to the communal nature of that adjoining care home garden and to the presence of dormer windows within Bramble Care Home that overlook that garden area at present and in addition, to the significant number of windows within Adalia Care Home looking out onto the rear garden area such that it is reasonably considered that a mutual degree of overlooking for residents exists at present. Therefore, the addition of windows to the northern elevation of the extension would not introduce a significantly harmful degree of overlooking, such that the impact in these circumstances is considered acceptable.
	7.14.	With regard to the impact on properties along Mount Avenue, No.33 is positioned directly to the rear of the existing two storey hipped roof rear addition. At present, the existing hipped roof extends some 1m above the line of the fencing on the boundary with No.33. The proposal would see this increased to approx.2m. Although it would increase in extent, the built form would not project any closer to No.33’s rear boundary fencing, a distance of some 4.5m. A separation in excess of 25m to the rear of the No.33 would be maintained. Given both these factors  and how the development would be viewed against the backdrop of the existing built form, it is not considered that the proposed enlargement would result in a dominant or overbearing impact or result in unacceptable overshadowing or a significantly harmful loss of light and outlook to those neighbouring occupants.
	7.15.	One new opening is proposed to the eastern elevation facing towards No.33’s rear boundary which would provide an additional outlook to the existing bedroom 3. This has the potential to give rise to overlooking of the garden area at No.33 Mount Avenue where currently there is none. To mitigate the potential harm, a condition is recommended requiring this window be obscure glazed. As the two new north facing windows would be clear glazed as explained in paragraph 6.13 above, the internal environment and outlook for future occupiers of room 3 would be satisfactory.
	7.16.	The proposed extension is sufficiently removed from any other neighbouring properties so as to not give rise to any harmful amenity impacts. It is considered that the design, size, siting and scale of the development proposed are such that it would not result in any significant harm to the amenities of the site, neighbouring occupiers or wider area in any regard.
	7.17.	Noting the historic care home use of the site, it is not considered the modest increase in room capacity would result in significantly different noise and disturbance impacts. No plant or other external equipment is proposed as part of the development. In the interests of neighbours’ amenity a condition is recommended to prevent the flat roof areas of the proposed development being used in future as balconies, terraces etc without planning permission having first been obtained.
	7.18.	Subject to conditions, the proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in terms of its amenity impacts.
	Traffic and Transportation Issues
	7.19.	The NPPF states (para 111) that “Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or, the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.”
	7.20.	The existing site has five off street parking spaces to the front of the building. The space standards for C2 uses including care homes are a maximum of 1 space per resident staff + 1 space per 3 bed spaces/dwelling units. The proposal includes an additional room at the site and would generate a notional maximum parking requirement of 9 car parking spaces (27 bed capacity divided by 3). The existing arrangement is less than this.
	7.21.	The site is in a sustainable location with regard to public transport including Chalkwell Rail station. On this basis and noting that the development results in a single net additional room, it is not considered that the proposal will have a significantly detrimental impact on the local highway network.
	7.22.	No objection is raised by Highways.
	7.23.	The proposal is therefore acceptable and compliant with the relevant policies in these regards.
	Other Matters
	Trees
	7.24.	The proposal would be constructed in close proximity to the group of trees to the eastern flank boundary of the site covered by TPO 2/1967.
	7.25.	An Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been submitted with the proposal which identifies that the only trees potentially affected by the development are English Oak trees denoted as T1 and T2. The Arboricultural Impact Assessment contains tree protection measures to ensure the health of these trees is maintained. The Council’s tree officers have reviewed the report and state that the measures proposed cover all of the areas for tree protection. They state that if the proposed tree protection measures are adhered to then any damage to the roots of trees T1 and T2 would be adequately minimised. They state further that the area of the root protection zone that is being eaten in to is near to hard surfacing and so there is less likelihood of finding any active roots.
	7.26.	On this basis, and subject to conditions including adherence to the tree protection measures identified, the development is considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in the above regards.
	Equality and Diversity
	7.27.	The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in the exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. Under this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and must advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. Officers have in considering this application and preparing this report had careful regard to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended). They have concluded that the decision recommended will not conflict with the Council's statutory duties under this legislation. The provision of an accessible and adaptable dwelling is a positive aspect of the proposal in this regard.
	Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
	7.28.	The proposed development equates to less than 100sqm of new floorspace. As such, the development benefits from a Minor Development Exemption under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and no charge is payable.
	Conclusion
	7.29.	For the reasons outlined above the proposal is found to be acceptable and compliant with the relevant planning policies and guidance. As there are no other material planning considerations which would justify reaching a different conclusion it is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to conditions.

	8.	Recommendation
	8.1.	GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:

	01 The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than three years of the date of this decision.
	Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
	02 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans: 23_041/01 Location and Block Plan; 23_041/03 Proposed Location and Block Plan; 23_041/03 Rev 05 Existing and Proposed Plans and Elevations
	Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the Development Plan.
	03 Before the development hereby approved is first used the materials used on the external surfaces of the development must match those used on the external surfaces of the existing building. Parapet coping shall only be installed in accordance with details that have previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
	Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the appearance of the building makes a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM1, and advice contained in the Southend-on Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).
	04 The roof of the building/extension hereby approved shall not be used as a balcony, roof garden or similar amenity area or for any other purpose unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The roof can however be used for the purposes of maintenance or to escape in an emergency.
	Reason: To protect the privacy and environment of people in neighbouring residential properties, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015) and the advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009)
	05 The development hereby approved shall be carried out from its outset solely in accordance with the Arboricultural Method Statement contained within the Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment by ROAVR Group issued 07.09.23 hereby approved.
	Reason: This condition is needed to safeguard the preserved trees and so protect their contribution to the character and appearance of the surrounding area in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and the advice contained in the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).
	05 Hours of construction works associated with this consent shall be 8am - 6pm Monday to Friday, 8am - 1pm Saturday. No works shall be carried out on Sundays or Bank Holidays.
	Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of the adjoining residents and to ensure that the development complies with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3 and advice in the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).
	06 No external plant equipment or machinery associated with the development hereby approved shall be installed or operated at the site unless a noise impact assessment (conducted out by a competent person) has previously been carried out, submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment must be made using the appropriate standards and methodology for the noise sources and the relevant best practice. The plant equipment shall thereafter be implemented in full accordance with the details and mitigation provided in the approved Noise Impact Assessment before it is first brought into use and shall be maintained as such in perpetuity thereafter.
	Reason: In the interest of the residential amenity of neighbouring and future occupiers in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015).
	07 The proposed window in the ground floor east facing elevation of the development hereby approved to serve bedroom 3 shall only be glazed in obscure glass (the glass to be obscure to at least Level 4 on the Pilkington Levels of Privacy, or such equivalent as may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority) and fixed shut, except for any top hung fan light which shall be a minimum of 1.7 metres above the internal floor level of the room or area served before the development is occupied and shall be retained as such in perpetuity thereafter. In the case of multiple or double-glazed units at least one layer of glass in the relevant units shall be glazed in obscure glass to at least Level 4.
	Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of the adjoining residents and to ensure that the development complies with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) policies DM1 and DM3 and advice in the Southend-on-Sea  Design and Townscape Guide (2009).
	Positive and Proactive Statement
	The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application by identifying matters of concern within the application (as originally submitted) and negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments to the proposal to address those concerns. As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework. The detailed analysis is set out in a report on the application prepared by officers.
	Informatives:
	01 You are advised that as the proposed extension(s) or change of use to your property equates to less than 100sqm of new floorspace, and does not involve the creation of a new dwelling (Class C3), the development benefits from a Minor Development Exemption under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and as such no charge is payable. See www.southend.gov.uk/cil for further details about CIL.
	02 You should be aware that in cases where damage occurs during construction works to the highway in implementing this permission that Council will seek to recover the cost of repairing public highways and footpaths from any party responsible for damaging them. This includes damage carried out when implementing a planning permission or other works to buildings or land. Please take care when carrying out works on or near the public highways and footpaths in the city.

	Pr Location and Site Plan
	Sheets and Views
	23_041_03 - Brambles


	Ex & Pr Plans
	Sheets and Views
	23_041_02 - Brambles


	site photos
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7


	8 23/01226/FULH - 131 Beach Avenue, Leigh-on-Sea (Chalkwell Ward)
	1.	Site and Surroundings
	1.1.	The site contains a detached dwelling, which has a gabled roof to the sides, a catslide roof and dormer to the front and is on the west side of Beach Avenue. The site’s frontage is a mixture of paving and landscaping with a low brick wall fronting the public highway.
	1.2.	The area is residential in nature comprising detached, semi-detached and terraced two-storey dwellings, most of which are traditional in design. Gabled and pitched roof designs are common in the immediate streetscene. There are some examples of more contemporary architecture having been incorporated in the vicinity of the site.
	1.3.	The site is not within a conservation area or subject to any site-specific planning policy designations. Ground levels at the site slope down from north to south. Land levels vary between plots due to local topography.

	2.	The Proposal
	2.1.	The application seeks planning permission to erect a first-floor front extension with pitched roof, install a rooflight to the side elevation and alter the front and side elevations.
	2.2.	The proposed front extension would be pitched roof and above an existing front outrigger to the same width and depth at 6.4m and projecting 3.3m beyond the front elevation of the main dwelling. The extension would be some 7.3m high to the ridge and some 4.6m high to the eaves. It would be set down 0.9m below the existing roof ridge. The extension would contain two windows at first floor and two windows at ground floor level, which mirror each other.
	2.3.	A window on the southern flank elevation would be installed at first floor level serving a landing and a window on the southern ground floor flank elevation, which would serve a W/C. A door is also proposed to the southern flank elevation. The existing dwelling is brick built with some render to a small section to the front elevation. A rooflight is also proposed to the roofslope of the proposed first floor front extension on the southern side. It is proposed to finish the extension in render with timber cladding to the front elevation of the proposed extension.
	2.4.	This proposal is a resubmission following the refusal of planning application 22/01252/FULH (the “2022 Application”). The proposed front extension has the same depth as the previously refused 2022 application. The proposal differs from the 2022 Application as follows:
	-	the maximum height of the proposed front extension has been reduced by some 0.6m;
	-	the proposed front extension is set further below the ridge of the main dwelling;
	-	the use of timber cladding has been introduced; and
	-	a rooflight at roof level and a window at ground floor southern flank elevation are proposed.
	2.5.	Amended plans were submitted during the course of the application. The amendments included alterations to the design of the front elevation of the proposal.

	3.	Relevant Planning History
	3.1.	01/00185/FUL - Convert garage into habitable room (Relaxation of Condition 03 imposed on planning consent P4698 approved 4.7.66 which permanently reserved the garage for the use of one car) (Retrospective) – Granted.
	3.2.	22/01252/FULH - Erect first floor front extension with pitched roof. Refused (10.08.2022). Reason for refusal:
	01	“The proposed development would, by reason of its forward siting, form, scale and detailed design represent a dominant, visually incongruous and poorly designed addition to the dwelling. This would be detrimental to the character and appearance of the host property, the streetscene and the area more widely. The proposal is therefore unacceptable and contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (2021); Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Southend-on-Sea Core Strategy (2007); Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Southend-on-Sea Development Management Document (2015); and advice contained within the National Design Guide (2021) and the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009)”.

	4.	Representation Summary
	Call In
	4.1.	The application was called in to Development Control Committee by Councillor Courtenay.
	Public Consultation
	4.2.	Eighteen (18) neighbouring properties were notified of the application by letter. Two letters of representation have been received and the following comments have been summarised:
	-	Roof height will be significantly increased close to the boundary, which would result in loss of light and a sense of enclosure.
	-	Neighbouring properties have experienced uninterrupted light for over 20 years.
	-	The proposal extends the property beyond the property’s own building line and beyond the front of neighbouring properties.
	-	The proposal is not in keeping with the Seafront Character Zone.
	4.3.	(Officer comment: All relevant planning considerations have been assessed within the appraisal section of the report. The concerns within the representations that are planning considerations are noted and they have been taken into account in the assessment of the application but were not found to justify refusing planning permission in the circumstances of this case.)

	5.	Planning Policy Summary
	5.1.	The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021)
	5.2.	Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2021)
	5.3.	Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), CP3 (Transport and Accessibility), CP4 (Environment and Urban Renaissance)
	5.4.	Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use of Land), DM15 (Sustainable Transport Management)
	5.5.	Southend-on-Sea Design & Townscape Guide (2009)
	5.6.	Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015)

	6.	Appraisal
	6.1.	The principle of extending and altering an existing dwelling is considered acceptable and policy compliant, subject to the proposal appropriately addressing the relevant detailed planning considerations.
	6.2.	Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to ensure that new development is well designed. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities.
	6.3.	Local development plan policies seek to ensure that new development is designed so that it adds to the overall quality of the area and respects the character of the site, its local context and surroundings, provides appropriate detailing that contributes to and enhances the distinctiveness of place; and contribute positively to the space between buildings and their relationship to the public realm. Policy DM1 and the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide provide further details on how this can be achieved.
	6.4.	The neighbouring properties in the surrounding area have a traditional design with predominantly gabled and pitched roofs. The application property too, is of a traditional design although dating from the 1960s is  of a more recent era than most of the nearby dwellings. The neighbouring dwelling immediately to the north, No.129 Beach Avenue, is a detached dwelling with a two-storey front gabled projection. The proposal would extend some 0.9m forward of No. 129. No. 93 Cliff Gardens, directly to the south projects some 0.4m forward of the proposed front extension. The streetscene is made up of a mix of materials, including brick and render. Timber cladding is not evident within the surrounding streetscene. The proposed use of the timber cladding does not cover the entire frontage of the site and consists of a small section of the front elevation to provide architectural interest. It is considered that its limited use would not significantly harm the character and appearance of the host dwelling or the streetscene more widely. The forward siting of the proposed front extension has not been altered when compared to the 2022 application, but as explained in the following paragraph, the three other key component factors of form, scale and detailed design have been resolved resulting in the remaining consideration of the forward siting of the proposed front extension no longer leading to a dominant and incongruous addition.
	6.5.	The altered roof form, increased set down from the ridge of the main dwelling and design has resulted in a more subservient addition to the original dwelling when compared to the previously refused scheme. The proposed windows on the front elevation of the proposal create a sense of hierarchy and contribute to the overall design of the proposal. The form and scale of the proposed pitched roof front extension would reflect pitched roof elements seen within the streetscene and with a contemporary appearance due to the use of timber cladding would result in the character and appearance of the dwelling being cohesive and suitably resolved. Provided the character and appearance of a streetscene and wider surroundings is not harmed, national planning guidance would not discourage the identity of non-protected buildings such as this being given a different architectural style including a contemporary theme. In this instance there are no designations offering specific protection for the current traditional style and form of the dwelling. More widely, there are some examples of contemporary themed dwellings, such as 116 Beach Avenue. Therefore, it is considered that the amended proposal has overcome the previous reason for refusal of the 2022 Application and is therefore acceptable in design terms.
	6.6.	It is considered that the design, including the proposed siting, form, scale, appearance and materials of the development proposed are such that it would not result in significant harm to the character and appearance of the existing dwelling, the streetscene and the area more widely. Therefore, the proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in these regards.
	6.7.	Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality development which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document specifically identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, immediate neighbours, and surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and disturbance, visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. Further advice on how to achieve this is set out in the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide.
	6.8.	There would be some 10m between the southern flank of the dwelling and the rear elevation of No 93 Cliff Gardens to the south (some 6m from the closest rear elevation, which contains a garage) and some 15m from the southern flank of the proposed first floor front extension and the rear elevation at No. 93, which is considered to be an acceptable relationship. The proposal would not result in an increase in depth at ground floor and the proposed first floor side window serves a non-habitable room (a landing). Taking these factors into consideration, it is not considered that the additional bulk to the roof and front elevation and additional window would have a significantly harmful impact on the light, outlook, privacy and sense of enclosure of this neighbouring dwelling.
	6.9.	The application dwelling sits 0.9m forward of No 129 Beach Avenue to the north and the proposed roof enlargement would be separated from this neighbouring dwelling by 1.9m. Due to the position and orientation of the proposed roof enlargement, the development would have some increased impact on the receipt of light to the habitable windows in the front and flank elevations of No.129 as a result of the applicant dwelling’s proposed front projection. However, due to the modest 0.9m projection beyond the front elevation of No. 129, it not considered that the additional bulk to the roof would have a significantly harmful impact on the light, outlook, privacy and sense of enclosure of this neighbouring dwelling.
	6.10.	It is considered that the design, size, siting and scale of the development proposed are such that it would not result in any significant harm to the amenities of the site, neighbouring occupiers or wider area in any regard. The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in terms of its amenity impacts. This is not considered to overcome the harm outlined in the above sections of this report.
	6.11.	Consistent with the basis of decision on the 2022 application, the proposed development is not found to result in any significant parking or highways impacts, it is therefore acceptable and policy compliant in these regards.
	6.12.	The development equates to less than 100sqm of new floorspace and therefore benefits from a Minor Development Exemption under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and as such no charge is payable.
	Equality and Diversity
	6.13.	The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in the exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. Under this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and must advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. Officers have in considering this application and preparing this report had careful regard to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended). They have concluded that the decision recommended will not conflict with the Council's statutory duties under this legislation.
	6.14.	For the reasons outlined above, it is considered that the proposal has overcome the previous reason for refusal and the proposal is found to be acceptable and compliant with the relevant planning policies and guidance. As there are no other material planning considerations which would justify reaching a different conclusion it is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to conditions.

	7.	Recommendation
	GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:
	1.	The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than three years from the date of this decision.
	Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
	2.	The development shall only be undertaken in accordance with the following approved plan: 010 (Rev B).
	Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the consent sought, has an acceptable design and complies with Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document (2015).
	3.	Before the development hereby approved is occupied the materials used on the external surfaces of the development must match those used on the external surfaces of the existing property. This applies unless differences are shown on the drawings hereby approved or are required by other conditions on this permission.
	Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the consent sought, has an acceptable design and complies with Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document (2015).
	Informatives
	1	You are advised that as the development equates to less than 100sqm of new floorspace the development benefits from a Minor Development Exemption under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and as such no charge is payable. See www.southend.gov.uk/cil for further details about the Levy.
	2	You should be aware that in cases where damage occurs during construction works to the highway in implementing this permission that Council will seek to recover the cost of repairing public highways and footpaths from any party responsible for damaging them. This includes damage carried out when implementing a planning permission or other works to buildings or land. Please take care when carrying out works on or near the public highways and footpaths in the city.
	Positive and Proactive Statement
	The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application by identifying matters of concern within the application (as originally submitted) and negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments to the proposal to address those concerns.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework.  The detailed analysis is set out in a report on the application prepared by officers.

	010B Proposed and existing plans
	site photos
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6



